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2018 Selected News Flow

Stock

3 January: Nuevolution to receive license fee payment of USD 
750,000 from Janssen collaboration

26 April: Nuevolution obtains new data in its internal RORγt 
program supporting effect in human inflammatory bowel dis-
eases (IBD)

25 May: Nuevolution completes a directed issue raising gross 
proceeds of SEK 110m 

25 June: Nuevolution start trading of its shares on Nasdaq 
Stockholm main market

18 July: Amgen exercises opt-in right in first program from 
multiple target research collaboration with Nuevolution

Market: Nasdaq, Stockholm

Ticker: NUE.ST

Number of shares: 49,524,903

Market value (31.12.2018): SEK 842 million 

Share price range (6M): 14.06-17.14 SEK/share

Share price (31.12.2018): 17.00 SEK/share

N U E V O L U T I O N  I N  B R I E F

Major shareholders: Sunstone Capital, SEB Venture Capital, Stiftelsen Industrifonden and SEB Utvecklingsstiftelse

Founded: 2001 in Copenhagen, Denmark

Industry: Healthcare, Biotech

Homepage: www.nuevolution.com

Agreements

17 agreements since 2004 with partners (incl. Merck, Novartis, 
GSK, Boehringer Ingelheim, Janssen, Amgen, Almirall) 

Nuevolution

Pipeline

22 August: Nuevolution discloses the identity of its “Cytokine 
X” program being Interleukin IL-17A

28 November: Amgen exercises its opt-in right in the second 
preclinical cancer program from the Nuevolution collabora-
tion

14 December: Nuevolution provides update on the positive 
progress in partnerships & pipeline and consolidation of its 
business & patent strategy

22 February 2019: A Nuevolution BET-BD1 selective inhibitor 
shows potential synergistic effect with immunotherapy in a 
mouse pre-clinical model of colorectal cancer (post year)

27 February 2019: Nuevolution-Almirall Partnership Achieves 
First Collaboration Milestone for Dermatology Diseases (post 
year)

2 NUEVOLUTION AB (PUBL) ANNUAL REPORT 2018



NUEVOLUTION AB (PUBL) ANNUAL REPORT 2018 3

A u d i t o r s ’  r e p o r t  o n  t h e  g o v e r n a n c e  r e p o r t

2N U E V O L U T I O N  I N  B R I E F

F I N A N C I A L  R E P O R T

4M E S S A G E  F R O M  T H E  C H A I R M A N  A N D  C E O

3 9

3 6

TABLE OF CONTENT

The Annual Report has been prepared in both Swedish and English language. In case of discrepancy, it is the Swedish version which prevail.

Front Page: “crossing from being pre-clinical to become a clinical company”. All photos by Thomas Rønn, TR MEDIA except page 91 by Ado-
be Stock, all other illustrations by  Nuevolution.

1 0 4

C O R P O R A T E  G O V E R N A N C E  R E P O R T

4 0

O v e r v i e w  o f  b u s i n e s s

R i s k  f a c t o r s

O t h e r  i n f o r m a t i o n

4 1

1 0 1

7

9 1

S t a t e m e n t  o f  a s s u r r a n c e

A u d i t o r s ’  r e p o r t

8 6

R E S E A R C H  &  D E V E L O P M E N T

B O A R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S

E X E C U T I V E  M A N A G E M E N T

2 6B U S I N E S S  &  P A R T N E R I N G

2 8I P R  R E P O R T

3 0P E O P L E

3 2T H E  N U E V O L U T I O N  S H A R E

3 4D I R E C T O R S  R E P O R T

8 7

1 0 0



S t i g  L ø k k e  P e d e r s e n

C h a i r m a n

4 NUEVOLUTION AB (PUBL) ANNUAL REPORT 2018

main BET BD1 selective inhibitor program (Inflammation).  
Throughout the year, the team has solidified the documenta-
tion for the mechanism of action explaining and supporting 
the potential use in treatment of atopic dermatitis, fibrotic 
diseases and potentially immunotherapy. 

The internal RORγt inhibitor program showed good efficacy 
data in an important animal model of Inflammatory Bowel 
Disease (IBD), and attractive candidate compounds for devel-
opment have been identified. 

Nuevolution’s IL-17A small molecule inhibitor program is a 
truly unique program with a clear first-in-class potential. Cur-
rent medical treatment based on IL-17A inhibition e.g. for  
treatment of psoriasis requires injection of expensive anti-
bodies, which causes potential side effects as a result. For 
patients suffering from mild-to-moderate psoriasis, it would 
be more attractive and convenient to use a topical treatment, 

M E S S A G E  F R O M  T H E  C H A I R M A N  A N D  C E O

Dear shareholders, Dear Reader

It has been a year with progress across a broad front of objec-
tives. The results are in line with of our general ambition of 
realizing a valuable portfolio of multiple clinical as well as 
pre-clinical programs. Some programs will be kept internally 
for Nuevolution’s own further development and additional 
value creation, whereas other programs will be partnered for 
realization of revenue.

With three attractive programs at the Drug Candidate 
stage, Nuevolution is now set for the crossing from being 
a pure pre-clinical company to also have clinical develop-
ment programs.

On the corporate side and realization of a key objective, we 
obtained approval for the up-listing to the Nasdaq Stock-
holm’s Main Market in June 2018 according to the projected 
time plan and 110 MSEK in gross proceeds was secured 
through a capital raise in May 2018, enabling the company to 
continue its investments and high activity level.

The year started out well, with Janssen/Johnson & Johnson 
taking license to one of our successful collaborative programs. 
In Q1/18, Nuevolution completed its research contribution 
to the Almirall collaboration, and during the year, Almirall 
cautiously and successfully completed a comprehensive set 
of further studies confirming a truly best-in-class program. 
The joint work and successful review by internal and external 
boards, was completed supporting the program’s continued 
progression towards clinical development. A contractual mile-
stone payment of 10.5 MSEK (1 MEUR) to Nuevolution was 
triggered in recognition of the program having documented 
best-in-class attributes based on program data, which under-
scores the quality of the program, developed by a very experi-
enced, combined research and development team. Altogether, 
this is a strong testament to the uniqueness and potential of 
the Nuevolution-Almirall program.

Also the collaboration with Amgen went very well in 2018. 
Our partner exercised a contractual Opt-In right twice. This 
means that two programs are moving forward with complete 
funding by Amgen, while Nuevolution retains ownership until 
potential licensing by Amgen. The joint programs in the part-
nership progress at full speed with significant participation by 
both companies in a very well-functioning partnership.

Overall, we could not have hoped for a better outcome of the 
year from our existing partnerships. 

Additionally, our research organization completed its work 
to nominate the development candidate in the bromodo-
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which is devoid of such risk and inconveniences. Nuevolu-
tion’s topical IL-17A small molecule inhibitor program is being 
developed to offer exactly this. The program is moving fast 
forward with biological characterization and final optimiza-
tion towards the future candidate nomination.  

Finally, but not the least, behind these frontrunner programs, 
Nuevolution is progressing a number of additional programs 
in the built of the next wave of future opportunities for the 
company.

Based on the success in partnerships and with our own pipe-
line, we have a strong incentive to enter into further partner-
ships, and we remain focused on realizing this.

We have our focus on additional partnerships that provide, 
i.) unique skills and expertise to our programs enabling opti-
mal development; ii.) revenues that may support our financing 

ability to expand and progress our other pipeline programs; 
or iii.) de-risking and cost-reduction of progressing programs. 
Our overall goal is to realize a broad portfolio of valuable pro-
grams with an aim to maximize shareholder value through a 
combination of keeping certain rights, increasing ownership 
and/or realization of revenues. We remain confident that we 
will obtain one or more new partnerships based on positive 
progress with development of our assets and development in 
our business discussions.

Our listed 2018 achievements and core assets:

• A successful Nasdaq Stockholm Main Market listing and 
capital raise

• Three candidate stage programs moving towards future 
clinical studies:

1. Almirall: RORγt program (Inflammation) with potential 
for treatment of skin diseases and psoriatic arthritis

2. Nuevolution: Separately, owned Nuevolution RORγt 
program (Inflammation) for potential treatment of 
ankylosing spondylitis and/or inflammatory bowel 
disease

3. Nuevolution: Selective bromodomain BET BD1 
program (Inflammation) for potential treatment of 
atopic dermatitis, fibrotic diseases and potentially 
immunotherapy

• Three well-functioning successful partnerships:

1. Almirall: Reached success criteria for best-in-class 
potential 

• Potentially up to 442 MEUR in development, 
registration and sales milestones plus royalties on 
netsales

2. Amgen: Contractual Opt-In’s in the first two 
programs 

• Multitarget collaboration

• Amgen covering all costs for the further 
development of the first two Opt-In programs, 
which remains owned by Nuevolution

• Amgen option to license on a program-by-program 
basis at 10+ MUSD upfront payment plus up to 
400 MUSD in development, registration and sales 
milestones plus royalties on net sales

3. Janssen: Research collaboration

• In January 2018, Janssen licensed an anti-infectives 
program, and is now covering all costs for the 
further progression of the program in optimization 
towards potential future candidate nomination 
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• Nuevolution is eligible to research, development 
and commercialization milestones and royalties 
(undisclosed terms)

• A powerful drug discovery platform that continues to 
realize additional successful program for the internal 
pipeline as well as for partnered programs

We have very clear objectives for the further value creation 
in our partnered and own pre-clinical and clinical programs:

• Support partnered programs to realize further successful 
research and development milestones, 

• Progress own and partnered programs towards clinical 
studies, and 

• Close additional partnerships in line with strategy

Besides the comprehensive reporting in this Annual 
Report, we also wish to inform that additional reports 
are available on our website at www.nuevolution.com.

Overall, we look back at 2018, and conclude that we have 
taken several important steps forward in the direction of real-
izing our major strategic goals for value creation.

On behalf of the Board of Directors and Management, we 
would like to thank our shareholders for your continued and 
strong support which is of key importance for the successful 
development of Nuevolution.

Finally, we would like to thank all employees of Nuevolution 
for their dedicated efforts and constant focus on goals that 
allowed us to deliver the important successes during the year.

Stockholm, April 4, 2019

Stig Løkke Pedersen, Chairman Nuevolution AB (publ)

Alex Haahr Gouliaev, CEO Nuevolution AB (publ)



Research & Development

HIGHLIGHTS 2018

• Almirall collaboration
• Preclinical key milestone achieved in Nuevolution-Almirall collaboration concluding best-in-class potential for the 

RORγt program (post year)
• Amgen collaboration

• Amgen exercises “Opt-In” in 2 cancer programs that continue positively with fast progress and significant joint efforts
• Nuevolution: bromodomain BET BD1 selective inhibitors (Inflammation/Fibrosis)

• Nuevolution has nominated NUE20798 as development candidate for the bromodomain BET BD1 selective inhibitor 
program

• Development of a new formulation of candidate NUE20798 provides excellent oral bioavailability
• BET-BD1 inhibitors show potent activity in anti-fibrosis test and potent effect on biomarker in Atopic Dermatitis 

model
• Anti-fibrotic effect of candidate NUE20798 may have synergistic effect with immunotherapy based on first animal 

cancer model data (post year)
• Nuevolution: RORγt inhibitors (Inflammation) for potential treatment of ankylosing spondylitis and inflammatory 

bowel disease
• Nuevolution’s own RORγt candidate compound showed good efficacy following therapeutic dosing in adoptive 

T-cell transfer mouse model of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) 
• Identification of candidate compounds with superior profiles

• Nuevolution: IL-17A inhibitor program
• Disclosure of the identity of the cytokine X program being a highly unique IL-17A inhibitor program 
• IL-17A blockers show good activity in animal psoriasis models 
• Major potency improvement of Nuevolution IL-17A blockers achieved in human skin cell assay

• Nuevolution: Hit-to-Lead pipeline programs
• The two promising inflammatory programs RIPK1 and TYK2 targets from Early Discovery enters lead optimization
• A Nuevolution RIPK1 lead compound show potent in vivo efficacy in mouse inflammatory shock model
• Several additional early stage programs options available for entering optimization phase

Message from the CSO:

“2018 has been a pleasing and very productive year in R&D across our partnership programs, 
our internal pipeline programs and with continued technology developments. 

In our partnership with Almirall on the RORγt inflammation target, the joint teams have 
made a massive effort during the year to de-risk the program and to document an exquisite 
program. The efforts allowed the teams to reach a key pre-clinical milestone demonstrating 
best-in-class potential for the program, and the program is continuing forward towards first 
in man studies. The research part of the collaboration has also provided the parties with new 
and superior compounds, and for Nuevolution the use and potential partnering opportuni-
ties outside the field of dermatology. 

In our multitarget collaboration with Amgen, two fast-tracked cancer programs were pri-
oritized by Nuevolution in 2018, which achieved high quality data prompting Amgen’s con-

tractual “Opt-In” decision in both programs. 

A further successful project in the Janssen collaboration also resulted in a collaboration milestone and the program is now 
under development at Janssen.

From our internal programs, we have focused significant resources during the year on bringing our own bromodomain 
BET-BD1 selective inhibitor (Inflammation/Fibrosis) program forward resulting in candidate nomination of NUE20798 

T h o m a s  F r a n c h

C S O
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with our preclinical data now also supporting a unique clinical option for potentially treating human fibrotic diseases. 
We further disclosed the identity of the IL-17A target as our unique Cytokine X program where highly potent compounds 
with in vivo efficacy is now available in our pursuit of both a topical and secondarily an oral compound for IL17A-driven 
inflammatory diseases.

Many of our early stage programs have been successfully propagated during the year including our RIPK1 and TYK2 pro-
grams providing future options for our pipeline and partnering activities. Since many more new programs with promising 
data have materialized during the year a key prioritization has been to maintain the focus of resources on the leading pro-
grams in partnerships and internal pipeline as well as the Chemetics® technology platform to maintain a competitive edge. 
We plan to move several more of the promising early stage and partnered programs forward through optimization during 
2019.”

Thomas Franch, PhD, Chief Scientific Officer

PIPELINE

Summary

Partner Almirall Market Cap: EUR 2.7 billion
Revenues (2018): EUR 811 million  
Specialty Dermatology Company: TOP3 (EU)/TOP6 (US)
HQ Location: Barcelona, Spain
Number of Employees: 1,832
Presence: >70 countries

Disease area Inflammatory skin diseases (e.g. psoriasis) and psoriatic arthritis

Disease targets RORγt inhibitors (Retinoic Acid-related Orphan Receptor-gamma t)
Inhibitors of RORγt reduces inflammatory response produced by certain immune cells (T-hel-
per 17 cells (TH17)). Inflammatory response by TH17 cells in humans have been associated 
with autoimmune diseases like psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis and ankylosing spondylitis

Almirall collaboration
Pre-clinical program
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Summary (continued)

Treatment potential Current treatment for reduction of TH17 autoimmune response is achieved by use of expensive 
injectable antibodies
The program has the potential to deliver convenient, safer and cost reducing tablet-based and 
cream-based treatments

Market potential Psoriasis: Presently valued at ca. USD 9.4 billion in the US, Japan, and five major EU markets 
(7MM). The psoriasis market alone is forecasted to reach USD 9.7 billion in 2020 (Datamoni-
tor, April 2017)

Collaboration structure Financial terms:
• Upfront received at licensing to Almirall: EUR 11.2 million
• Milestones: Up to EUR 442 million (development plus sales milestones)
• Royalties on sales: Yes (tiered)

Status Candidate with best-in-class potential moving forward towards clinical studies

”We are very pleased with the progress achieved in our strategic collaboration with 

Nuevolution, which reflects Almirall’s commitment to become a leader in med-

ical dermatology by reinforcing our pipeline with true innovative best in class 

solutions.”     Bhushan Hardas, M.D., MBA, Chief Scientific Officer of Almirall

During 2018, a significant part of the collaboration work 
has been to evaluate preclinical safety parameters of RORγt 
inhibition and to comprehensively de-risk a program can-
didate compound prior to any human testing. It has been 
imperative to Almirall and Nuevolution that a best-in-class 
compound combines both maximum treatment efficacy and 
the best possible safety properties prior to commencing 
first-in-human clinical trials. The comprehensive program 

data for the candidate compound now supports a program 
in line with the best-in-class program goal.

A preclinical key milestone was achieved and announ-
ced post 2018 following successful completion of signifi-
cant preclinical research studies, and internal and external 
reviews with positive outcome. 

During 2019, Almirall will continue the development of thed 
candidate compound toward clinical testing. The collabora-
tion has also produced several highly optimized backup com-
pounds available to Nuevolution for development outside 
the dermatology space (skin diseases and psoriatic arthritis) 

reserved for Almirall. Since Nuevolution coordinates its own 
development of its Internal RORγt program with the activi-
ties in the collaboration with Almirall, the data and superior 
compounds developed here positively affects the Nuevolu-
tion RORγt program outside dermatology (see below).

”We are delighted that all available preclinical program data strongly support excellent effi-

cacy and safety parameters for the RORγt program, and we are excited to see the continued 

progress towards clinical trials.”     Thomas Franch, CSO, Nuevolution
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The multi-target collaboration with Amgen has been very suc-
cessful since the initiation in October 2016. Two “fast-track-
ed” cancer programs, both of which have been prioritized by 
Nuevolution and where Amgen has exercised their contractual 
Opt-In rights, are progressing at high speed and according to 
the out-lined workplans agreed by the Amgen and Nuevolu-
tion teams.

In the first fast-track cancer program, Nuevolution presented 
the in vivo proof-of-concept in a tumor xenograft cancer mo-
del in the fourth quarter of 2018. Following the Amgen “Opt-
In” the Amgen and Nuevolution teams have worked jointly to 
optimize the program compounds for target selectivity and 
subsequent further in vivo efficacy studies with the intent to 
identify a clinical candidate. 

For the second cancer program with Amgen “Opt-In”, Nuevo-
lution first identified multiple unique and potent chemical 
series. During 2018, Nuevolution conducted the early stage 
optimization by increasing compound potency, target selec-
tivity and other early stage properties. Following the Amgen 
“Opt-In”, the two teams have continued the small molecu-
le compound optimization with extensive activity testing, 
mechanism-of-action validation, x-ray crystallization studies 
etc. We expect that novel lead compounds will enter in vivo 
proof-of-concept studies at Amgen to validate effect in rele-
vant animal cancer models early in 2019. 

A third program is continuing the hit optimization stage with 
the hope of reaching important proof-of-concept for cellular 
target engagement.

Summary

Partner Amgen Market Cap: USD 128 billion
Revenues (2018): USD 23.7 billion 
Pharma Company: TOP7 (US)/TOP12 (World) in oncology
HQ Location: Thousand Oaks (CA), US
Number of Employees: 20,800
Presence: >100 countries

Disease area In collaboration with Nuevolution: Cancer and Neuroscience

Disease target Multiple targets (identity of targets not disclosed)

Collaboration structure 1. Early discovery stage: Nuevolution covers all cost
2. Proof-of-concept: Amgen confirm activity in defined models
3. Contractual Opt-In: Parties joins forces to reach development candidate. Amgen takes 

over all cost incl. Nuevolution’s costs. 
4. Contractual licensing: Amgen obtains ownership

Upon licensing Nuevolution will receive (per program):
• Upfront: At least USD 10 million
• Milestones: Up to USD 400 million (development plus sales milestones)
• Royalties on sales: Yes (tiered)

Nuevolution owns each program until licensing by Amgen

Collaboration potential The collaboration aims to realize multiple successful programs that may be developed, where 
Nuevolution will be financially remunerated on a per program basis

Status (multiple programs) Early discovery stage: Undisclosed number of programs
Proof-of-concept: One program (if successful next step is Opt-In)
Contractual Opt-In: Two cancer programs (in optimization towards clinical Candidate)

Amgen collaboration
Drug discovery & development collaboration
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Summary

Ownership Nuevolution

Disease area Ankylosing spondylitis (prioritized) and Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD)

Ankylosing spondylitis (AS) is an autoimmune disorder that is characterized by inflammation 
of the spine and the sacroiliac joint and vertebral column. AS symptoms include pain and 
stiffness from the neck down to the lower back. The spine’s bones (vertebrae) may grow or 
fuse together (fusion), resulting in a rigid spine (also called “bamboo spine”)

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) is an inflammatory condition of the colon and small intes-
tine such as e.g. Crohn’s disease and ulcerative colitis.

Disease target RORγt inhibitors (Retinoic Acid-related Orphan Receptor-gamma t)

Inhibitors of RORγt reduces inflammatory response produced by certain immune cells 
(T-helper 17 cells (TH17). Inflammatory response by TH17 cells in humans have been associ-
ated with autoimmune diseases like psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis and ankylosing spondylitis.
Furthermore, Nuevolution has demonstrated efficacy in several animal models of IBD with 
its RORγt inhibitors

Treatment potential Current treatment for reduction of TH17 autoimmune response is achieved by use of expen-
sive injectable antibodies
The program has the potential to deliver convenient, safer, cost-effective tablet-based tre-
atment

Market potential Ankylosing spondylitis: Diagnosed prevalent patients amount to ca. 1,5 million globally. Pro-
duct sales in the United States, Japan and EU5 expected to grow to ca. USD 2.4 billion in 2024 
from presently USD 1.5 billion (Global Data)
IBD: IBD is a group of chronic inflammatory conditions impacting the gastrointestinal tract. 
Crohn’s Disease and Ulcerative Colitis are among the most prevalent inflammatory bowel 
diseases, affecting close to 6 million (diagnosed prevalent) patients in the United States, 
Europe and Japan. Datamonitor (2017/18) estimates that the Crohn’s Disease & Ulcerative 
Colitis disease market were worth approximately USD 5.8bn and USD 6.3bn respectively in 
2016, with a collective forecasted growth to about USD 18bn in 2025.

Status Pre-clinical phase in preparation for clinical study readiness

RORγt inhibitor
Pre-clinical program for chronic inflammatory diseases

For Nuevolution’s internal RORγt program, we are focusing 
on potential future treatment of patients with ankylosing 
spondylitis (inflammation to the spine) and inflammatory 

The next financial milestones in the collaboration is to achieve 
contractual Opt-In by Amgen in additional programs, and to 
realize potential licensing of program(s) by Amgen going for-

ward.  Scientifically, it is the objective to realize additional 
proof-of-concept results in animals, and to progress the more 
mature programs towards Candidate nomination.

bowel disease (IBD). During 2018, we tested our first RORγt 
candidate in a mouse model of IBD. 
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In support of the clinical relevance of our RORγt inhibitor 
in IBD, we conducted an important and from a human per-
spective relevant mouse model of colitis induced by adoptive 
T-cell transfer. We applied the highest possible stringency in 
the model by dosing our RORγt candidate therapeutically (i.e. 
after disease onset) rather than prophylactically (i.e. protec-
tive). In this model, active T cells (CD4+CD45RBHigh) capable 
of producing pro-inflammatory cytokines, are isolated from 
a donor mouse, and transferred to a SCID recipient mouse 
(SCID, Severe Combined Immunodeficiency, i.e. mice with a 
significantly reduced immunesystem respons capacity) una-
ble to control T cell pro-inflammatory activity. In this setting, 
the adopted and active T cells will travel to the intestine and, 
if untreated, induce colitis conditions resembling the human 
disease in the recipient mice. Dosing of either i) steroid (dex-
amethasone) ii) anti-IL17A antibody or 30mpk or 100mpk, 
twice daily of Nuevolution RORγt candidate was initiated af-
ter disease onset (evaluated by body-weight loss). The Nuevo-
lution candidate compound was able to dose-dependently re-
duce Disease Activity Index (DAI) based on parameters such 
as body-weight loss, stool consistence, colon-weight length 
ration and colon histopathology scoring with the highest 
dose of the candidate compound being either on par with or 
better than control steroid and control anti-IL17A on sever-
al clinical parameters (see figure 1 for further details of this 
study).

The data from this adoptive T-cell transfer study as well as two 
chemically induced models of IBD conducted previously (data 
not shown) provide important support to the application of 
our RORγt inhibitors in the clinical treatment of IBD and our 
guidance to pursue IBD as a possible secondary indication for 
our candidate compound.
 
From the research part of the collaboration with Almirall, 
multiple high-quality and attractive backup compounds have 
been produced in support of the program. In the second half 
of 2018, we tested several novel backup compounds and com-
pared these with earlier candidate (used for the IBD study) on 
several parameters including in vivo efficacy using the bench-
mark IL23-induced ear dermatitis model. The combined data 
support that backup compounds show superior overall pro-
files and improved efficacies compared to the previous can-
didate compound.  Based on these recent data from backup 
compounds and in line with our contractual obligation with 
Almirall, Nuevolution now has the option to pursue a best-
in-class RORγt inhibitor for potential future clinical testing in 
the Nuevolution lead indications of Ankylosing Spondylitis (or 
IBD).

A B

Figure 1. Data from the adoptive T-cell transfer mouse model of IBD testing therapeutic efficacy of the Nuevolution RORγt candidate or the 

controls, steroid (DEX) or a neutralizing antibody directed against IL17A) on key disease parameters. Dosing was initiated after development of 

disease symptoms (therapeutic setting). A: Effect of treatments on the combined clinical score (DAI) based on body weight loss and stool score, 

B: Histopathology scoring of the colon. For A and B: Red bar = diseased (untreated), blue bars are dexamethasone (dark blue) and aIL17A (light 

blue) treatment arms for comparison, green bars = NUE RORγt inhibitor at 30 or 100 mpk, dosed orally twice daily, grey bars represent healthy 

controls. 
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Summary

Ownership Nuevolution

Disease area Atopic dermatitis (AD or eczema), fibrosis and cancer

Fibrosis is a major part of several life-threatening diseases including Idiopathic pulmonary 
fibrosis (lung fibrosis), scleroderma (range of systemic fibrotic diseases), non-alcoholic ste-
atohepatitis (NASH) as well as protection of solid tumors. Nuevolution has demonstrated 
anti-fibrotic effect of its selective BET inhibitors on numerous key fibrotic markers including 
αSMA, Col1a, CCL2, TIMP3 and the hedgehog pathway genes such as Gli1 supported by in 
vivo efficacy in both fibrosis disease models and anti-cancer combination therapies.

Atopic dermatitis is caused by overstimulation of skin cells by immune system TH2 and TH22 
cells. This leads to an inflammatory process causing a chronic or chronically relapsing inflam-
matory skin disease, characterized by pruritus (skin itching), leading to scratching, redness, 
scaling, and loss of the skin surface. Atopic Dermatitis is an area that receives significant 
attention by the pharmaceutical industry.

Nuevolution has demonstrated that its BET inhibitors can reduce the response to TH2 cyto-
kines and inhibit the production of the TH22 cytokine IL-22.

Disease target Bromodomain BET binding domain 1 selective inhibitors

Bromodomain BET proteins regulate multiple genes of key importance in cells driving both 
inflammatory processes and cancers. Importantly, non-selective inhibitors of BET proteins, 
in clinical development show significant side-effects.

Nuevolution’s Bromodomain BET BD1 selective inhibitors are selective for the first bromo-
domain (BD1) of the BET family of proteins.

In contrast to the non-selective BET inhibitors in the clinic, Nuevolution’s Bromodomain 
BET-BD1 selective inhibitors only regulate a very small and select subset of key inflammatory 
and pro-fibrotic genes without affecting genes causing toxic and adverse effects.

Treatment potential Fibrotic diseases: The field of fibrotic diseases is significantly underserved today, and anti-fi-
brotic treatment may aid significantly the treatment of certain cancers with high level of 
fibrosis. The fibrotic disorders include a wide range of systemic fibrotic diseases such as Sys-
temic Sclerosis (or Scleroderma), Graft vs. host disease (GvHD), as well as the more common 
organ specific fibrotic diseases such as Pulmonary fibrosis (lungs), Renal fibrosis (kidneys), 
and Hepatic cirrhosis (liver), for which a large unmet clinical need applies.

Atopic Dermatitis: More than 13 million (diagnosed) patients world-wide suffer from skin 
disease atopic dermatitis. The severe form of the disease is clearly underserved with current 
medications, and it is a disease that is receiving significant interest, investment and research 
efforts within the pharmaceutical industry in parallel with significant focus on psoriasis

Bromodomain BET BD1 selective inhibitor
Pre-clinical program for chronic inflammatory diseases and cancer
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The BET family of proteins are important for the regulation 
of multiple genes relevant for the immune system, cancer and 
inflammatory diseases. Multiple studies in vitro (in cells) and 
in vivo (animal) performed by Nuevolution demonstrate an 
improved safety profile compared to the current non-selective 
BET inhibitors in clinical development. 

By the end of 2018, we reached near-completion of the in vitro 
and in vivo efficacy testing of our leading precandidate com-
pounds. Post year-end and based on comprehensive profiling, 

we nominated NUE20798 and NUE23530 as our first program 
development candidate and backup compound, respectively. 
These compounds show compelling overall properties and are 
both considered viable and attractive as program development 
candidates.  Key properties include high selectivity (>100x) 
for BET-BD1 over BET-BD2, excellent in vitro/in vivo stability 
across species, attractive human predicted dose levels, and no 
apparent safety liabilities preventing the continued develop-
ment. Following completion of the outstanding testing data 
in early 2019, the program will as the next step enter kilogram 

Summary (continued)

Market potential Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis: Datamonitor predicts a market growth of approximately 7.5% 
(CAGR 2017-2024) to USD 3.5 bn. in 2024.
Systemic Sclerosis (Scleroderma): Global Data expect a market growth of approximately 
5% to USD 0.5 bn in 2024. Atopic Dermatitis: Global Data is forecasting significant market 
growth in atopic dermatitis and a projected value in 2020 to be in the order of USD 9.5 billion 
(from USD 6 billion in 2017)

Status Candidate nomination end 2018: Achieved for NUE20798
Next: API production and Regulatory preclinical safety

Figure 2. In fibrotic diseases like Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis (IPF), Systemic Sclerosis (SSc) and Non-alcoholic Steatohepatitis (NASH), 

normal organ and tissue cells performing important body functions are replaced by non-productive fibroblasts and connective tissue. In the 

simple overview above, the TGFβ1 cytokine stimulate genes in the fibroblasts ultimately leading to production of myofibroblast  (like con-

nective tissue). 

The important and disease relevant genes and biomarkers of fibrosis shown on the right panel are all efficiently repressed by Nuevolution 

BET-BD1 inhibitors. 

By repressing the listed fibroblast genes, Nuevolution BET-BD1 inhibitors may prevent development of the general fibrosis process of fibrotic 

diseases (top) or fibrosis protecting tumors such as f.ex pancreatic cancers (bottom). 
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scale production of NUE20798 to enable regulatory safety 
studies before IND filing for human clinical testing.

A new compound formulation for NUE20798 was identified 
by end of 2018 yielding an improvement in oral compound 
bioavailability (uptake) from 20% to reach an excellent 80% 
uptake following oral treatment. The formulation should ena-
ble regulatory safety studies as well as early stage human clin-
ical trials.

Furthermore, in 2018 we have continued to solidify our in vitro 
data supporting effective BET-BD1 inhibitor suppression of 
key profibrotic genes such as TGF-β2 and Gli1, in addition to 
the previously identified genes of αSMA, CCL2, Collagen1a 
and others from TGF-β1 stimulated fibroblasts (cells forming 
connective tissue).

The potent in vitro effect and anti-fibrotic profile of our 
BET-BD1 inhibitors is well in line with our previously reported 
data using the former lead compound NUE7770 in two mouse 
models of fibrosis mimicking lung fibrosis (IPF - Idiopathic pul-
monary fibrosis) and Scleroderma.

The convincing anti-fibrotic data and the projected improved 
safety compared to non-selective BET inhibitors may sup-
port the potential use of NUE20798 in fibrosis diseases like 
IPF, Scleroderma and potentially NASH as well as in anti-can-
cer treatments to aid treatment of solid tumors (an overview 
of the pro-fibrotic process in fibrosis diseases and cancer is 
shown in figure 2).

IMMUNO-ONCOLOGY: POTENTIAL USE OF BET-BD1 
INHIBITORS IN MULTIPLE CANCERS WITH HIGH FIBRO-
SIS LEVELS
Cancer treatments in the field of Immuno-oncology activat-
ing the immune system to attack tumors have shown great 
progress in recent year. Approved immunotherapies, such as 
PD1 (programmed death 1) check-point inhibitors Opdivo 
(nivolumab) and Keytruda (pembrolizumab), have already high-
lighted the potential of drugs in this field as they have not only 
radically changed the treatment paradigm across several dis-
eases, they have also generated significant sales uptake. How-
ever, clinical data suggest that only 20–30% of patients may 
respond to anti-PD-1/PD-L1 drugs in monotherapy and that 
there are also several tumor types that respond very poorly or 
not at all to these check-point inhibitors.
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Figure 3. Typical Kaplan-Meier Plot for Chemotherapy, IO monotherapy, and IO combination treatment responses

Despite the advent and clinical efficacy of antibodies blocking immune checkpoints like PD1 (as example monotherapy) – recent data suggest 

that many cancers can evade recognition and attack by the immune systems, by multiple mechanisms (combination therapy can improve long 

term survival). This include building a tumor microenvironment unsupportive of proper immune attack and most notably building layers of 

fibrotic tissue to advance tumor growth and prevent infiltration of tumor-targeting immune cells opposing immune recognition and attack 

on the tumor cells. 
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It is of high interest to identify small molecules that may be 
used in combination with check-point modulators to provide 
significant synergistic effects in cancer treatments. Numerous 
clinical trials have been initiated with Keytruda and Opdivo 
in combination with small molecule drugs in search for such 
treatment synergies, thereby potentially providing a better 
long-term survival prospect  (as shown in figure 3).

Based on the positive anti-fibrotic data of BET-BD1 inhibi-
tors, Nuevolution initiated the testing of NUE20798 in com-
bination with an antibody targeting PD1 (checkpoint inhibitor) 
exploring the potential for increased anticancer efficacy in a 
syngeneïc mouse model of colorectal cancer.  

In this model, the effect on tumor growth of either anti-PD1 
(dosed by injection) or NUE20798 (dosed orally), administered 
as mono-therapy or as a combination treatment was exam-
ined.  NUE20798 has no effect on the growth of the colorectal 
cancer cells in vitro (1GI

50
 > 100 micromolar - data not shown 

(GI50 means 50% growth inhibition at a given concentration)) 
and in vivo in line with its benign safety profile (i.e. NUE20798 

is safe and does not kill cells). Preliminary data from the 
colorectal cancer model suggests that NUE20798 may have a 
potential synergistic effect with immunotherapy  by reducing  
tumor growth rate compared to  a checkpoint inhibitor alone 
The indicative positive outcome of this study is in line with 
our data supporting both an anti-fibrotic mechanism of our 
BET-BD1 inhibitors and potential future treatment options for 
severe human fibrosis diseases and as co-treatment for multi-
ple cancers with high fibrosis levels such as pancreatic cancers.

From these encouraging data, further cancer model studies 
will be conducted early in 2019 using NUE20798 to determine 
dose-proportional tumor fibrosis biomarker responses, human 
predicted dose calculation and for supporting therapeutic 
index prediction.

The program may now be brought forward during 2019 with 
increased future clinical trial options now including potential 
cancer combination treatments in addition to fibrotic diseases 
and atopic dermatitis.
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Summary

Ownership Nuevolution

Disease area Inflammatory skin diseases (e.g. psoriasis), psoriatic arthritis, ankylosing spondylitis and pos-
sibly other TH17 driven diseases

Inflammatory response by TH17 cells in humans have been associated with autoimmune dise-
ases like psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis and ankylosing spondylitis

Disease target Interleukin IL-17A

IL-17A is the key inflammatory signaling molecule (a cytokine) produced from TH17 cells of 
the immune system. This cytokine is responsible for driving multiple inflammatory diseases

The ability to directly inhibit IL-17A with small molecules represent a major achievement, 
which was until now unsuccessful due to the target representing a very challenging target to 
address. Nuevolution has identified and optimized such small molecules through application 
of its Chemetics® technology allowing Nuevolution access to the testing of billions-to-tril-
lions of molecules. Because our molecules are small, they offer treatment to be based on 
tablets and crème, which is not possible with injectable antibodies (large molecules)

Treatment potential Current treatment for reduction of IL-17A autoimmune response is achieved by use of expen-
sive injectable antibodies

The program has the potential to deliver convenient and safer tablet-based and crème/oint-
ment (topical) treatment

Antibodies suffer from drawbacks such as i) a very high cost ii) dosing by injection mul-
tiple times per month/year iii) potential adverse immune reactions against the antibody and 
iv) prolonged weakening of patient immune responses that may cause certain infections 
through long-term elimination of the patients own immune response capacity. Targeting 
disease cytokines by a small-molecule, may offer both convenient topical and tablet-based 
solution, which offers cost-efficient alternatives with fewer immune-related risks

Market potential Psoriasis: Presently valued at ca. USD 9.4 billion in the US, Japan, and five major EU markets 
(7MM). The psoriasis market alone is forecasted to reach USD 9.7 billion in 2020 (Datamoni-
tor, April 2017). 

Ankylosing spondylitis: Diagnosed prevalent patients amount to ca. 1,5 million globally. Pro-
duct sales in the United States, Japan and EU5 expected to grow to ca. USD 2.4 billion in 2024 
from presently USD 1.5 billion (Global Data, 2016)

Status Lead Optimization
Next: Complete optimization and preparation for selection of development candidate for 
topical (crème/ointment) use

IL-17A inhibitor
Lead optimization program for chronic inflammatory diseases

NUEVOLUTION AB (PUBL) ANNUAL REPORT 2018 17



Figure 4. Depiction of the TH17 cells production of IL-17A relevant for multiple disease like psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis and ankylosing spon-

dylitis. A number of marketed antibodies have validated the IL-17A target in the clinic where Nuevolution is now pursuing small molecules in 

multiple programs to directly or indirectly block IL-17A disease pathology.

As described previously for our RORγt program, IL-17A is the 
founding signalling cytokine produced from TH17 cells of the 
immune system. This cytokine is responsible for driving mul-
tiple inflammatory diseases such as psoriasis, psoriatic arthri-
tis, ankylosing spondylitis and considered a major contributing 
factor in diseases such as IBD and multiple sclerosis (see figure 
4 for for details).

Nuevolution has discovered highly potent small molecules for 
IL-17A currently in optimization with the purpose of identify-
ing compounds for a novel topical (e.g. crème) and later, oral 
(tablet) delivery.

In order to validate the mechanism of action and benchmark 
one of our IL-17A blockers, we have tested and compared the 
in vivo efficacy of a Nuevolution IL-17A blocker and an IL-17A 
neutralizing antibody in a collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) 
mouse model. The Nuevolution small molecule compound, 
provided a largely dose-proportional efficacy with the highest 
dose showing clinical efficacy on par with the benchmark anti-
body targeting IL-17A (figure 5). The positive data support that 
a small molecule directly targeting IL-17A can achieve the same 
efficacy in clinical scoring as a therapeutic antibody directed 
against IL-17A.

In the efforts toward the optimization and formulation(s) of 
a topical (crème) treatment, we conducted animal testing of 
several IL-17A inhibitors dosed by a topical route (on skin) in an 
imiquimod-induced mouse model mimicking human psoriasis. 
From the clinical scoring (skin scaling), the IL-17A compounds 
dosed topically showed efficacy on par with that of an anti-
body against IL-17A dosed by injection (see figure 6). 

Since conducting these in vivo testing, we have further opti-
mized compounds now showing significantly improved cell-
based potency in our IL-17A skin cell (keratinocyte) assay. The 
substantial compound potency increases in a disease-relevant 
cell-based assay provide momentum in our two routes toward 
identification of firstly a topical and secondly an oral candi-
date compound.

Following formulation studies, several potent compounds are 
in line for testing as a topical agent for skin tissue penetrance 
and efficacy in human skin samples. These efforts are focused 
on the final optimization of compounds for a topical applica-
tion and later for an orally administered drug. 

Figure 5. A Nuevolution IL-17A blocker was tested in an 

in vivo efficacy study using the collagen-induced arthri-

tis mouse model with therapeutic dosing. Mice show 

a high degree of “arthritis” clinical scoring when left 

untreated (red line). In contrast, an antibody specific 

for IL-17A dosed intraperitoneal prevent further disease 

progression (blue line). A Nuevolution small molecule 

IL-17A blocker (molecular weight less than 480 Da) do-

sed subcutaneously, twice daily, gave a dose-proportio-

nal effect in clinical score with the highest dose of 180 

milligram-per-kilogram mouse (mpk) giving a reduction 

in clinical arthritis score equivalent to the neutralizing 

IL-17A antibody (dark green).
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Figure 7. The mouse TNFα cytokine (mTNFα) was administered to healthy mice followed by monitoring of body temperature for 6 hours. 

Without inhibition of RIPK1, the mouse body temperature drops significantly (~ 6 °C - red line) in a process that require active RIPK1. A single 

oral dose of a novel and selective Nuevolution RIPK1 inhibitor administered at 5 milligrams per kilo (mpk) (light green) or 25 mpk (dark green) 

at the -2 hour timepoint, completely abolish the temperature drop and maintains normal body temperature. The strong effect on body tempe-

rature at modest doses provide animal (in vivo) evidence for RIPK1 target binding/interaction and repression consistent with highly potent in 

vivo inhibition of RIPK1 by NUE inhibitors. 

Two early stage programs, RIPK1 and the TYK2 pseudo-ki-
nase, important for several inflammatory diseases have been 
fast-tracked during the second half of 2018. RIPK1 is a pro-
tein kinase target controlling cell-fate decisions in multiple cell 
types relevant for diverse peripheral inflammatory diseases 
like ulcerative colitis and psoriasis as well as central nervous 
system neuronal inflammation in Alzheimer’s disease. Nuevo-
lution has discovered potent and selective inhibitors now 

being fast-tracked into lead optimization with the purpose 
of identifying candidate compounds for both peripheral and 
CNS diseases. 

During the fourth quarter of 2018, we have tested a highly 
potent and RIPK1 selective lead compound in a simple sur-
rogate disease model reporting in vivo activity of the RIPK1 
kinase relevant for the human diseases described above. In this 

Early discovery projects
Multiple targets and diseases

Figure 6. Efficacy of NUE IL-17A inhibitors in the imi-

quimod model of psoriasis. Psoriasis-like symptoms 

were induced on the back skin of mice by topical app-

lication of Imiquimod-containing crème. NUE com-

pounds were dosed twice daily by direct application 

as a 1% solution on the skin. The clinical score (compo-

site score of erythema (skin redness), scaling, and skin 

thickness) was summarized over the entirety of the 

study to yield a total disease burden. Inhibition of IL-

17A by a neutralizing antibody was shown to partially 

relieve disease burden and NUE small molecule IL-17A 

inhibitors (NUE1-3) were shown to inhibit disease bur-

den to the same level as the IL-17A antibody. 
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model, mouse TNFα (mTNFα) is injected in a mouse causing a 
significant drop in mouse body temperature that is dependent 
on the activity of RIPK1. Consequently, effective inhibition of 
the RIPK1 kinase activity by a small molecule compound can 
counter act the effect of mTNFα and maintain normal body 
temperature (See figure 7 for details). In this surrogate disease 
model, both oral doses of 5 and 25 mpk (milligram per kilogram 
body weight) completely restore normal body temperature 

PRESENTATIONS

“From Multiple Hit Series to (Pre)Clinical Candidates Using 
DNA-Encoded Library Technology”, Sanne S. Glad, 1st Alpi-
ne Winter Conference in Medicinal and Synthetic Chemistry, 
28 Jan - 1 Feb 2018, St. Anton Austria

“DNA Encoded Library Technology: From hits to clinical 
candidates”, Dr. Luigi P. Stasi, The Danish Society for Medici-
nal Chemistry and Chemical Biology, Inaugural Symposium, 31 
May 2018 in Copenhagen, Denmark

“DNA Encoded Library Technology: From hits to preclinical 
candidates targeting BET-BD1”, Dr. Thomas Franch, Oxford 
Global 19th Annual Drug Discovery Summit, 6-8, June 2018 in 
Berlin Germany

“Mapping of Drug-like chemical universe with reduced com-
plexity molecular framework”, Dr. Aleksejs Kontijevskis, Eu-
roQSAR 2018. 16-20 September 2018, Thessaloniki Greece

“Direct inhibition of IL-17A with small molecule compounds 
identified from DEL”, Dr. Thomas Franch, Oxford Global 5th 
Drug Discovery USA Congress, 11-12 October, 2018, San Die-
go, US

“Direct inhibition of IL-17A with small molecule com-
pounds”, Dr. Søren Jensby Nielsen, Cytokines 2018, 27 Oct 
– 1 Nov, Boston, USA

consistent with efficient inhibition of RIPK1 by the Nuevolu-
tion test compound. The positive data from this TNFα shock 
model provide evidence for in vivo RIPK1 target binding, sup-
porting the program value and merit further fast-track opti-
mization of Nuevolution RIPK1 inhibitors for use in both 
peripheral and optionally CNS inflammatory diseases (like 
Alzheimers disease and amyolatheral sclerosis (ALS)).

Scientific presentations & publications
2018

“Direct inhibition of IL-17A with small molecule com-
pounds identified from DEL”, Dr. Sanne Glad, 2nd Medicinal 
Chemistry Summit: Europe, 29-30 October, 2018, London, 
UK

“Development of small molecule inhibitors of IL-17A/IL-
17RA identified from DNA Encoded Libraries”, Dr. Garrick 
P Smith, Trends in Medicinal Chemistry, 6 December, Lon-
don, UK

SCIENTIFIC ARTICLE
In collaboration with Nobel Laureate Dr. Robert J. Lefkowitz 
lab at Duke University, Nuevolution co-authored a scientific 
publication describing the application of the Nuevolution 
Chemetic® technology for the identification of novel positi-
ve allosteric modulators of the ß2-adrenergic GPCR receptor 
signaling across cellular membranes. The new publication ex-
tends our previous joint publication from 2017 now showing 
the identification of compounds capable of stimulating sig-
naling across a cell membrane by a key GPCR. The joint ar-
ticle entitled ”Small Molecule Positive Allosteric Modulators 
of the β2-Adrenergic Receptor Isolated from DNA Encoded 
Libraries” was published in the well-renowned journal Mole-
cular Pharmacology in May 2018.

Chemetics® platform technology

in building blocks, library productions and infrastructure are 
key to maintain our status as world-leading in the DNA-en-
coding library technology space and for the support of all 
pipeline activities.

In 2018, Nuevolution continued its significant investment in 
production of 6 additional Chemetics® platform screening li-
braries to support the screening of new drug targets in the 
pipeline as well as to support target focused libraries for key 
targets already in the optimization phase. These investments 
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Fast access to compounds for biological testing  
A vital Chemetics® process step

The Nuevolution proprietary Chemetics® technology has 
prepared trillions of DNA-labeled drug molecules, making it 
possible to screen massive numbers of molecules against any 
disease target of interest. In comparison, an ordinary pharma 
company only has access to 1-2 million compounds to sup-
port their programs. The output from Chemetics® screen-
ing are the compound “hits” that represent valuable starting 
points for further optimization in the drug discovery program. 
The optimization involves refinement of the original hits to 
finally obtain and nominate the drug development candidate, 
a potent and safe molecule with attractive medical effect (see 
Nuevolution Annual Report 2016/17 pp 27-30).

Following the screening of a disease target using  
Chemetics® DNA-labeled molecules, the screening product 
consists of many thousands of target binding compounds 
each linked to a unique DNA sequence. The DNA-label car-
ries information about the structure of the molecules to which 
they are attached (similar to barcodes on commercial prod-
ucts). Following a number of processing steps, the isolated 
DNA sequences are then translated by “big data” computation 
into the compound structures identified from the screen, i.e. 
now representing hit compound structures on the computer 
screen. The medicinal chemist will then evaluate these chem-
ical structures based on quality and compile a list of favorite 
compounds to be reproduced in a free form (without DNA 
labeling) by synthetic organic chemistry for extensive com-
pound testing in biological assays (see figure). The biological 
activity data from these tests provide the medicinal chemist 
with important guiding information enabling the design of 
novel and improved compounds (hit refinement or optimi-
zation) in the next cycle of compound Design – Synthesis – 
Testing (DST) driving the compound optimization process 
towards nomination of a drug development candidate for the 
program.

THE PARALLEL CHEMISTRY GROUP – PROVIDING NEW 
COMPOUNDS TO SPEED UP THE DRUG DISCOVERY 
PROCESS
An extremely important and integrated part of the Nuevolu-
tion Chemetics® platform technology is a skilled and dedicated 
parallel chemistry team unit. The team provides a supportive 
infrastructure offering ultra small scale production/synthesis 
of compounds in a parallel setup. The team applies innovative 
synthesis protocols to create hundreds of novel and pure com-
pounds for the different discovery programs in a matter of 
weeks to support the hit qualification process and rapid DST 
cycles for the medicinal chemists. This part of the Chemetics® 
platform is of key importance for moving fast, at reduced cost 
and with a higher success rate from target screening to nomi-
nation of the drug development candidate.
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A key advantage of our parallel chemistry operations is e.g. 
the use of very small amounts of starting material (less than 
1 microgram material) not traditionally applicable in conven-
tional synthetic chemistry approaches. The synthesis scale 
has many benefits including a significant reduction in material 
cost per compound, reduced storage space, cost of equipment, 
ease of material handling and most importantly the number of 
compounds that can be produced and handled per unit time 
per scientist involved.

Nuevolution’s parallel chemistry team employ several routes 
for compound synthesis allowing the team and the medicinal 
chemists access to any desired new compound. Regardless of 
the synthetic route applied, a common denominator is the 
compound assembly from smaller parts (building blocks) that 
are all individually stored in ready-to-use vials in our building 
block archive for easy and safe storage, fragment retrieval and 
experimental use. 

One chemist in the parallel chemistry team can prepare more 
than 50 compounds at a time in a parallel setting called “a syn-
thesis campaign”. Each such campaign may contain compounds 
across multiple different structural classes of compounds and 
even across multiple discovery programs allowing much flexi-
bility in the parallel compound production. 

Our parallel chemistry team continue to develop new and 
custom-made synthesis protocols to support both the 
Chemetics® screening as well as novel methods for the syn-
thesis of compounds during the optimization in the discovery 
programs.

Once a parallel synthesis campaign is completed, each syn-
thesis product goes through purification, quantification and 
quality control to verify the compound structure and purity. 
Subsequently, the compound material is tested in multiple 
biological assays for activity, safety and stability completing 
a DST cycle.

The fast and high throughput parallel synthesis at low com-
pound cost described here is unique to Nuevolution, and a val-
uable asset in both support of the Chemetics® screenings and 
in the rapid data generation and decision making during the 
drug discovery optimization phase.

“It is like working at the center of the  drug discovery process  
and serving in the gap between the medicinal chemist’s draw-
ing board and the biological test laboratory is highly encourag-
ing” says Mathilde

“Our unique and flexible setup in parallel chemistry really pro-
vides the ability to run diverse organic synthesis routes concur-
rently, constituting a platform capable of going quickly from 
med. chem. development to a final compound” says David

“Every time we start a campaign, we have a new interesting 
challenge: We have to collect and outline  as many synthetic 
protocols as possible to efficiently cover parallel production 
of many different compounds in one campaign. After purifica-
tion, when we deliver in a matter of a few weeks, clean solu-
tions of novel compounds for the biological assays, there is a 
big personal satisfaction … and then a new campaign begins!” 
says Anna.

The Nuevolution parallel synthesis group
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Informatics
A spinal cord in Chemetics®
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LIBRARY DESIGN
Using the Chemetics® screens successfully is founded on the 
quality of our screening libraries (a library = large collection of 
molecules). Designing Chemetics® libraries involves thorough 
evaluation of thousands of chemical building blocks, where 
we are looking at drug-like characteristics, diversity (diffe-
rence compared to other building blocks), reactivity and com-
patibility (i.e. check of their shape/form, quality and ability to 
connect with other building blocks). Furthermore, the design 
principles applied will determine the overall library properties, 
and we aim at making every library as diverse and drug-like as 
possible.

It is our experience that key to success is not only testing many 
solutions, but to test as many different solutions creating the 
best possible chance of identifying hits. The testing is per-
formed in a process termed “screening” where the many pos-
sible solutions (molecules) are exposed to a relevant biological 
disease target (within for instance cancer or inflammation) in 
the form of a protein. It corresponds to the testing of millions 
of possible keys (molecules) to find the ones that fit the lock 
(target protein). A molecule capable of binding to a target pro-
tein is termed a “hit”, which may be further optimized/refined 
and carefully tested and developed into another molecule 
often termed a candidate or development candidate.

Designing libraries in the sizes of hundreds of millions to bil-
lions of compounds is a technical and computational chal-

The Nuevolution proprietary Chemetics® technology takes care of the handling and screening of trillions of drug molecules in a 
laboratory setting allowing to study Nuevolution’s test molecules directly on real world biological processes. 

Such large numbers of molecules can normally only be handled theoretically by computational calculation methods, and often the 
theoretical approach does not reflect the natural system. Nuevolution’s approach is therefore highly attractive as trillions of test 
molecules can be studied in real world biological systems. It is Nuevolution’s use of DNA-labeled molecules by the Chemetics® 

technology that makes it possible to screen these massive numbers of real molecules against any disease target of interest in a 
biological meaningful setting. 

However, there would be no efficient Chemetics® technology without the use of computers, software and algorithms as the tech-
nology generates complex sets of big data. 

Our core processes involve computational components, which are central throughout the operation of Chemetics®, running like 
a spine from the early planning phases (design of molecules) until the selection of the potential new drug (product). Due to the 
uniqueness of the Chemetics® technology, numerous tailored (inhouse) state-of-the-art software programs have been developed 
and are maintained internally at Nuevolution.

At Nuevolution, we term the processes and computational resources going into Chemetics® - “Informatics” as this collectively 
embraces the essence of what we are doing – designing, handling, analyzing and enriching information enabling Nuevolution to 
achieve its mission of developing medicines efficiently

lenge, which we at Nuevolution have solved by developing 
novel scientific principles, sophisticated software programs 
and algorithms as no other existing technologies are capable 
of. The ability to design large, diverse and drug-like libraries is 
a key to our success and only possible by applying informatics.

DECODING
Millions, billions and trillions of molecules each carrying a uni-
que DNA-barcode label, used for screening in a mixture of such 
molecules is the reality of a Chemetics® library. Although the 
number of different molecules is significantly reduced by the 
screening process, we are still faced with a mixture of mole-
cules that needs to be translated and interpreted into sensible 
information that subsequently can be analyzed. We term this 
process “decoding”. 

The DNA barcodes recovered during the target protein expo-
sure (the screening for the key(s) that fit the lock) are matched 
up against the design of the library. We can now translate a 
recovered DNA barcode into the structure of a chemical com-
pound i.e. the DNA can “tell” us what the structure of the small 
molecule is. Generically, the process is similar to when a gro-
cery is scanned with a barcode scanner in the supermarket to 
inform the customer about the type, the brand and the price 
of a specific product. The DNA (which works like a barcode), 
when sequenced, gives us information about the structure of 
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The Nuevolution Informatics group

by software programs and algorithms developed at Nuevolu-
tion enabling us to process more than 500 million screening 
data points monthly. Besides decoding, our algorithms enrich 
the decoded information by cross-checking to thousands of 
other previous screening data sets in our databases providing a 
foundation for making informed decisions based on past expe-
rience. 

ANALYSIS
One major advantage of Chemetics® compared to conventio-
nal (high-throughput) screening methods is the access to many 
more hits both with respect to the sheer numbers, but also 
diversity as represented by many different starting points for 
drug development. Such luxury however demands supporting 
algorithms in order to perform an analysis of the data. Chemi-
cal compounds are clustered (ordered) according to their rela-

DRUG DESIGN
Once a compound has been identified and selected from scre-
ening it enters repeating cycles of Design – Synthesis – Tests 
(DST), a process that will gradually improve (refine) the drug 
molecule to the point where one specific molecule – the best 
one - can be nominated as a candidate drug. Informatics is an 
integrated component of the DST cycle providing tools to 
evaluate ideas from the medicinal chemist prior to producing 
a new version of the compound. These tools include computa-
tion of compound characteristics, but also creating structural 
models of how chemical compounds interact at the atomic 
level with the therapeutic protein target. Thus, we are creating 
a visual three-dimensional model of how the key fits inside the 
lock. Design of next generation compounds where often small 
adjustments are essential, but difficult to obtain without brea-
king other vital characteristics/properties is greatly helped by 
having computational structural models at hand. 

DATA LOGISTICS
Tying together our processes seamlessly making data available at the right time, format and presented in a human interpretable 
manner requires that data from various sources are curated, correlated and stored centrally in our databases. The investment 
in data logistics allow us to keep track of any given molecule at any time, its properties and biological activity. We can quickly 
access information on related compounds across our projects to make faster and more informed decisions on next generation 
compounds towards the final drug. Comprehensive data logistics furthermore allow us to track key performance indicators like 
the number of screenings, decoded datasets, compounds in synthesis etc. In this way we can fully control the process from the 
identification of hit compounds to the selection of development candidates.

active molecules identified by the screening. Furthermore, we 
register the frequency of how often each type of molecule is 
observed as this provide an indication that the compound is 
preferred (selected) by the target protein – like quantifying 
the most popular items sold in the supermarket.

The handling and decoding of DNA-barcodes into chemical 
information interpretable by a medicinal chemist is handled 

tedness (similarity) and ranked according to how often they 
are observed. The rationale for clustering compounds together 
is that related compounds will have related features and biolo-
gical effects. This correlates with how often the compounds 
are observed in a screen which immediately provides an indi-
cation of what chemical features are required for a compound 
to deliver an active effect in a disease of interest – this also 
known as Structure-Activity-Relationship (SAR).

N N

N
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Business & Partnering

The year 2018 can be summarized as a year where we matured 
the company both from a corporate perspective, referring to 
the up-listing of the company to the Nasdaq Stockholm Main 
Market in June, and from a product pipeline point of view, 
where through the maturation of our pipeline some programs 
are now approaching clinical testing and where the collabo-
rations with Almirall, Amgen and Janssen have been very suc-
cessful, and where we advanced a number of our partnership 
discussions.
 
Since our listing on Nasdaq in Stockholm, we have commu-
nicated that some of our programs may find a partner at the 
preclinical stage, such as was the case for the RORγt inhibitor 
program with Almirall. Whereas other programs will be fur-
ther developed, and potentially moved into clinical trials fully 
controlled by Nuevolution. By progressing select programs 
into a clinical stage of development, we may see more attrac-
tive remuneration. We also know that potential investment 
interest by domestic and foreign professional investors will 
increase when our program enter clinical trials.

When looking at our business activities, we have repeatedly 
stated that our partnership focus is as follows:

• Out-licensing of Nuevolution’s programs (e.g. similar to 
our Almirall partnership)

• R&D collaborations (e.g. similar to our Amgen partner-
ship)

• Platform-based collaborations 

During 2018, programs such as the Bromodomain BET BD1 
selective inhibitor (inflammation and fibrosis), the RORγt 
inhibitor (inflammation) as well as the announced IL-17A 

(inflammation) program and the TYK2 and RIPK1 programs in 
the second half of the year, have shown significant progress 
and this has not been unnoticed by the various pharmaceuti-
cals companies, which we have met during the year. 

When partnering a program, it is fair to say that partnering dis-
cussions tend to advance faster when a program has reached 
the Candidate stage (such as we communicated in the Q4/18 
report for the Bromodomain BET BD1 inhibitor program) and 
thereafter, because at that point a very comprehensive pro-
gram data package has been developed in line with the expec-
tations of pharmaceutical companies. Partnering opportu-
nities of programs will increase in likelihood as the program 
progresses including when the program has shown good safety 
and certain efficacy data in human trials i.e. first clinical stud-
ies. 

In some instances, and in particular when developing programs 
in the field of cancer and inflammation, partnering can already 
happen preclinically. The following graph (Figure 1), shows 
attractive remuneration of pre-clinical programs and clinical 
programs.

In R&D collaborations, we aim mainly at partnerships that pro-
vide: 

• unique partner skills and expertise to our programs ena-
bling optimal development;

• a level of de-risking and cost-reduction (e.g. R&D shared 
with partner) when progressing programs;

• realization of revenues that can be reinvested in other 
programs.

Figure 1. Average values licensing deals in inflammation/oncology. Source: Datamonitor / Nuevolution, 2019 (in total 138 deals: PC: 63, Phase 

1: 38, Phase 2: 37)
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In all cases we aim for collaborations where we maintain an 
attractive future upside, and we actively decline several low 
value (fee-for-service) partnerships. We aim solely to act on 
collaborations, where we can secure attractive ownership, 
appropriate financial remuneration and/or other terms such 
that we focus our resources on long-term value gain. We 
understand that this also demands a long-term perspective 
from all our stakeholders, but we are convinced that this will 
benefit the company and its shareholders in the future. The 
R&D collaboration with Amgen is an excellent example, com-
bining Nuevolution’s skills and expertises with a strong biology 
partner, and where program costs change hands when research 
programs have been scientifically de-risked by Nuevolution. 
During the second half of 2018, we reported that Amgen opt-
ed-in to two programs and that all future project costs in the 
joint progression of these programs are now carried by Amgen.

In the Almirall collaboration, we have announced a first, but 
very important milestone in the RORγt program, which trig-
gered a payment of SEK 10.5 million. It is extremely encourag-
ing to see the collaboration efforts in our joint RORγt inhib-
itor program being rewarded by reaching this next and very 
important key milestone in the program. In collaboration 
with Almirall, significant efforts were made with the plan of 

moving forward a best-in-class program for potential human 
clinical testing in patients with moderate-to-severe psoria-
sis. The major part of our collaborative program work during 
2018 included the evaluation of preclinical animal safety and 
activity testing of RORγt inhibition and thereby the further 
de-risking of the program. It was and is of high importance to 
both Nuevolution and Almirall that a best-in-class program has 
been realized, a program that combine both optimal treatment 
efficacy with the best possible safety profile, at expected low 
human dose levels.

During and post the JP Morgan conference in San Francisco 
in January 2019, we have focused on the strengthening of our 
business relations and the progression of on-going discussions. 
The projected execution of new anticipated partnerships is in 
line with our objectives and we remain confident in execution 
of one or more partnerships based on current positive progress 
in our discussions. 

In 2019, we will maintain our “selective” deal approach to reach 
agreement on valuable long-term partnerships. We can con-
firm that discussions remain on-going along the partnering 
strategy as previously communicated. 
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IPR Report

Since the company’s inception, Nuevolution has applied an 
aggressive patenting strategy, where business requirements 
form the basis of all tactical IPR decisions. Nuevolution’s 
investments in IPR include grant/issuance of patents, entry 
into the national phase for patent prosecution and activities 
to restrict competitors.

We invest in patent filing and prosecution activities to fur-
ther protect both our drug discovery platform technology 
Chemetics®, as well as to protect our drug discovery programs, 
i.e. pharmaceutical product patents. 

A strong patent position is an important value-driver for the 
partnering around our technology platform and when pro-
grams are intended for partnering. In line with our strategy, 
Nuevolution will continue to have significant investments in 
IPR to keep strengthening our position and weaken the posi-
tion of any competitor.

Over 17 years, Nuevolution has developed a number of pro-
prietary technologies for synthesizing and screening large 
oligonucleotide-encoded libraries (e.g. DNA-encoded) and 
nearly 300 patents have been granted to the company world-
wide since 2001. Our oligonucleotide-encoded library patents 
cover thousands of patent claims, protecting multiple impor-
tant aspects for the practicing of our technology. Presently 
tens of pending patent applications allow us to continue the 
filing of divisional and continuation applications thus offer-
ing protection for additional commercially relevant aspects in 
multiple territories.

Nuevolution’s technology IPR position has been of significant 
value in leveraging our business position in numerous negoti-
ations and, so far, has underlined its importance in the execu-
tion of 17 agreements.

Besides seeking the granting of strong patents to support 
Nuevolution’s activities, we also file third-party observations, 
file oppositions/interpartes reviews or enter into litigation 
procedures to limit others from having patents granted or to 
restrict the scope of other, potentially competitive, patents in 
the technology field.

NUEVOLUTION’S TECHNOLOGY IPR 
A total of nearly 300 patents in force offers broad coverage of 
multiple features, including but not limited to the following:

• Methods for the synthesis of oligonucleotide-encoded 
libraries including, for example:
• “Non-templated” as well as “templated” procedures 

for library formation
• Enzyme-catalyzed ligation and chemical ligation of the 

encoding tag
• Composition of the nucleotide-encoding system 

(DNA, RNA, LNA, unnatural nucleotides etc.)
• Double-stranded and single-stranded encoding tags
• Covalently-linked and non-linked oligonucleotide 

encoding tags
• Use of combinatorics for efficient formation of encod-

ing tags
• Methods for the screening of oligonucleotide-en-

coded libraries against therapeutically important tar-
gets and use of encoding features to eliminate PCR 
artefacts

• The composition (content) of oligonucleotide-en-
coded libraries such as, for example, small-molecule 
libraries, scaffolded-molecule libraries, macrocy-
clic-molecule libraries

Through our aggressive patenting strategy, we have secured a 
dominant position with optimal freedom to operate (FTO) the 
company’s core technology while seeking to limit third parties 
in rightfully practicing it or from pursuing similar methods. 

PROGRAM IPR 
In combination with its increased focus on its own drug dis-
covery programs, Nuevolution is increasingly transitioning its 
IPR investments from technology patents to investments in 
composition of matter/utility (product) patents and method 
of synthesis (method) patents to protect its pipeline products.

The company’s future business opportunities will significantly 
benefit from achieving similarly strong patent protection for 
products and their synthesis to leverage attractive business 
terms in product out-licensing agreements, thereby maximiz-
ing the commercial and financial upside, as well as for support-
ing investments in proprietary clinical development programs.
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People
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ORGANIZATION & EMPLOYEES 
The discovery of new medicines requires people with strong 
skills in multiple disciplines working closely together in a 
well-coordinated manner. In the composition of our team, we 
are looking for ‘best-in-class’ innovative, creative and ambi-
tious people from all over the world who own the best skills 
to contribute to the company’s objectives of building a broad 
pipeline of drug programs in pre-clinical and clinical develop-
ment, where some programs will be owned and developed by 
Nuevolution and other programs will be developed in collabo-
ration with partners. This means successful drug discovery and 
program development and monetization through partnering 
of some programs. This partnering income can then be used 
for the further development of other and additional programs 
with the combined goal to deliver efficacious and safe treat-
ment options to patients suffering from cancer or chronic 
inflammatory diseases.

Our team works with a high level of dedication, aiming for 
best outcomes to make sure that our internal pipeline devel-
opment progresses, as well as that our partnerships will and 
remain successful. We continuously make improvements to 
our proprietary drug discovery Chemetics® platform, which 

furnishes the unique and powerful “engine” for the discovery 
and development of research programs. 

In this context, we are always looking for people with a com-
plementary set of skills and with multinational industrial drug 
development experience. With these colleagues supporting 
the company we also love to celebrate when achievements are 
made.

Nuevolution’s experience, expertise and know-how is built 
upon people who show dedication, team spirit and perse-
ver¬ance, fitting the international environment of the global 
bio¬pharmaceutical industry in which the company operates 
since 2001. 

There were 49 (47) full-time equivalents (FTEs) as per 31 Dece-
m¬ber 2018. In addition to our core staff team members, we 
are also supported by a number of dedicated student workers, 
all of whom are instrumental in the running of our well-func-
tioning scientific infrastructure.

Nuevolution’s Board of Directors has five members: Chair-
man Stig Løkke Pedersen and Directors Lars Henriksson, 

Educational background

Gender breakdown Age

Organization
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Søren Lemonius, Jutta Heim and Jeanette Wood. The Execu-
tive Management consists of four members: CEO Alex Haahr 
Gouliaev, CSO Thomas Franch, CBO Ton Berkien and CFO 
Johnny Stilou.

Although not part of the internal team, we consider our own-
ers and shareholders, large and small, to be key members of our 
team, making Nuevolution successful. Without their financial 
support and their interest in trading in our stock, our road to 
success would be more challenging. 

Therefore, we are devoted to seeking long-term value creation 
for our shareholders (as of 31 December 2018, Nuevolution 
had around 3,200 shareholders). 

Our team is poised to take Nuevolution forward in its next val-
ue-creation steps, including in preparations for our own clini-
cal development programs.



The Nuevolution share
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SUCCESFUL LISTING ON MAIN MARKET
In June 2018, Nuevolution was successfully up-listed to the 
Nasdaq Stockholm Main Market, which represented the ful-
fillment of a long-term strategic goal. In September 2017, we 
announced to the public, the intention to apply for listing on 
the main market before the end of the first half of 2018 as one 
of our major strategic goals. 

The up-listing is a major achievement for Nuevolution, it rep-
resents an important goal in support of our value creation 
going forward by providing easier access to potentially have 
institutional and international investors as shareholders, and 
it offers in general a better condition for an improvement in 
daily turnover.

In total, we consider the main market listing a strengthening of 
Nuevolution’s ability to execute on our strategy for long-term 
growth and value creation to the benefit of shareholders.

DIRECTED ISSUE – STRENGTHNING OF SHAREHOLDER 
BASE
In May 2018, and as fulfilment of a second key goal, 
Nuevolution executed a directed share issue of 6.67 million 
new shares, providing the company with gross proceeds of 
SEK 110 million and improved shareholder diversification and 
strengthening through an increase in number of larger share-
holders.

THE NUEVOLUTION SHARE IN BRIEF (31 DEC. 2018)

SHARE PERFORMANCE
The share price of Nuevolution at year-end was 17.00 SEK 
compared to an opening share price of 16.60 SEK at the begin-
ning of the year, and ranged between 14.06 to 20.10 SEK dur-
ing the year.

SHARE LIQUIDITY
Since the Directed Issue on 25 May 2018 and the Up-listing on 
25 June 2018, we have seen an improvement in daily trading. 
Compared to the period before the Directed Issue and Up-list-
ing, we have seen an increase of 130% in number of average 
daily trades, and average daily turnover has more than doubled 
to 600 tSEK from 270 tSEK.

SHAREHOLDER
We have seen continued strong support from our major share-
holders throughout the year, who also anchored the Directed 
issue in May 2018, and we are very grateful for the signifi-
cant support, that we have seen from all of our shareholders 
throughout the year.

It is a major ambition for the company to further strengthen 
the shareholder base by attracting international and further 
Scandinavian investments and institutional funds, as well as 
to broaden the ownership of the company and increase stock 
liquidity. Our activities during 2018 was executed in support 
of these ambitions.

In connection with the Directed issue, we saw participation 
from European institutional funds, and since the Up-listing in 
June 2018, we have seen more shares held by European inves-
tors.

As shown above our share liquidity has more than doubled 
since the Up-listing. 

Listing Nasdaq OMX Stockholm

Number of shares 49,524,903

Market capitalisation, year-end SEK 842 million

Ticker NUE

ISIN code SE0007730650

PERFORMANCE & LIQUIDITY IN 2018



NUEVOLUTION AB (PUBL) ANNUAL REPORT 2018 33

INVESTOR RELATIONS
We are committed to continuous and consistent commu-
nication to shareholders and the market. In support of this,  
Nuevolution’s management have presented 15 times during 
the year at retail investor conferences and held 4 quarterly 
investor calls.

Furthermore, we have expanded and strengthened our reach 
to European investors and to a broader investor base in the 
US. We regular meet with institutional investor in Scandinavia, 
EU and US. We have held more than 100 one to-one meetings 
with current and potential new investors.

LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2018

Shareholder

Number 
of 

shares
% 

stake

Sunstone LSV Fund I K/S 10,242,701 20.7%
SEB Venture Capital 10,084,942 20.4%
Stiftelsen Industrifonden 8,997,908 18.2%
SEB Utvecklingsstiftelse 3,288,306 6.6%
SEB-Stiftelsen 2,458,009 5.0%
Avanza Pensionförsäkrings AB 1,564,923 3.2%
LMK Stiftelsen 773,053 1.6%
ABN AMRO Global Custody Service 664,537 1.3%
Nordnet Pensionförsäkrings AB 534,411 1.1%
RBC Investor Services Bank S.A. 384,721 0.8%
Granit Småbolag 365,000 0.7%
Claus Resen Steenstrup and family 361,873 0.7%
Vätterleden AB 300,000 0.6%
Henry Dunkers Förvaltning 283,225 0.6%
Elementa 262,530 0.5%
TIBIA Konsult AB 240,000 0.5%
Handelsbanken Sverigsfond, Index 231,449 0.5%
Fynske Bank 223,376 0.5%
Stig Løkke Pedersen 212,334 0.4%
Hans Engblom and family 202,515 0.4%
Others 7,849,090 15.8%
Total no. shares outstanding 49,524,903 100.0

The shareholdings by Nuevolution’s Stig Løkke Pedersen 
(Chairman) (212,334) and Alex Haahr Gouliaev (CEO) (70,778) 
are unchanged compared with 31 December 2017.

MEET US
11 April  Redeye, After Work, Malmø
6 May  Aktiedagen, Aktiespararna, Gothenburg
11 June  Investordagen, Dansk Aktionærforening,  
   Copenhagen
28-29 August LSX Nordic Congress, Stockholm

ANALYST COVERAGE

Carnegie Ulrik Trattner

Edison Daniel Wilkinson

Redeye Mathias Spinnars

Jarl Securities Niklas Elmhammer

Aktieinfo

Analyst reports can be found here https://nuevolution.com/
investors/stock-information/#2.
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Group - Key ratios

TSEK, if not stated otherwise 1 January - 
31 December 

2018 
(12 months)3

1 July -
31 December 

2017 
(6 months)3

2016/17
(12 months)3

2015/16
(12 months)3

2014/15
(12 months)1

INCOME STATEMENT
Revenue 10,973 4,827 119,912 20,697 29,801
Research and development expenses -90,958 -52,693 -107,336 -115,0902 -78,166
Sales, general and administration expenses -28,489 -16,748 -23,216 -57,4932 -16,526
Total operating expenses -119,447 -69,441 -130,552 -173,8172 -94,692
Operating result -106,108 -64,461 -10,485 -151,886 -64,891
Net financial items -1,183 -368 1,045 -22 2,836
Result for the period -99,723 -61,252 -25,486 -144,997 -54,732
Comprehensive result for the period -99,397 -59,057 -27,940 -144,087 -54,794

BALANCE SHEET
Non-current assets 10,759 11,674 11,935 14,079 11,485
Current assets 123,527 125,084 189,720 220,886 60,174
Total Assets 134,286 136,758 201,655 234,965 71,659
Share capital 49,525 42,858 42,858 42,858 352,922
Shareholders' equity 115,777 111,091 169,962 198,055 51,553
Non-current liabilities 1,813 2,810 2,939 3,482 1,451
Current liabilities 16,696 22,857 28,754 33,428 18,655
Net working capital (NWC) -10,597 -15,982 -24,277 -24,718 -5,125
Investment in intangible and tangible assets 440 1,587 1,619 4,094 1,109

CASH FLOW
Cash flow from operating activities -105,945 -64,722 -23,215 -81,450 -19,475
Cash flow from investing activities -294 -1,170 -724 -555 -1,120
Cash flow from financing activities 102,856 -741 -1,253 240,942 74,868
Total Cash flow -3,383 -66,633 -25,192 158,937 54,273

FINANCIAL RATIOS
Basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS-D), SEK4) -2.13 -1.43 -0.59 -3.98 -2.26
Shareholders' equity per share, SEK 2.34 2.59 3.97 4.62 1.80
Year-end share price 17.00 16.60 16.50 9.00 N/A
Equity ratio (%) 86 81 84 84 72

Number of shares outstanding, average, million shares 46.877 42.858 42.858 36.469 24.216
Number of shares outstanding, end-period, million shares 49.525 42.858 42.858 42.858 28.573
Diluted number of shares outstanding, average, million 
shares4 47.649 43.700 43.284 36.469 28.573

Average number of employees (FTE) 49 48 45 43 41
Number of employees (FTE) at year-end 49 47 47 44 43

For definitions, see note 33, page 84.

The number of shares for both the current and the comparative periods are the number of shares issued by the new parent company, Nuevolu-

tion AB. However, the number of shares for previous periods reflect the number of outstanding shares of the former parent, Nuevolution A/S, in 

those periods. 1The Nuevolution AB (publ) group was established 13 November 2015, consequently the comparison figures consist of Nuevolu-

tion A/S Group. 2A significant part of the increase in expenses from 2014/15 to 2015/16 is related to non-recurring cost of SEK 11.9 million from 

the listing in December 2015 and expenses related to the warrant program 2015/2021 of SEK 48.5 million. 3On the ordinary shareholders meeting 

held 12 October 2017, it was decided to change the financial year to follow the calendar year. Therefore, the comparative figures in the income 

statement and statement of cash flow are the ones presented in the last annual report covering the 6 months period 1 July 2017 to 31 December 

2017. 4No dilution since the warrants are currently anti-dilutive.



Overview of business

Nuevolution AB (publ), listed on Nasdaq Stockholm (ticker 
NUE), is a biopharmaceutical company with a unique and 
proprietary small-molecule drug discovery and development 
platform. The Company’s research and development is cen-
tred on discovery and development of small-molecule (tab-

let-based treatment) drug candidates for indications within 
inflammatory diseases and oncology (cancer). The Company 
has a portfolio of programs for internal development and for 
out-licensing and pursues drug discovery collaborations with 
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies.

Key events during the year

The Board of Directors and the CEO of Nuevolution AB (publ) (‘the Company’), Company Reg. No. 559026-4304, hereby present 
the Annual Report for the parent and consolidated financial statements for the group for the fiscal year 1 January to 31 Decem-
ber 2018. The company is registered in Sweden and domiciled in the Stockholm municipality. The registered office is located in 
Copenhagen, Denmark. Nuevolution AB (publ) has one wholly-owned subsidiary, Nuevolution A/S (operating subsidiary).

Nuevolution’s business

Through a Directed Issue supporting the strengthening and 
diversification of our shareholder base, Nuevolution raised 
gross proceeds of SEK 110 million in May. The proceeds will 
be used for continued expansion of the pipeline, allowing 
more programs to be advanced, to advance specific programs 
towards becoming clinical development ready and to overall 
further strengthen the Company’s deal making ability.

Nuevolution successfully completed the planned up-listing 
to the Nasdaq Stockholm main market in June. This achieve-
ment represents a major goal for the company and is in line 
with previously announced goals. This is expected to support 
our ambitious intentions for further growth and value creation 
with prospect for a better reach towards larger institutional 
and international investors.

During the year (July and November) Amgen has exercised its 
contractual opt-in right to two preclinical cancer programs, 
which is part of its multiple-target research collaboration with 
Nuevolution.  As a result of opting-in, Amgen will be respon-
sible for all further research and development costs of the 
programs as incurred by both parties. Nuevolution will retain 
ownership of the programs, subject to Amgen’s discretionary 
right to exercise an exclusive option to license the program. 
For each program that Amgen may license, Nuevolution is eligi-
ble to receive a licensing fee of at least USD 10 Million. Nuevo-
lution is also eligible to receive potential further success-based 
development and commercialization milestones plus royalties 
on future sales. These combined payments could amount to up 
to USD 410 million per program plus royalties. Amgen’s exclu-
sive option to license programs survives until end of phase I.

Nuevolution’s IL-17A small molecule inhibitor program is a 
truly unique program with a clear first-in-class potential. Cur-
rent medical treatment based on IL-17A inhibition e.g. for 
treatment of psoriasis requires injection of expensive anti-
bodies, which causes a long-term blockade of this part of 
the human immune system with potential side effects as a 
result. For patients suffering from mild-to-moderate psoriasis, 
it would be more attractive and convenient to use a topical 
treatment, which is devoid of such risk and inconveniences. 
Nuevolution’s topical IL-17A small molecule inhibitor program 
is being developed to offer exactly this. The program is moving 
fast forward with biological characterization and final optimi-
zation towards the future candidate nomination. 

Behind these frontrunner programs, Nuevolution is progress-
ing a number of additional programs in the built of the next 
wave of future opportunities for the company.

Janssen Biotech has exercised its option to license one of the 
research programs under the multi-target collaboration. The 
program that has been licensed to Janssen Biotech relate to a 
disease target in the therapeutic area of anti-infectives. Nuevo-
lution received a license fee of USD 750,000 for the licensing 
of the research program to Janssen. Nuevolution is eligible to 
receive future milestone payments upon achievement of spec-
ified milestones during the further research, development 
and commercialization. In addition, Nuevolution is entitled to 
receive royalty payments on net-sale of products that may be 
commercialized.
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REVENUE
Revenue in 2018 was SEK 11.0 million (12.2) and stems from a 
license fee and deferred revenues from the Janssen collabora-
tion along with revenue from the Amgen collaboration. 

Other operating income in 2018 was SEK 2.4 million (0.3) and 
includes grants from the agreement with Innovation Fund 
Denmark.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES
Research and development expenses in 2018 amounted to 
SEK 91.0 million (107.3). This mainly reflects expenses related 
to progression of our internal BET and RORγt inhibitor pro-
grams along with progression of our early pipeline. Compared 
with the previous year the reduced expenses reflect a reduc-
tion in expenses for external Contract Research Organiza-
tions (CROs) and lower patent expenses. 

SALES, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES
Sales, general and administration expenses in 2018 amounted 
to SEK 28.5 million (28.3). Costs in both 2018 and 2017 are 
impacted by listing costs for preparations for the listing on 
the Nasdaq main market which occurred in June 2018. 

FINANCIAL RESULT
Operating result for 2018 amounted to SEK -106.1 million 
(-123.1).

Corporate tax income in 2018 of SEK 7.6 million (6.3) is due to 
the Danish R&D tax credit program.

Net result for 2018 amounted to SEK -99.7 million (-117.6). 

CASH FLOW AND INVESTMENTS
Cash flow from operating activities during 2018 amounted to 
SEK -105.9 million (-32.9). The increase in outflow reflects a 
significant payment from Almirall S.A. which had a positive 
effect on cash flow in 2017.

Investments in 2018 were SEK 0.3 million (1.2). Cash flow 
from financing activities during 2018 amounted to SEK 102.9 
million (-1.4). The increase is due to the directed issue of 
6,666,667 new shares in May 2018 providing the Company 
with gross proceeds of SEK 110 million and net proceeds of 
approx. SEK 104 million.

EQUITY AND CASH
On 31 December 2018 equity amounted to SEK 115.8 million 
compared with SEK 111.1 million on 31 December 2017.

On 31 December 2018 cash and cash equivalents amounted 
to SEK 111.1 million compared with SEK 114.8 million on 31 
December 2017. 

PARENT COMPANY
The parent company had intercompany revenue in 2018 of 
SEK 1.9 million (1.7). Net result in 2018 was SEK -111.0 mil-
lion (-10.2).

The higher loss in 2018 compared to previous year is due to a 
SEK 100 million capital contribution made to the fully owned 
subsidiary Nuevolution A/S. All research and development ac-
tivities are performed in the subsidiary and funded by the par-
ent company. As all research and development programs are 
in early stages and not eligible for capitalization the funding is 
likewise expensed in the parent company.

The parent company’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to 
SEK 26.8 million on 31 December 2018 compared with SEK 
35.5 million on 31 December 2017. Shareholders’ equity was 
SEK 709.2 million on 31 December 2018 compared with SEK 
716.1 million on 31 December 2017.

The group consists of Nuevolution AB (publ) (reg. no. 559026-
4304) and Nuevolution A/S (reg. no. 26029708), which is the 
operating company within in the group.

Events occurred between 31 December 2018 and 4 April 2019
22 February 2019: A Nuevolution BET-BD1 selective inhibitor 
shows potential synergistic effect with immunotherapy in a 
mouse pre-clinical model of colorectal cancer

27 February 2019: Nuevolution-Almirall Partnership Achieves 
First Collaboration Milestone for Dermatology Diseases

Financial review
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Environmental information
Nuevolution is committed to working in an environmentally 
responsible way by reducing the use of environmental hazard-
ous substances, running a well-developed program for sorting 
waste, and reducing energy consumption. Nuevolution has not 
been involved in any environmental disputes. Nuevolution has 
the necessary permits from the Danish Environmental Protec-

tion Agency (Miljøtilsynet) to work with chemicals, including 
certain hazardous chemicals under controlled conditions. The 
company uses genetically modified micro-organisms (GMM) 
in pre-clinical studies and has the required permits from the 
Danish Working Environment Authority (Arbejdstilsynet).

Guidelines for remuneration of senior executives
The Board of Directors proposes that the Annual General 
Meeting resolve to approve the Board of Directors’ proposal 
concerning principles and guidelines for the remuneration of 
the company’s management in accordance with what is stated 
below, to apply until the Annual General Meeting in 2020. The 
Board has appointed a Remuneration Committee to draw up 
proposals regarding remuneration and other terms of employ-
ment for the management.

Fixed remuneration

The fixed pay consists of cash salary, pension contribution 
and other benefits.

Terms of termination/resignation

The Company may discharge the members of the Executive 
Management by giving a notice of up to 12 months. The mem-
bers of the Executive Management may resign by giving a no-
tice of 3-6 months.

Variable remuneration

The Board of Directors believes that the Company depends 
on high level management resources. The Board of Directors 
also believes that incentive pay to the Executive Management 
is decisive for the creation of an incentive for the manage-
ment of the Company for ensuring the Company’s long- term 
value creation for the shareholders. Incentive pay to the mem-
bers of the Executive Management will be established for the 
purpose of attracting, retaining and motivating the members 
of the Executive Management.

Elements of the variable remuneration

The members of the Executive Management may receive in-
centive-based remuneration based on a cash bonus and any 
type of variable remuneration, including share-based instru-
ments such as warrants and performance shares.

Bonus

As an element of the variable pay, members of the Executive 
Management may receive an annual bonus, subject to achieve-
ment of certain requirements. The bonus proportion varies 
among the members of the Executive Management and may 
be nil or a fixed sum that but cannot exceed 100 % of the 
fixed annual cash salary. The actual bonus paid to the mem-
bers of the Executive Management is disclosed in the annual 
report at an aggregated level. 

Share-based instruments

The Board will consider each year whether or not to propose 
a share-based incentive program to the Annual General Meet-
ing.

Deviation from guidelines

The Board is entitled to deviate from the guidelines above if 
the Board determines that there are special reasons on an in-
dividual basis which warrant such action.
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Risk factors

A biotechnology company such as Nuevolution is character-
ized by significant operational and financial risks, since the 
company’s current internal and partnered programs are at a 
stage of development where a number of factors have an im-
pact of the likelihood of commercial success.

Early-stage programs have a higher risk, while successful de-
velopment steps will result in decreased development risk 
as well as the likelihood of finding a partner to a program. A 
partnership may also increase the likelihood of obtaining com-
mercial success, while beach program completes the specified 
(pre-clinical and clinical) development phases. The risk level 
of each program must be weighed against the potential that 
such programs contribute to patients, partners and society, 
with regards to addressing unmet medical needs, as well as 
to the financial benefit to the company and its shareholders.

Nuevolution is specialized in the discovery and development 
of small-molecule (tablet-based) medicines. However, none 
of the company’s programs have yet been approved for com-
mercialization, and operations to date have been loss making. 
Thus, Nuevolution may continue to recognize operating loss-
es for several years, and there is a risk that the company never 
reports a profit.

OPERATIONAL RISKS

To a great extent, the process of research and development 
of pharmaceutical products, until such product has been ap-
proved for marketing and launched, is both risky and capi-
tal-intensive. 

With regards to success in development, there are no guar-
antees that the required (pre-clinical and clinical) studies will 
produce results that are sufficiently positive for continued 
development and to secure product approval. Most programs 
that are started will never achieve approval for marketing. 

With regards to partnerships, to date, Nuevolution has en-
tered into 17 collaborations, but there are no guarantees the 
company will attract new collaboration partners or extend 
present partnerships and that such partnerships will achieve 
the outcome originally planned for (e.g. the commercializa-
tion of a product). 

With regards to product commercialization, if product ap-
proval is obtained, there is no guarantee that the approved 
pharmaceutical product achieves success in the market place. 
Competing products with better properties may be launched 
or the company or its partner may prove incapable of market-
ing the pharmaceutical product(s).

With regards to intellectual property, Nuevolution constant-
ly works to improve the patent protection for its Chemetics 
platform and its program compounds, but there is no guaran-
tee that patents will provide the necessary protection in the 
future or that competitors do not find ways to circumvent the 
company’s patents.

With regards to cybersecurity there is a risk that Nuevolution 
may be the target of cyber-attacks. We continually monitor 
and mitigate cyber risks through updated security strategies, 
strengthened IT architecture and focus on IT governance.

Nuevolution is dependent for success on the expertise, skills 
and efforts of the company’s executive management and 
other key employees. If the company were to lose any key 
employees, operational progress could be delayed or research 
and development activities, out-licensing of programs and 
commercialization of product candidates interrupted. The 
company’s ability to attract and retain qualified personnel is 
of crucial importance for future success.

Changes to the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 
impose a potential risk that Nuevolution may be non-compli-
ant. In order to mitigate risks, we have reviewed all contracts 
and contract management. We have appointed a Data Pro-
tection responsible and rolled out a training framework to all 
employees.

FINANCIAL RISKS

The Group has income and expenses in different currencies. 
Its operations are conducted in Denmark, while its sub-sup-
pliers operate around the globe. Income is mainly derived in 
US dollar and Euro, while expenses are incurred in Danish and 
Swedish kroner, US dollar and Euro. Thus, the Group is sub-
ject to currency risks.

The credit risks are marginal, because the number of invoic-
es is modest, and the majority of customers and partners are 
(major) pharmaceutical companies with high credit ratings.

Liquidity and financing risk

The extent and timing of the company’s liquidity and funding 
needs depend on a number of factors, such as the milestone 
and license fees payments in existing collaborations, the pos-
sibility to enter into new collaborations, the success rate of 
development programs as well as the ability to attract new 
capital in the form of equity or other funding. 

For more information on financial risks, see note 22. 

NUEVOLUTION AB (PUBL) ANNUAL REPORT 2018 39



Other information

SHARE CAPITAL AND OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE

At 31 December 2018, Nuevolution AB (publ)’s share capital 
amounted to SEK 49.5 million distributed among 49,524,903 
shares. The company has only one share class. All shares carry 
the same rights to participation in the company’s assets and 
dividends. For information regarding the company’s major 
shareholders, see page 33 of this Annual Report. 

WARRANT PROGRAM 2015/21 

In 2015/16, the Board of Directors implemented the 2015/21 
warrant program for the executive management and its full-
time employees. The program comprises 5,039,254 warrants: 
2,636,930 Series 1 warrants and 2,402,324 Series 2 warrants. 
All warrants according to this program have been granted. The 
program expires on 31 August 2021.

WARRANT PROGRAM 2016/21 

In 2016/17, the Board of Directors implemented the 2016/21 
warrant program for new full-time employees and senior ex-
ecutives. The program comprises 493,000 warrants: 480,000 
Series 1 warrants and 13,000 Series 2 warrants. During the six-
month period ended 31 December 2017, 70,000 warrants have 
been granted. This program also expires on 31 August 2021.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of Nuevolution AB (publ) will 
take place on 22 May 2019 at Advokatfirman Vinge’s offices, 
Stureplan 8, Stockholm. Notice to attend the annual gener-
al meeting will be published on Nuevolution’s website www.
nuevolution.com. Shareholders who wish to submit propos-
als (including election and dismissal of board members and 
changes to the Articles of Association) for the AGM 2019, can 
send such requests in writing to Nuevolution AB (publ), Røn-
negade 8, 2100 Copenhagen, Denmark or by e-mail to agm@
nuevolution.com, at the lastest six weeks before the AGM.

CORPORATE COVERNANCE REPORT

The Corporate Governance report can be found on pages 91 
– 100.

Information about the Articles of Association re. election and 
dismissal of board members as well as change to the Articles 
of Association can be found on pages 93 - 94. 

Information on the most important elements of the Group’s 
internal control and risk management system when preparing 
the consolidated financial statements can be found on pages 
98-99. 

Information that the annual general meeting 2018 authorized 
the Board of Director to decide that the company can issue 
new shares can be found pages 92-93.

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

EVENT DATE

Annual general meeting 22 May 2019

Q1 2019 report 22 May 2019

Q2 2019 report 28 August 2019

Q3 2019 report 27 November 2019

The financial reports can be found on www.nuevolution.com.

PROPOSED APPROPRIATION OF PROFITS

Unrestricted shareholder’s equity in the parent company

SEK  31 December 2018

Share premium reserve 796,737,105

Loss brought forward -26,117,398

Loss for the year -110,976,066

Total 659,643,641

The Board of Directors proposes that the profits available 
for distribution and unrestricted reserves be allocated as 
follows:

SEK  31 December 2018

Share premium reserve 796,737,105

Carried forward -137,093,464

Total 659,643,641
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Group - Consolidated income statement
TSEK

Note

1 January - 
31 December 

2018
(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 

2017
(6 months)

Revenue from contracts with customers 4 10,973 4,827
Research and development expenses 5, 7, 14 -90,958 -52,693
Sales, general and administration expenses 6, 7, 14 -28,489 -16,748
Operating expenses -119,447 -69,441
Other operating income 8 2,366 153
Operating result -106,108 -64,461
Financial income 9 338 306
Financial expenses 10 -1,521 -674
Result before tax -107,291 -64,829
Corporate tax 11 7,568 3,577
Result for the period -99,723 -61,252

Distribution of the year's result
Net result attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company -99,723 -61,252

Basic earnings per share (EPS), SEK 12 -2.13 -1.43
Diluted earnings per share (EPS-D), SEK 12 -2.13 -1.43

Group - Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Net result for the period -99,723 -61,252

Other comprehensive result
Items subsequently reclassified to the income statement:
Foreign exchange adjustments on subsidiary 326 2,195
Total comprehensive result for the period -99,397 -59,057

Distribution of the year's result
Comprehensive result attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company -99,397 -59,057
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Group - Consolidated balance sheet
TSEK

Note
31 December 

2018
31 December 

2017
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 14 4,093 5,151
Leasehold improvement 14 1,085 1,189
Income tax receivable 11 3,785 3,636
Leasehold deposits 15 1,796 1,698
Total non-current assets 10,759 11,674

Current assets
Trade receivable 16 1,811 575
Income tax receivable 11 7,570 4,826
Other current receivables and prepayments 17 3,045 4,925
Cash and cash equivalents 26 111,101 114,758
Total current assets 123,527 125,084

TOTAL ASSETS 134,286 136,758

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital 18 49,525 42,858
Share premium 796,737 699,203
Exchange adjustment reserve 915 589
Retained earning -731,400 -631,559
Total shareholders' equity 115,777 111,091

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 21, 24 1,813 2,810
Total non-current liabilities 1,813 2,810

Current liabilities
Current portion of long-term lease liabilities 21, 24 1,243 1,375
Trade payables 20 4,552 9,979
Prepayments of grants 20 1,902 1,956
Other current liabilities 20 8,999 6,515
Contract liabilities 4 0 3,032
Total current liabilities 16,696 22,857

Total liabilities 18,509 25,667

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 134,286 136,758
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Group - Consolidated statement of cash flows
TSEK

Note

1 January - 
31 December 

2018
(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 

2017
(6 months)

Operating activities
Result before tax -107,291 -64,829
Adjustment for depreciation of plant and equipment 14 1,860 906
Adjustment for non-cash effect of the share-based payments 7, 25 -118 186
Financial income 9 -338 -306
Financial expenses 10 1,521 674
Cash flow before change in working capital -104,366 -63,369
Change in working capital 23 -5,385 -8,294
Cash flow from operations -109,751 -71,663
Interest received 170 296
Interest paid -1,410 -595
Corporate taxes received/paid 11 5,046 7,240
Cash flow from operating activities -105,945 -64,722

Investing activities
Investments in plant, equipment, fittings and tools 23 -266 -1,170
Investments in financial assets -28 0
Cash flow from investing activities -294 -1,170

Financing activities
New share issue 18 110,000 0
Costs related to the share issue 18 -5,799 0
Repayments of lease liabilities 24 -1,345 -741
Cash flow from financing activities 102,856 -741

Net cash flow for the period -3,383 -66,633
Currency translation adjustments -274 1,796
Cash and cash equivalents as of beginning of period 114,758 179,595
Cash and cash equivalents as of end of period 26 111,101 114,758

Accounting Policy
The cash flow statement is presented using the indirect method and shows cash flows from operating, investing and financing 
activities as well as the cash and cash equivalents at the beginning and end of the financial year.
   
Cash flows from operating activities are stated as the group’s result before tax, adjusted for financial income and expenses, non-
cash operating items, changes in working capital, received financial  income, paid financial expenses and received or paid income 
taxes.
   
Cash flows from investing activities comprise payments related to acquisitions and divestment of companies and activities as well 
as purchases and sales of property, plant and equipment and financial fixed assets.
   
Cash flows from financing activities comprise cash flow from proceeds from capital increase and repayment of lease liabilities 
related to assets held under finance lease.    

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, bank balances and short term securities subject to insignificant risk in change 
of value.
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Group - Consolidated statement of changes in equity
TSEK

Note
Share

capital
Share 

premium
Retained 
earnings

Currency
translation

reserve Total equity
Equity at 1 January 2018 42,858 699,203 -631,559 589 111,091

Result for the period 0 0 -99,723 0 -99,723
Oher comprehensive result 0 0 0 326 326
Total comprehensive result 0 0 -99,723 326 -99,397

Transactions with owners
Share issue 18 6,667 103,333 0 0 110,000
Costs related to the share issue 18 0 -5,799 0 0 -5,799
Share based payments 25 0 0 -118 0 -118
Total transaction with owners 6,667 97,534 -118 0 104,083
Total changes in equity 6,667 97,534 -99,841 326 4,686
Equity at 31 December 2018 49,525 796,737 -731,400 915 115,777

Note
Share

capital
Share 

premium
Retained 
earnings

Currency
translation

reserve Total equity
Equity at 1 July 2017 42,858 699,203 -570,493 -1,606 169,962

Result for the period 0 0 -61,252 0 -61,252
Oher comprehensive result 0 0 0 2,195 2,195
Total comprehensive result 0 0 -61,252 2,195 -59,057

Transactions with owners
Share based payments 25 0 0 186 0 186
Total transaction with owners 0 0 186 0 186
Total changes in equity 0 0 -61,066 2,195 -58,871
Equity at 31 December 2017 42,858 699,203 -631,559 589 111,091

Accounting Policy
The currency translation reserve in the consolidated financial statements comprises foreign-exchange differences arising on 
translation of financial statements of group entities from their local foreign currencies to the presentation currency used by the 
group (SEK). On the disposal, entirely or partially, of a group entity, the exchange-rate adjustment is recognized in the income 
statement as a portion of the gain/loss on the sale.
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Parent - Income statement
TSEK

Note

1 January - 
31 December 

2018
(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 

2017
(6 months)

Revenue 4 1,898 1,088
Research and development expenses 0 0
Sales, general and administration expenses 6, 7 -12,632 -8,161
Operating expenses -12,632 -8,161
Operating result -10,734 -7,073
Result from investment in subsidiary 13 -100,000 0
Financial income 9 12 8
Financial expenses 10 -253 -140
Result before tax -110,975 -7,205
Corporate tax 11 0 0
Result for the period -110,975 -7,205

Parent - Statement of comprehensive income  

Net result for the period -110,975 -7,205
Total net comprehensive result for the period -110,975 -7,205
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Parent - Balance sheet
TSEK

Note
31 December 

2018
31 December 

2017
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investment in subsidiary 13 682,699 682,699
Total non-current assets 682,699 682,699

Current assets
Trade receivable, Group company 16 542 629
Other current receivables and prepayments 17 503 1,197
Cash and cash equivalents 26 26,835 35,451
Total current assets 27,880 37,277

TOTAL ASSETS 710,579 719,976

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Restricted equity:
Share capital 18 49,525 42,858
Unrestricted shareholders' equity:
Share premium 19 796,737 699,203
Retained earning 19 -26,118 -18,795
Loss for the period 19 -110,975 -7,205
Shareholders' equity 709,169 716,061

Current liabilities
Trade payables 20 1,333 3,895
Other current liabilities 20 77 20
Total current liabilities 1,410 3,915

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 710,579 719,976
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Parent - Statement of cash flows
TSEK

Note

1 January - 
31 December 

2018
(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 

2017
(6 months)

Operating activities
Result before tax -110,975 -7,205
Adjustment for non-cash effect of the share-based payments 7, 25 -118 192
Result from investment in subsidiary 13 100,000 0
Financial income 9 -12 -8
Financial expenses 10 253 140
Cash flow before change in working capital -10,852 -6,881
Change in working capital 23 -1,724 1,482
Cash flow from operations -12,576 -5,399
Interest received 12 8
Interest paid -253 -140
Cash flow from operating activities -12,817 -5,531

Investing activities
Investments in subsidiary 13 -100,000 -50,000
Cash flow from investing activities -100,000 -50,000

Financing activities
New share issue 18 110,000 0
Costs related to the share issue 18 -5,799 0
Cash flow from financing activities 104,201 0

Net cash flow for the period -8,616 -55,531
Cash and cash equivalents as of beginning of period 35,451 90,982
Cash and cash equivalents as of end of period 26 26,835 35,451

Accounting Policy
The cash flow statement is presented using the indirect method and shows cash flows from operating, investing and financing 
activities as well as the cash and cash equivalents at the beginning and end of the financial year.
 
Cash flows from operating activities are stated as the company ś result before tax, adjusted for financial income and expenses, 
non-cash operating items, changes in working capital, paid financial expenses and received income taxes.    

Cash flows from investing activities comprise payments related to capital increase in subsidiary.    

Cash flows from financing activities comprise proceeds from increase changes in the parent company’s share capital and related 
costs.    

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, bank balances and short term securities subject to insignificant risk in change 
of value.
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Parent - Statement of changes in equity
TSEK

Restricted 
equity Unrestricted shareholders’ equity

Note
Share

capital
Share 

premium
Retained 
earnings

Net
income

Total
equity

Equity at 1 January 2018 42,858 699,203 -18,795 -7,205 716,061

Comprehensive income
Result for the period 0 0 0 -110,975 -110,975
Result carried forward 0 0 -7,205 7,205 0
Total comprehensive result 0 0 -7,205 -103,770 -110,975

Transactions with owners
Share issue 18 6,667 103,333 0 0 110,000
Costs related to the share issue 18 0 -5,799 0 0 -5,799
Share based payments 25 0 0 -118 0 -118
Total transaction with owners 6,667 97,534 -118 0 104,083
Total changes in equity 6,667 97,534 -7,323 -103,770 -6,892
Equity at 31 December 2018 49,525 796,737 -26,118 -110,975 709,169

Restricted 
equity Unrestricted shareholders’ equity

Note
Share

capital
Share 

premium
Retained 
earnings

Net
income

Total
equity

Equity at 1 July 2017 42,858 699,203 -13,654 -5,333 723,074

Comprehensive income
Result for the period 0 0 0 -7,205 -7,205
Result carried forward 0 0 -5,333 5,333 0
Total comprehensive result 0 0 -5,333 -1,872 -7,205

Transactions with owners
Share based payments 25 0 0 192 0 192
Total transaction with owners 0 0 192 0 192
Total changes in equity 0 0 -5,141 -1,872 -7,013
Equity at 31 December 2017 42,858 699,203 -18,795 -7,205 716,061
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Note 1: Company information

Nuevolution AB (the “Company” or “Parent”) is a limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Sweden. The registered 
office is at Rønnegade 8, 2100 Copenhagen, Denmark. The Annual consolidated financial statements include the Company’s whol-
ly-owned Danish subsidiary, Nuevolution A/S. The Company and its subsidiary are collectively referred to as the “Group”.

Nuevolution is a biopharmaceutical group focused on developing treatments for human diseases within oncology and inflam-
matory diseases. Nuevolution is the sole inventor of Chemetics®, a drug discovery platform which enables efficient discovery of 
novel chemical small molecule leads for specific indications. Nuevolution has applied the Chemetics® platform to deliver leads 
for pharmaceutical partners and since late 2012 used its platform for own drug development effort, creating its own pipeline of 
programs. Through creation of a collection of more than 40 trillion small molecule and macrocyclic compounds (“Synthetic Bio-
logics”), Nuevolution has established itself as a leading party in the field of small molecule lead discovery.

Note 2: Significant accounting policies

The consolidated financial statement and the financial statements for the parent company for the year ended 31 December 2018 
have been approved by the Board of Directors and the CEO on 4 April 2018 and will be submitted to the Annual General Meeting 
on 22 May 2019 for approval.

BASIS FOR PREPARATION
The annual report for the Group has been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and interpretations by the International Financial Reporting Interpreta-
tion Committee (IFRIC) as adopted by the EU. Since the parent company is a listed company within the EU, only IFRS approved 
by the EU is applied.

Furthermore, the annual report has been prepared in accordance with Swedish law by applying the Swedish Financial Reporting 
Board’s recommendation RFR1 supplementary accounting rules for groups.

The parent company’s annual report has been prepared in accordance with Swedish law and with application of the Swedish 
Financial Reporting Board’s recommendation RFR2 (Accounting for legal entities). This means that IFRS is applied with the devia-
tions as stated in the section Parent Company’s accounting principles. Applied accounting principles are in line with those applied 
in the previous year.

This note sets out the Grouṕ s accounting policies that relate to the financial statements as a whole. Where an accounting policy 
is specific to one financial statement item, the policy is described in the note to which it relates.

The accounting policies in the Parent Company financial statements are included under the section “PARENT COMPANY 
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES”.

The Annual Report is presented in SEK as the parent company Nuevolution AB is registered in Sweden and has SEK as functional 
currency. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand SEK.

CHANGES OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES, INCLUDING PRESENTATION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS
At the annual general meeting on 12 October 2017, the shareholders approved new Articles of Association, including the change 
of fiscal year from 1 July - 30 June to 1 January - 31 December. This means that Nuevolution reported a shorter 2017 fiscal year, 
which comprises 1 July – 31 December 2017. Therefore, this annual report is the first for the fiscal year 1 January – 31 December 
2018. 
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Previously reimbursed expenses (2018: TSEK 543 (666)) and government grants (2018: TSEK 2,366 (153)) have been presented as 
revenue. Since neither reimbursed expenses nor government grants meet the characteristics of revenue from contracts with cus-
tomers, reimbursement of expenses has been reclassified and set-off against related costs and income from government grants 
has be reclassified to other operating income. The reclassification has no impact on the net result, earnings per share, financial 
position or cash flow. The comparative figures in the income statement have been restated retrospectively.

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
The Group has for the first time applied standards and interpretations, which are effective for the financial year 2018:

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
• IFRS 15 Revenue from contract with customers.
• Amendment to IFRS 2 Classification and measurement of share based-payment transactions
• IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
• Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2014 - 2016

Adoption of IFRS 9 Financial instruments requires an update of the accounting policy for possible impairment of trade receiva-
bles and other financial assets. From 1 January 2018, the group has adopted the expected loss model which changes the timing of 
when an impairment loss will be recognized. Neither the former model for impairment of financial assets nor adoption of the new 
expected loss model lead to recognition of impairment losses.

The accounting policy for IFRS 9 Financial Instruments is presented in connection with the relevant notes.

The group applied IFRS 15 Revenue from contract with customers using the modified retrospective method which means that the 
comparative figures not are restated. Implementation of IFRS 15 has not resulted in any difference in income statement, which 
means that implementation is expected to have limited impact on comparability with comparative periods. For a detailed descrip-
tion of the Group’s accounting principles for revenue from contract with customers, please see note 4.

Except of the adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 the accounting policies are consistent with those applied to the Annual Report for 
2017, prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU.

None of the new standards and interpretations has impacted recognition and measurement for the reporting period.

NEW STANDARDS EFFECTIVE FROM 2019
IASB has issued IFRS 16 “Leases”, which is effective for accounting periods beginning 1 January 2019. The Group plans to adopt the 
new standard on the required effective date by using the modified retrospective method, which means that comparative figures 
for prior periods is not restated. The Group has operational lease agreements for office premises, affected by the implementation 
of IFRS 16.

The standard requires that all leases be recognized in the balance sheet with a corresponding lease liability, except for short leases 
and minor assets. Leased assets are amortized over the lease term, and payments are allocated between instalments on the lease 
liabilities and interest expense, classified as financial items.

The Group has evaluated the impact on the consolidated financial statements and the most significant impact will be the recogni-
tion of new assets and liabilities for its operating lease of office facilities. In addition, the nature of the expenses related to those 
leases will now change as IFRS 16 replaces the straight-line operating lease expense with a depreciation charge for right of use 
assets and interest expense on lease liabilities.

On 1 January 2019, the Group is expected to recognize a lease liability related to the Group’s premises in Copenhagen of approx-
imately SEK 17.4 million and an asset representing the right to use the premises during the lease term (i.e. the right to use asset) 
of approximately SEK 17.4 million. The lease agreement is an open-ended agreement. The lease agreement can be cancelled with 
a notice of six months. Nuevolution do not expect to cancel the agreement within a foreseeable period. The lease liability and 
corresponding value of the right to uses assets has been estimated for a five-year period. Applying the modified retrospective 
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approach, the expected accumulated effect on equity and total assets at 1 January 2019 approximates SEK 0 million and SEK 17.4 
million, respectively. Following the implementation, the Group will separately recognize the interest expense in the lease liability 
and the depreciation on the right to use the Group’s premises in Copenhagen. The implementation of IFRS will in the first year 
reduce the operating expenses of approximate SEK 0.1 million and increase the financial expenses of approximate SEK 0.3 million. 
The net result and equity will be reduced with SEK 0.2 million. The implementation of IFRS 16 will have an insignificant effect on 
the earnings per share. The cash flow will not be affected by the implementation of IFRS 16.

Implementation of IFRS 16 will require the Group to make more extensive disclosures than under IAS 17. 

CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Nuevolution AB (the parent company) and the entities 
in which the parent company, directly or indirectly, holds more than 50 % of the voting rights or otherwise exercise a controlling 
influence (subsidiaries).

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the basis of the financial statements of the parent company and its subsid-
iaries by aggregating items of a similar nature and subsequently eliminating intra-group transactions, intra-group investments and 
balances, and intra-group gains and losses. The financial statements used for consolidation purposes are prepared in accordance 
with the Group’s accounting policies.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
On initial recognition, foreign currency transactions are translated at the exchange rate at the transaction date. Receivables, lia-
bilities and other monetary items denominated in foreign currency that have not been settled at the balance sheet date are trans-
lated at closing rates. Foreign exchange differences between the rate of exchange at the date of the transaction and the rate of 
exchange at the date of payment or the balance sheet date, respectively, are recognised in the income statement under financial 
items.

When group entities with a functional currency other than Swedish Kroner are recognised in the consolidated financial state-
ments, their income statements are translated at average exchange rates for the respective quarters, and balance sheet items are 
translated at the exchange rates at the balance sheet date.

Exchange differences arising from translation on foreign subsidiaries’ balance sheet items at the beginning of the period to the 
exchange rates at the balance sheet date, and on the translation of these subsidiaries’ income statements from average exchange 
rates at the balance sheet date are recognized in other comprehensive income (OCI).

SEGMENT REPORTING
An operating segment is a component of a company whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the Company’s CEO, to 
make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance. The Nuevolution Group is managed 
and operated as one business unit, which is reflected in the organizational structure and internal reporting. No separate lines of 
business or separate business entities have been identified with respect to any of the product candidates or geographical markets 
and no segment information is currently disclosed in the internal reporting. Accordingly, it has been concluded that it is not rele-
vant to disclose any segment information in the financial statement for the Group or the parent company.

PARENT COMPANY ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
The parent company complies with the Annual Accounts Act (1995: 1554) and the Swedish Financial Reporting Board’s recom-
mendation RFR2, accounting for legal entities. RFR2 means that the parent company must comply with IFRS / IAS as far as possi-
ble. The differences between the parent company’s and the Group’s accounting principles are mainly due to the Annual Accounts 
Act. In the following cases, the parent company’s accounting policies do not fully comply with IFRS.

The Parent Company does not apply the valuation rules in IFRS 9, Financial Instruments. In the Parent Company, financial fixed 
assets are valued at cost less any impairment losses and financial current assets at the lowest value principle. Subsidiaries are 
reported according to the cost method. Acquisition value is the price or purchase price that has been paid for an asset at the time 
of acquisition or the actual value that has been paid in another way at the time of acquisition (for example, when changing). When 
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the acquisition value method is applied, the purchase price and other expenses directly attributable to the purchase or manufac-
ture shall be included in the acquisition value

Note 3: Critical accounting estimates and judgements

In preparing the annual consolidated financial statements, management makes various accounting judgements and estimates and 
define assumptions, which form the basis of recognition, measurement and presentation of the group’s assets and liabilities.

The estimates and assumptions applied are based on historical experience, the most recent information available at the reporting 
date, and other factors that management considers reasonable under the circumstances.

The basis for judgements and information can by nature be inaccurate or incomplete, and the company is subject to uncertainties, 
which can result in an actual outcome that deviates from estimates and defined assumptions. It may be necessary in the future 
to change previous estimates and judgements as a result of supplementary information, additional knowledge and experience or 
subsequent events.

In applying the group’s accounting policies described in note 2, management has exercised critical accounting judgements and esti-
mates, which significantly influence on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements.

The accounting estimates or judgements which are relevant to the Management Board in the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements are described in note 4 Revenue from contract with customers and contract liabilities, note 5 Research and 
development expenses and note 11 Corporate and deferred tax.

PARENT COMPANY
In preparing the annual financial statements for the parent company, management makes various accounting judgements and esti-
mates and define assumptions with significant effect on recognition of the investment in Nuevolution A/S and possible impair-
ment hereof.

The estimates and assumptions applied for valuation of the investment in Nuevolution A/S is described in note 13 Investment in 
subsidiary.

Note 4: Revenue from contracts with customers and contract liabilities

Group Parent Company

TSEK

1 January - 
31 December 

2018
(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 

20171

(6 months)

1 January - 
31 December 

2018
(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 

20171

(6 months)
Recognition of upfront payments (transferred over time) 3,113 4,827 0 0
Milestone payments (at a point in time) 6,310 0 0 0
Contract work (transferred over time) 1,550 0 0 0
Service fee, group companies (transferred over time) 0 0 1,898 1,088
Total 10,973 4,827 1,898 1,088

Revenue split by Geographical Area
Sweden 0 0 1,898 1,088
USA 10,973 4,827 0 0
Total 10,973 4,827 1,898 1,088
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The revenue is based on contracts with two partners in the period 1 January - 31 December 2018 and one partner in the period 1 
July - 31 December 2017:

Group
31 December 

2018
31 December 

20171

Customer 1 86% 100%
Customer 2 14% 0%

Balance Sheet Group
Contract liabilities (deferred revenue) from contracts with customers recognized on the 
balance sheet:

31 December 
2018

31 December 
20171

Balance at beginning of period 3,032 7,766
Recognized in the income statement -3,113 -4,827
Exchange rate adjustments 81 93
Balance at end of period 0 3,032

Expected timing of recognition of contract liabilities in the income statement:
Current 0 3,032
Total contract liabilities 0 3,032

1 Comparative figures for 2017 has been prepared in accordance with IAS 18.

The future recognition in the income statement is based on the current assessment.      

Contract liabilities represent the aggregated amount of payments from customers allocated to the performance obligations that 
are unsatisfied at the end of the reporting period. Contract liabilities presented as current relates to performance obligations, 
Nuevolution expects to satisfy during the coming 12 months, whereas the non-current portion of contract obligations represent 
performance obligations, Nuevolution expects to satisfy after the coming 12 months.      

Accounting Policy
Revenue
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for sales of exclusive license rights and income 
derived from contract research and other services. Revenue is measured net of discounts, value added tax, duties, etc. collected 
on behalf of a third party.
   
In determining the appropriate amount of revenue to be recognized as it fulfils its obligations under each of its agreements, the 
group performs the following five steps:

i. identification of the promised services in the contract;
ii. determination of whether the promised services are performance obligations including whether they are distinct in the 

context of the contract;
iii. measurement of the transaction price, including the constraint on variable consideration;
iv. allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations; and 
v. recognition of revenue when (or as) the group satisfies each performance obligation.

As part of the accounting for these arrangements, the group must develop assumptions that require judgement to determine the 
stand-alone selling price for each performance obligation identified in the contract. The group uses key assumptions to determine 
the stand-alone selling price, which may include forecasted revenue, development timelines, and probabilities of technical and 
regulatory success.
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Licenses of Intellectual Property
If the license to the group’s intellectual property is determined to be distinct from the other performance obligations identified 
in an out-licensing arrangement, the group recognizes revenue from non-refundable, up-front fees allocated to the license when 
the license is transferred to the licensee and the licensee is able to use and benefit from the license. For licenses that are bundled 
with other promises, the group utilizes judgement to assess the nature of the combined performance obligation to determine 
whether the combined performance obligation is satisfied over time or at a point in time and, if over time, the appropriate method 
of measuring progress for purposes of recognizing revenue from non-refundable, up-front fees. The group evaluates the measure 
of progress each reporting period and, if necessary, adjusts the measure of performance and related revenue recognition.

Milestone Payments
At the inception of each arrangement that includes development milestone payments, the group evaluates whether the mile-
stones are considered probable of being reached and estimates the amount to be included in the transaction price using the 
most likely amount method. If it is probable that a significant revenue reversal would not occur, the associated milestone value is 
included in the transaction price. Milestone payments that are not within the control of the group or the licensee, such as regu-
latory approvals, are not considered probable of being achieved until those approvals are received. The transaction price is then 
allocated to each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis, for which the group recognizes revenue as 
or when the performance obligations under the contract are satisfied. At the end of each subsequent reporting period, the group 
re-evaluates the probability of achievement of such development milestones and any related constraint, and if necessary, adjusts 
its estimate of the overall transaction price. Any such adjustments are recorded on a cumulative catch-up basis, which would 
affect revenue in the period of adjustment.

Contract work
Revenue from contract research and licenses that do not transfer the right of ownership to an intangible asset are recognized over 
time in line with the execution and transfer of the services. The percentage of completion is made up based on the stage of com-
pletion on each individual work in progress.

Rendering of services - Group companies
Income from rendering of management, research and development services for group companies are recognized as revenue. The 
revenue is recognized in the period when the services have been provided. All intra-group revenue are eliminated in the consoli-
dated financial statement in accordance with the accounting policies.

Significant License and Collaboration Agreements:

Amgen
In October 2016, Nuevolution entered into a research collaboration with Amgen, a multi target research collaboration in which 
Amgen has an exclusive option to obtain all rights to successfully developed programs.      

During early discovery stage, Nuevolution covers all own cost. When Amgen decides to make a contractual opt-in, they will take 
over all cost including Nuevolution’s cost. At contractual licensing, Amgen obtains ownership of the program and pays an upfront 
licensing fee of minimum USD 10 million depending on development stage at licensing. Further development and sales milestones 
equal up to USD 400 million per program plus tiered royalties on generated sales in case milestones are successfully reached.  
    
In 2018 Amgen has made an opt-in to two programs under the agreement.
      
Following the opt-in Nuevolution is reimbursed for all cost incurred on a non-refundable basis, why revenue is recognized in full as 
cost are incurred and invoiced. Future potential milestone payments including potential license of programs are outside the com-
pany’s control why no revenue has been recognized.      
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Almirall
In December 2016, Nuevolution entered into a license agreement with Spanish pharmaceutical company Almirall, for Nuevolu-
tion’s RORγt inhibitor program

In this global strategic collaboration for RORγt development and commercialization, Almirall obtained a license to develop treat-
ments for inflammatory skin diseases, such as psoriasis, and for psoriatic arthritis, the latter an inflammatory disease that affects 
the spine and other skeletal parts. All other developmental therapeutic indication rights remain with Nuevolution.    
   
Through this collaboration, Nuevolution received, before Spanish withholding tax, EUR 11.2 million as an upfront license pay-
ment. Upon successful development of this program, the company may receive up to a further EUR 442 million in development 
and sales milestone payments as well as tiered royalties on future net sales. 
      
The received upfront license payment is non-refundable why revenue has been recognized in full. Future potential milestone pay-
ments are outside the company’s control why no revenue has been recognized.      

Janssen Biotech
In October 2015, Nuevolution entered into a multitarget collaboration with Janssen Biotech, Inc.     
 
Within the framework of the collaboration, Nuevolution will apply its drug discovery platform Chemetics® to discover and 
advance drug candidates against drug targets of interest to Janssen. Under the terms of the agreement, Nuevolution will receive 
an upfront payment, research funding and will be eligible to milestone payments upon achievement of specified research, devel-
opment and commercial milestones. In addition, Nuevolution will be entitled to receive certain royalty payments on net-sale of 
products that may be commercialized as a result of the collaboration.
     
In January 2018, Janssen exercised its option to license one of the research programs under the multi-target collaboration in the 
therapeutic area of anti-infectives. Nuevolution received an initial license fee of USD 0.75 million.     
 
In connection with the licence Nuevolution have fulfilled all requirements, why the license fee and earlier payments are all non-re-
fundable. As a result revenue has been recognized in full. Future potential milestone payments are outside the company’s control 
why no revenue has been recognized.

MANAGEMENT'S JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
Nuevolution’s partner agreements include several components such as up-front payments, reimbursed costs, licence payments, 
development and sales milestones and royalty. In assessing revenue recognition Nuevolution assess whether obligations are met, 
if payments are non refundable, if future events are in or outside Nuevolutions control, to assess if revenue should be recognized 
in full, over time or not recognized at the current point in time.
     
For the year ended 31 December 2018, Nuevolution has not recognized any revenues from future payments under the collabora-
tion agreement with Almirall, Amgen or Janssen. 
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Note 5: Research and development expenses

Group

TSEK

1 January - 
31 December 2018

(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 2017

(6 months)
Employee benefit expenses (note 7) 42,676 17,957
External expenses 46,998 34,522

Depreciation (note 14) 1,827 880
Total 91,501 53,359
Reimbursed expenses from collaboration partners -543 -666
Net research and development expenses 90,958 52,693

All research and development activities are carried out by Nuevolution A/S. 
 
Accounting Policy
Research and development expenses are incurred in the group for in-house research and development activities as well as numer-
ous research and development collaborations and alliances with third parties.      

Research and development expenses mainly comprise the costs for active ingredient discovery, clinical studies, research and devel-
opment activities in the areas of application technology and engineering, field trials, patents, regulatory approvals and approval 
extensions. In addition, research and development expenses also include wages and salaries, share-based compensation, and other 
employee related cost, cost of premises, lawyer, depreciation etc. related to the research and development staff.   
   
For accounting purposes, research expenses are defined as costs incurred for current or planned investigations undertaken with 
the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and understanding. Development expenses are defined as costs 
incurred for the application of research findings or specialist knowledge to plans or designs for the production, provision or devel-
opment of new or substantially improved products, services or processes, respectively, prior to the commencement of commer-
cial production or use.      

Development expenses that are directly attributable to the development of identifiable assets controlled by the Group are 
reported as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:      

1) It is technically possible to complete the intangible asset so that it can be used or sold      
2) The company’s intention is to complete the asset and to use or sell it      
3) There are prerequisites to use or sell the asset      
4) It can be shown how the asset can generate probable future economic benefits      
5) Appropriate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the asset are available 
6) expenses that are attributable to assets during its development can be reliably calculated     
 
Reimbursed expenses related to project under collaboration agreements are invoiced to the partners and are set-off against 
research and development expenses.
     
All other research and development expenses are recognized in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred. 
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MANAGEMENT’S JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
Research costs cannot be capitalized.
    
Patent costs are normally defined as an intangible asset and must be capitalized.
 
The conditions for capitalization of patent and development costs are closely defined: an intangible asset must be recognized if, 
and only if, there is reasonable certainty of receiving future cash flows that will cover an asset’s carrying amount. Since our own 
development projects are often subject to regulatory approval procedures and other uncertainties, the conditions for the capital-
ization of costs incurred before receipt of approvals are not normally satisfied.      

The recoverable value of our patents is closely connected to our development projects hence a possible capitalization of patent 
cost will follow the possible capitalization of our developments projects.      

Management assess on a continues basis, whether there is reasonable certainty of receiving future cash flows that will cover the 
development costs incurred regarding our own development projects. As the currently ongoing projects are subject to regulatory 
approval procedures and other uncertainties, the conditions for the capitalization of development and patent costs have not been 
satisfied as at 31 December 2018 and comparative periods.      

Note 6: Sales, general and administration expenses

Group Parent Company

TSEK

1 January - 
31 December 2018

(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 2017

(6 months)

1 January - 
31 December 2018

(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 2017

(6 months)
Employee benefit expenses (note 7) 13,105 5,658 2,048 1,410
External expenses 15,351 11,064 10,584 6,751

Depreciation (note 14) 33 26 0 0
Total 28,489 16,748 12,632 8,161

Accounting Policy
Sales, general and administrative expenses include wages and salaries, share-based compensation, and other personnel related 
expenses, office costs, cost of premises, audit, lawyer, depreciation etc. related to management, sales, human resources, informa-
tion technology, and the finance department.
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Note 7: Employee benefit

Group Parent Company

TSEK

1 January - 
31 December 

2018
(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 

2017
(6 months)

1 January - 
31 December 

2018
(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 

2017
(6 months)

Wages & salaries 50,876 20,512 1,637 660
Bonus 0 -164 0 0
Share-based payment (see also note 25) -118 186 -118 192
Pension (Defined contribution) 1,439 501 0 0
Other social security costs 525 263 94 98
Other staff costs 3,059 2,317 435 460
Total 55,781 23,615 2,048 1,410

Staff costs are recognized as follows:
Research and development expenses 42,676 17,957 0 0
Sales, general and administration expenses 13,105 5,658 2,048 1,410
Total staff cost 55,781 23,615 2,048 1,410

Employees:

Average number of FTE 49 48 1 0
Number of FTE end of year 49 47 1 0

All employees are engaged in Denmark. Except for management, the parent company has no employees.

Members of the group management have contracts of employment containing standard terms for members of group companies 
of Swedish listed companies, including the periods of notice that both parties are required to give and competition clauses. If a 
contract of employment of a member of group management is terminated by the company without misconduct on the part of 
such member, the member of the group management is entitled to compensation, which, depending on the circumstances, may 
amount to a maximum of 6-12 months’ remuneration. In the event of a change of control the compensation can amount up to 12 
months’ remuneration. 
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Note 7: Employee benefit - continued

REMUNERATION OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT

1 January - 31 December 2018 (12 months)
TSEK

Base salary 
Directors' 

fee

Bonus Pension 
costs - 

defined con-
tribution

Other social 
security 

costs

Total

Stig Løkke Pedersen, Chairman of the Board of Directors, 
member of Audit and Remuneration committee 440 0 0 0 440
Lars Henriksson, Board member and chairman of Audit 
committee 250 0 0 78 328
Søren Lemonius, Board member and chairman of Remunera-
tion committee 230 0 0 0 230
Jutta Heim, Board member and member of Scientific com-
mittee 200 0 0 0 200
Jeanette Wood, Board member and chairman of Scientific 
committee 200 0 0 0 200
Frederik Arp, Board member until 24 April 2018 50 0 0 16 66
Sub-total Board of Directors 1,370 0 0 94 1,464
CEO 2,574 0 257 3 2,834
Other Executive Management (CSO, CBO and CFO (4 
persons)) 7,582 0 179 12 7,773
Sub-total Executive Management 10,156 0 436 15 10,607
Total 11,526 0 436 109 12,071

1 July - 31 December 2017 (6 months)
TSEK

Base salary 
Directors' 

fee

Bonus Pension 
costs - 

defined con-
tribution

Other social 
security 

costs

Total

Stig Løkke Pedersen, Chairman of the Board of Directors, 
member of Audit and Remuneration committee 220 0 0 0 220
Lars Henriksson, Board member and chairman of Audit 
committee 125 0 0 98 223
Søren Lemonius, Board member and chairman of Remunera-
tion committee 115 0 0 0 115
Jutta Heim, Board member 100 0 0 0 100
Jeanette Wood, Board member 100 0 0 0 100
Frederik Arp, Board member 0 0 0 0 0
Sub-total Board of Directors 660 0 0 98 758
CEO 1,219 0 122 1 1,342
Other Executive Management (CSO, CBO and CFO (3 
persons)) 2,635 -164 35 4 2,510
Sub-total Executive Management 3,854 -164 157 5 3,852

Total 4,514 -164 157 103 4,610
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Accounting Policy
Employee benefit      
Staff expenses comprise wages and salaries for staff engaged in research, development, sales, marketing, administration and man-
agement. The item also comprise all staff-related costs.
     
Short-term remuneration      
Remuneration of employees in form of salaries, bonuses, share-based payments, paid vacation, paid sickness absence, etc. and 
pension are recognized when the relevant services are received.

Retirement benefit 
Post-employment pension and other remuneration are classified as defined-contribution or defined-benefit pension plans. The 
group has only defined-contribution pension plans. For defined-contribution plans, the group pays fixed contribution to a sepa-
rate, independent legal entry and does not have any obligation to pay additional contribution. The group’s earnings are charged 
with expenses in line with the benefits being earned, which normally coincides with the time when the premium is paid.

Share-based payments      
Share-based incentive programs, under which management and employees may choose to buy shares in the parent company 
(equity schemes), are measured at fair value of equity instruments at grant date and recognized in the income statement over the 
period of the employee’s earning the right to buy the shares. The balancing item is recognized directly in shareholder equity. The 
fair value of the share-based payment is determined using a combination of a Black-Scholes model and a Monte-Carlo simulation 
model. Please refer to Note 25 for further details.

Note 8: Other operating income

Group

TSEK

1 January - 
31 December 2018

(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 2017

(6 months)
Government grant 2,366 153
Total 2,366 153

Accounting Policy
Other operating income comprises research funding from government grant. Research funding is recognized in the period when 
the research activities have been performed and when there is reasonable assurance that the grants will be received. Grants for 
research and development costs, which are recognized directly in the income statement are recognized under other operating 
income as the grants are considered to be cost refunds and not as such revenue.      

Prepaid grants are recognized in the balance sheet as prepayments of government grants at par value on receipt and is transferred 
to the income statement concurrently with the related expenses occur.      
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Note 9: Financial income

Group Parent Company

TSEK

1 January - 
31 December 2018

(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 2017

(6 months)

1 January - 
31 December 2018

(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 2017

(6 months)
Interest income 15 0 0 0
Foreign exchange gain 323 306 12 8
Total 338 306 12 8

Accounting Policy
Financial income include interest income, realized and unrealized gains on transactions in foreign currencies. Financial income are 
recognized in the income statement at the amounts that relate to the reporting period.      

Note 10: Financial expenses 

Group Parent Company

TSEK

1 January - 
31 December 2018

(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 2017

(6 months)

1 January - 
31 December 2018

(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 2017

(6 months)
Interest expenses 461 160 201 109
Leasing interest 116 67 0 0
Bank fees and other financial expenses 188 93 15 7
Foreign exchange loss 756 354 37 24
Total 1,521 674 253 140

Accounting Policy
Financial expenses include interest expenses, interest expenses relating to finance lease payments, bank fees or alike and realized 
and unrealized losses on transactions in foreign currencies. Financial interest expenses are recognized in the income statement 
according to the effective interest method and other financial expenses are recognized in the income statement at the amounts 
that relate to the reporting period.
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Note 11: Corporate and deferred tax

Taxation - income statement Group Parent Company

TSEK

1 January - 
31 December 2018

(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 2017

(6 months)

1 January - 
31 December 2018

(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 2017

(6 months)
Result before tax -107,291 -64,829 -110,975 -7,205
Corporate income tax rate in Sweden 22.0% 22.0% 22.0% 22.0%
Tax on result for the period 23,604 14,262 24,415 1,585
Tax value of non-deductible expenses *) 23 -2 -22,000 0
Utilization of Danish tax credit 7,568 3,577 0 0
Adjustment of deferred tax 8,180 3,647 1,301 -42
Adjustment of deferred tax not recognized in 
the balance sheet -31,807 -17,907 -3,716 -1,543
Total 7,568 3,577 0 0
* Non-deductible expenses in the parent company relate to the group contribution. See also note 13.

Taxation - recognition of income tax receiva-
ble in the balance sheet

TSEK
31 December 

2018
31 December 

2017
31 December 

2018
31 December 

2017
Balance at beginning of period 8,462 11,862 0 0
Exchange rate adjustments 371 263 0 0
Tax credit for the year 7,568 3,577 0 0
Received tax credit for the year -5,046 -7,240 0 0
Balance at end of period 11,355 8,462 0 0

Recognized in the balance sheet as follows:
Non-current income tax receivable 3,785 3,636 0 0
Current income tax receivable 7,570 4,826 0 0
Total income tax receivable 11,355 8,462 0 0

Taxation - recognition of deferred tax in the 
balance sheet

TSEK
31 December 

2018
31 December 

2017
31 December 

2018
31 December 

2017
Component of the deferred tax asset are as 
follows:
Property, plant and equipment -528 -803 0 0
Net payments under finance lease 672 920 0 0
Research and development costs capitalized 
for tax purposes -15,120 -4,530 0 0
Other current assets 881 374 0 0
Deferred income 0 -667 0 0
Share-based payments -11,726 -11,238 0 0
Tax loss carry-forward -147,196 -129,393 -11,123 -7,449
Total -173,017 -145,337 -11,123 -7,449
Unrecognized deferred tax asset 173,017 145,337 11,123 7,449
Total 0 0 0 0
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Income tax for the group for the year includes a tax credit for research and development at the applicable tax rate under the Dan-
ish Corporate Income Tax Act.  
    
Both the group and the parent company has in previous years generated tax losses. As it is still uncertain whether deferred tax 
assets can be utilized, the assets has not been recognized in the annual report. Deferred tax assets not recognized for the period 
1 January - 31 December 2018 were TSEK 173.017 (145.337) for the Group and TSEK 11,123 (7,449) for the parent company.  
    
According to current tax legislation, tax losses carry-forward can be carried forward indefinitely.     

Accounting Policy
Income tax      
Corporate tax for the year comprises current tax on the year’s taxable income and the year’s deferred tax adjustments, is recog-
nized in the income statement as regards the portion that relates to the net result for the year and is taken directly to equity as 
regards the portion that relates to entries directly in equity or other comprehensive income, respectively.    

In assessing current tax for the year, the applicable tax rates and legislation on the statement of financial position date are used. 
Nuevolution A/S has a corporate income tax year running from 1 July to 30 June. While Nuevolution AB has a corporate income 
tax year following the calendar year.      

The group recognizes tax credits relating to research and development costs in accordance with the Danish corporate tax act at 
the corporate income tax rate (22% for both 2018 and 2017) based on total research and development cost of up to DKK 25 mil-
lion. For the period 1 January to 31 December 2018, the Company recognized tax credit of SEK 7,568 thousand.   
   
For the period 1 January to 31 December 2017, the Company recognized tax credit of SEK 3,577 thousand corresponding to the 
part of the income tax year (6 months) that is included in the financial year.      

Income tax receivable      
Current tax assets for the current and prior periods shall be measured at the amount expected to be recovered from the taxation 
authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 
Tax assets that is expected to be recovered within 12 months is reported as current income tax receivable and tax assets that is 
expected to be recovered after 12 month is reported as non-current income tax receivable.     
 
Deferred taxes      
Deferred tax is measured according to the statement of balance sheet liability method on all temporary differences between 
the carrying amount and the tax base of assets and liabilities. The deferred tax is stated based on the planned utilization of the 
individual asset and the settlement of the individual liability, respectively.      

Deferred tax assets, including the tax value of tax losses carry-forwards, are recognized in the balance sheet at the value at which 
they are expected to be utilized, either through elimination against tax on future earnings or through a set-off against deferred 
tax liabilities.

MANAGEMENT'S JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
The Group recognizes deferred tax assets relating to tax losses carried forward when management assess that these tax assets 
can be offset against positive taxable income in the foreseeable future. The assessment is made at the reporting date and is based 
on relevant information, taking into account any impact from restrictions in utilization in local tax legislation.   
   
The assessment of future taxable income is based on financial budgets approved by management as well as management’s expec-
tations regarding the operational development in the following years. Based upon this assessment no deferred tax assets relating 
to tax losses carried forward have been recognized as at 31 December 2018. 
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Note 12: Earnings per share

Group

TSEK

1 January - 
31 December 2018

(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 2017

(6 months)

Net result -99,723 -61,252

Average number of shares 46,876,501 42,858,236

Average number of shares-based instruments (Warrants), dilution 772,279 842,258

Average number of shares, diluted 47,648,780 43,700,494

Basic earnings per share (EPS), SEK -2.13 -1.43

Diluted earnings per share (EPS-D), SEK* -2.13 -1.43

*No dilution since the warrants are currently anti-dilutive.

Accounting Policy
Earnings per share (EPS) and diluted earnings per share  (EPS-D) are calculated according to IAS 33.   

Basic net earnings per share (EPS)
Basic net earnings per share is calculated as the net result for the year divided by the weighted average number of outstanding 
shares.

Diluted net earnings per share (EPS-D)
Diluted net earnings per share is calculated as net result for the year divided by the weighted average number of outstanding 
shares adjusted for the dilutive effect of warrants.

Note 13: Investments in subsidiary

Parent Company

TSEK

1 January - 
31 December 2018

(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 2017

(6 months)
Cost as of beginning of period 682,699 632,699
Additions 100,000 50,000
Cost as of end of period 782,699 682,699

Impairment loss as of beginning of period 0 0
Impairment for the period -100,000 0
Impairment loss as of end of period -100,000 0
Carrying amount as of end of period 682,699 682,699
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Accounting Policy
Investment in subsidiaries consist of the investment in Nuevolution A/S and are measured at cost reduced by impairment write-
down.

MANAGEMENT’S JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
Valuation of investment in subsidiary
At the end of each reporting period Management considers whether the share in the subsidiary should be tested for impairment 
in accordance with IAS 36. If so, the assets recoverable amount is calculated. Write-downs are made when the carrying amounts 
exceeds the recoverable amount of the asset.

The company’s assessment is based on external and internal sources of information, such as the current share price, the analysts’ 
target price and qualitative assessment of the company’s most important development programs including follow-up of previous 
years impairment tests.

All sources of information all conclude a value higher than the carrying amount. Therefore, management assesses that there is no 
need for an impairment test.      

During 2018 the parent company Nuevolution AB have made a SEK 100 million capital contribution to the fully owned subsidiary 
Nuevolution A/S. All research and development activities are performed in the subsidiary and funded by the parent company. As 
all research and development programs are in early stages and not eligible for capitalization, funding in 2018 is done as a direct 
contribution and expensed in the parent company.
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Note 14: Property, plant and equipment

Group

TSEK

Other fixtures, 
tools and

equipment
Leasehold 

improvement

Total property, 
plant and

equipment
Cost at 1 January 2018 36,275 13,416 49,691
Exchange rate adjustment 1,495 550 2,045
Additions 413 27 440
Disposals -3,514 0 -3,514
Cost at 31 December 2018 34,669 13,993 48,662

Depreciation at 1 January 2018 31,124 12,227 43,351
Exchange rate adjustment 1,286 501 1,787
Depreciation for the period 1,680 180 1,860
Disposals -3,514 0 -3,514
Depreciation at 31 December 2018 30,576 12,908 43,484

Carrying amount at 31 December 2018 4,093 1,085 5,178
Carrying amount of leased tools and equipment 3,034 0 3,034

Depreciation expenses are recognized as follows:
Research and development expenses 1,670 157 1,827
Sales, general and administration expenses 10 23 33
Total depreciation expenses 1,680 180 1,860

Cost at 1 July 2017 34,713 12,453 47,166
Exchange rate adjustment 679 259 938
Additions 883 704 1,587
Disposals 0 0 0
Cost at 31 December 2017 36,275 13,416 49,691

Depreciation at 1 July 2017 29,700 11,928 41,628
Exchange rate adjustment 579 238 817
Depreciation for the year 845 61 906
Disposals 0 0 0
Depreciation at 31 December 2017 31,124 12,227 43,351

Carrying amount at 31 December 2017 5,151 1,189 6,340
Carrying amount of leased tools and equipment 4,038 0 4,038

Depreciation expenses are recognized as follows:
Research and development expenses 845 35 880
Sales, general and administration expenses 0 26 26
Total depreciation expenses 845 61 906

All assets are located in Denmark
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Accounting Policy
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.   
Leased tangible fixed assets qualifying for assets held under finance lease contracts are measured as acquired fixed assets. Man-
agement has assessed that the purchase option will be utilized.   

Cost comprises the purchase price, costs directly allocated to the acquisition, and costs for preparation until the date when the 
asset is available for use.   

Cost of assets held under finance lease contracts are measured as the lower of fair value and the present value of future lease 
payments, calculated on the internal discount rate.   

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis based on the following expected useful life:

Year
Leasehold improvements 5-10
Other fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment 3-5

The residual value is determined at the time of acquisition and are reassessed every year. Where the residual value exceeds the 
carrying amount of the asset, no further depreciation charges are recognised. In case of changes in the residual value, the effect 
on the depreciation charges is recognised prospectively as a change in accounting estimates.

Impairment of fixed assets
If circumstances or changes in Nuevolutions operation indicate that the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment in a 
cash-generating unit may not be recoverable, management reviews the property, plant and equipment for impairment. The basis 
for the review is the recoverable amount of the assets, determined as the greater of the fair value less cost to sell or its value in 
use. Value in use is calculated as the net present value of future cash inflow generated from the asset. If the carrying amount of 
an asset is greater than the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized in the income statement when the impairment 
is identified.

Note 15: Leasehold deposits

Group
TSEK 31 December 

2018
31 December 

2017
Deposit, rental 1,796 1,698
Total 1,796 1,698

Accounting Policy
Other non-current financial receivables are initially measured at fair value, and subsequently at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method less impairment.
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Note 16: Trade receivables

Group Parent Company

TSEK
31 December

2018
31 December

2017
31 December

2018
31 December

2017
Trade receivables, gross value 1,811 575 0 0
Trade receivables, Group Companies 0 0 542 629
Trade receivables, impaired 0 0 0 0
Total 1,811 575 542 629

Age analysis of trade receivables:
- Not yet due 1,811 575 542 629
- Overdue by between 1 and 179 days 484 0 0 0
- Overdue by between 180 and 360 days 0 0 0 0
Total receivables with credit risk exposure 484 0 0 0

No loss on receivables has been recognized during the reporting periods.

Accounting Policy
Classification and measurement    
Under IFRS 9, the Company initially measures a financial asset at its fair value. Subsequently, the Company measures its financial 
assets held based on the following measurement categories; Those to be measured at fair value (either through other comprehen-
sive income or through profit or loss) and those to be measured at amortised cost. The classification is based on Nuevolution’s 
business model for managing the assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.
   
The new classification and measurement of Nuevolution’s financial assets are as follows:    

Receivables     
Receivables from collaboration partners and other receivables are designated as receivables and are initially measured at fair value 
or transaction price and subsequently measured in the balance sheet at amortized cost, which generally corresponds to nominal 
value less expected provision for credit loss. This is consistent with prior periods classification. 
   
Impairment    
The adoption of IFRS 9 has changed the Company’s accounting for impairment losses for financial assets by replacing IAS 39’s 
incurred loss approach with a forward-looking expected credit loss approach.  Under IFRS 9, the Company is required to record 
an allowance for expected credit losses for all loans and other debt financial assets not held at fair value through profit and loss. 
Expected credit losses are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and 
all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive.
   
For receivables with collaboration partners and other receivables, the Company has applied the standard’s simplified approach 
and has calculated expected credit losses based on lifetime expected credit losses. No provision for expected credit losses have 
been recognized given that the Company has not recognized any of credit losses over the past financial years and do not expect to 
incurre such.  As the contract assets relate to the partnerships, the credit risk is based on an individual assessment.   
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Note 17: Other current receivables and prepayments

Group Parent Company

TSEK
31 December

2018
31 December

2017
31 December

2018
31 December

2017
VAT 1,128 2,758 205 957
Prepayments 1,629 1,617 298 229
Other financial assets 288 550 0 11
Total 3,045 4,925 503 1,197

Accounting Policy
Other current receivables and prepayments are initially measured at fair value, and subsequently at amortized cost using the effec-
tive interest method less impairment according to our expected loss model. Please refer to note 16 for a description of the model.
   
Prepayments recognized under assets comprise expenses incurred relating to subsequent financial periods. Prepayments are meas-
ured at cost.

Note 18: Share capital

Group and Parent Company

No. of shares
Share Capital 

      TSEK
Balance at 1 January 2018  42,858,236  42,858 
New share issue  6,666,667  6,667 
Balance at 31 December 2018  49,524,903  49,525 

Balance at 1 July 2017  42,858,236  42,858 
Balance at 31 December 2017  42,858,236  42,858 

The share capital consists of 49,524,903 shares of SEK 1 nominal value each. No shares carry any special rights. The share capital 
is fully paid up.
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Note 19: Allocation of the result

Parent Company
Unrestricted shareholder’s equity in the parent company

TSEK
31 December 

2018
31 December 

2017
Share premium reserve 796,737 699,203
Loss brought forward -26,118 -18,795
Loss for the period -110,975 -7,205
Total 659,644 673,203

The Board of Directors proposes that the profits available for distribution and unrestricted reserves be allocated as follows:
 
TSEK
Share premium reserve  796,737  699,203 
Carried forward  -137,093  -26,000 
Total  659,644  673,203 

Note 20: Trade payables and other current liabilities

Group Parent Company

TSEK
31 December

2018
31 December

2017
31 December

2018
31 December

2017
Trade payables 4,552 9,979 1,333 3,895
Prepayment of grants 1,902 1,956 0 0
Other current liabilities 8,999 6,515 77 20
Total 15,453 18,450 1,410 3,915

Accounting Policy
Trade creditors are initially measured at fair value, and subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Carry-
ing amount for Trade creditors are presumed to correspond to the fair value since it is by nature short-term.    

Prepaid grants are recognized in the balance sheet as prepayments at par value on receipt and is transferred to the income state-
ment concurrently when the related expenses occur. 
   
Other liabilities are measured at amortized cost, which usually corresponds to the nominal value.    

Present value adjustment is not performed since the duration is short.     
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Note 21: Lease liabilities

The group has financial leases for various items of tangible assets. Futures minimum lease payments under leases together with the 
present value of the net minimum lease payments are as follows:

Group

TSEK
31 December 

2018
31 December 

2018
Non-current lease liabilities 1,813 2,810
Current portion of long-term lease liabilities 1,243 1,375
Total 3,056 4,185

Finance lease obligations

TSEK
31 December

2018
31 December

2017
Minimum 
payments

Present value of 
payments

Minimum 
payments

Present value of 
payments

0-1 year 1,318 1,243 1,482 1,375
1-2 years 1,296 1,259 1,206 1,137
2-5 years 566 554 1,717 1,673
> 5 years 0 0 0 0
Total minimum lease payments 3,180 3,056 4,405 4,185

Less amounts representing finance charges 124 0 220 0
Total 3,056 3,056 4,185 4,185

The group has entered into rent contracts, which all can be terminated at maximum of 6 months notice. Annual rent payment in 
2018  of TSEK 3,944 (3,732), where TSEK 3,341 (3,247) is included in research and development expenses and TSEK 513 (485) is 
included in sales, general and administrative expenses. The Group has an operational lease agreement of small-value assets with an 
annual payment in 2018 of TSEK 59 (73), where TSEK 51 (63) is included in research and development expenses and TSEK 9 (10) is 
included in sales, general and administrative expenses.

Parent Company
The parent company has not entered into finance leases and/or hire purchase contracts.

Accounting Policy
Financial lease liabilities regarding assets held under financial leases are recognized in the statement of financial position as liabil-
ities and measured, at the inception of the lease, at the lower of fair value and present value of future lease payments, calculated 
by reference to the interest rate implicit in each lease.
  
On subsequent recognition, lease liabilities are measures at amortized cost. The difference between present value and nominal 
value of lease payments is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income over the term of the lease as a financial expense.
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Note 22: Financial risk management and financial instruments

Group and Parent Company
The objective of Nuevolution AB (publ)’s financial management policy is to reduce the group’s risk to fluctuations in currency 
exchange rates, interest rate risk and credit risk. The Board of Directors has adopted a policy for managing financial risks within 
the group. The Board of Directors is responsible for the group’s long-term financing strategy as well as any acquisition of capital. 
The management of financial risks in the day-to-day operations is handled by the CFO together with the CEO.

Capital management
The Board of Directors of Nuevolution AB monitors the Group’s capital structure and financial management, decides on matters 
relating to acquisitions, investments and financing and continuously monitors the Group’s exposure to financial risks.   
   
Nuevolution AB defines the capital as equity reported in the balance sheet, the capital in 2018 amounting to TSEK 115,777 
(111,091).      

The Group monitors capital utilization using various key ratios, such as net debt, return on capital employed and equity / assets 
ratio.      

Neither the parent company nor the subsidiary are subject to external capital requirements.

Liquidity and financing risk
It is Nuevolution’s aim to have adequate capital in relation to the underlying operation and research and development projects, so 
that it is always possible to provide sufficient capital to support operations and the groups long-term objectives.   
   
The current cash position may not fully sustain operations for an additional 12 months, as per the date of this report, without 
reducing the current and planned level of operations. Nuevolution is engaged in partnering discussions which include up-front 
payments, and may be eligible to milestone payments under current collaboration agreements. As an alternative to these discus-
sions, the Board of Directors and Management may also consider reducing the planned level of operations and thereby reduce 
cost and the Board of Directors and Management may furthermore consider evaluating the need for alternative funding beyond 
partner income through either equity, loans or a mix hereof.

Below is a term-based analysis of the group’s financial position:

31 December 2018
TSEK

Maturities 0-1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years > 5 years Total
Carrying 
amount

Measured at amortized cost
Lease liabilities 1,318 1,296 566 0 3,180 3,056
Trade payables 4,552 0 0 0 4,552 4,552
Other current liabilities 8,999 0 0 0 8,999 8,999
Total financial liabilities 14,869 1,296 566 0 16,731 16,607

Measured at amortized cost
Cash 111,101 0 0 0 111,101 111,101
Trade receivables 1,811 0 0 0 1,811 1,811
Deposits, rental 0 0 0 1,796 1,796 1,796
Other current receivables 1,416 0 0 0 1,416 1,416
Total financial assets 114,328 0 0 1,796 116,124 116,124
Net -99,459 1,296 566 -1,796 -99,393 -99,517
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31 December 2017
TSEK

Maturities 0-1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years > 5 years Total
Carrying 
amount

Measured at amortized cost
Lease liabilities 1,482 1,206 1,717 0 4,405 4,185
Trade payables 9,979 0 0 0 9,979 9,979
Other current liabilities 6,515 0 0 0 6,515 6,515
Total financial liabilities 17,976 1,206 1,717 0 20,899 20,679

Measured at amortized cost
Cash 114,758 0 0 0 114,758 114,758
Trade receivables 575 0 0 0 575 575
Deposits, rental 0 0 0 1,698 1,698 1,698
Other current receivables 3,308 0 0 0 3,308 3,308
Total financial assets 118,641 0 0 1,698 120,339 120,339
Net -100,665 1,206 1,717 -1,698 -99,440 -99,660

Currency risk
As Nuevolution have income and expenses in different currencies, the Group is subject to currency risk. Increase or decrease in the 
exchange rate of foreign currencies can affect the Group’s result and cash position positively or negatively. Nuevolution receives 
upfront and milestone payments from its partners in USD and EUR.      

Assets and Liabilities in foreign Currency
The most significant cash flows are in DKK, EUR and USD. Overall, Nuevolution hedges its currency exposure primarily by match-
ing income and expenses in the same currency. In addition, Nuevolution is not using hedging instruments such as derivatives or 
future contracts.
    
Based on the amount of assets and liabilities denominated in DKK, EUR and USD as of December 31, 2018, a 1% change in the 
DKK to SEK exchange rate and a 10% change in both EUR to SEK exchange rate and USD to SEK exchange rate respectively will 
impact our net financial items, net result and equity by approximately:

TSEK Cash position Receivables Liabilities
Net currency 

exposure

Percentage 
change in 

exchange rate*

Impact of 
change in 

exchange rate**

31 December 2018
DKK 84,170 12,589 -14,631 82,128 1% 821 
EUR 7 0 -198 -191 10% -19 
USD 77 1,788 -176 1,689 10% 169 
31 December 2017
DKK 75,400 10,825 -10,485 75,740 1% 757 
EUR 3,886 0 -203 3,683 10% 368 
USD 8 550 -1,979 -1,421 10% -142 
*The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.
**Impact on net result and equity.

Interest Rate Risks
Nuevolution’s interest rate risks are linked to leasing contracts and bank deposits. The interest rate for both interest-bearing debt 
and bank deposits are floating. An increase of the interest rate of 1% would impact the financial result, net result and equity by an 
amount of TSEK 1,139 (2017: TSEK 1,451).
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Credit Risk
Nuevolution is exposed to credit risk and losses on trade receivables, other financial receivables and our bank deposits. The credit 
risk related to trade receivables and other financial receivables is not significant. The group do not apply hedging or use of deriv-
atives.

Trade receivables      
The group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allow-
ance for all trade receivables. Historical Nuevolution did not recognize any losses on trade receivables consequently the expected 
loss rate is fixed at zero.

Other financial receivables      
Other financial receivables primarily comprises receivable VAT and deposit for rent (non-current financial asset). It is the manage-
ments judgement that this type of financial assets has a limits credit risk.       

Bank Deposit
To reduce credit risk on our bank deposits, Nuevolution only places its cash deposits with highly rated financial institution. Nuevo-
lution is currently using financial institution with a short-term rating from S&P of at least A-1. The total value of bank deposits 
amounts to TSEK 111,101 as of 31 December 2018 compared to TSEK 114,758 as of 31 December 2017.    
  
For a more detailed description of the risks associated with the company, please see page 39.

Note 23: Adjustment to cash flow statement

Group Parent Company

TSEK

1 January - 
31 December 2018

(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 2017

(6 months)

1 January - 
31 December 2018

(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 2017

(6 months)
Change in working capital:
Trade receivables -1,236 -482 0 0
Trade receivables, Group Company - - 87 -311
Prepayments -12 201 -69 373
Other receivables 1,892 -2,224 763 -804
Trade payables -5,427 -1,007 -2,562 2,224
Prepayments from customers -54 999 0 0
Other current liabilities -548 -5,781 57 0
Total -5,385 -8,294 -1,724 1,482

Investment in plant, equipment, fit-
tings and tools:
Acquisition of plant, equipment, fit-
tings and tools etc (note 14) -440 -1,587
New financial lease agreements 174 417
Net investment in plant, equipment, 
fittings and tools -266 -1,170
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Note 24: Specification of changes in leasing liabilities

Group
31 Dec. 2017 Cash flows Non-cash changes 31 Dec. 2018

TSEK Reclassifications New leases

Foreign 
exchange 

movement
Non-current lease liabilities 2,810 0 -1,243 174 72 1,813
Current lease liabilities 1,375 -1,345 1,243 0 -30 1,243
Total liabilities from 
financing activities 4,185 -1,345 0 174 42 3,056

30 June 2017 Cash flows Non-cash changes 31 Dec. 2017

TSEK Reclassifications New leases

Foreign 
exchange 

movement
Non-current lease liabilities 2,939 0 -562 417 16 2,810
Current lease liabilities 1,482 -741 562 0 72 1,375
Total liabilities from 
financing activities 4,421 -741 0 417 88 4,185

Note 25: Share based payments

Parent Company

Warrant Program 2015/2021
The program comprises 5,039,254 warrants, hereof 2,636,930 Series 1 warrants and 2,402,324 Series 2 warrants. The program had 
terms of five years. All warrants according to this warrant program have been granted, and have vested.    
 
The exercise price for one ordinary share subscribed for by the exercise of one warrant of Series 1 is SEK 17.50 and the exercise 
price for one ordinary share subscribed for by the exercise of one warrant of Series 2 shall be SEK 11.25. Thus, if all warrants are 
fully subscribed for, the company’s share capital will increase with SEK 5,039,254. The warrants may be exercised for subscription 
of shares from 31 August 2016 up until and including 31 August 2021.

Warrant Program 2016/2021
The program comprise 493,000 warrants, hereof 480,000 Series 1 warrants and 13,000 Series 2 warrants. During 2018 no war-
rants has been granted. During the period 1 July - 31 December 2017, 70,000 warrants have been granted.    
 
The exercise price for one ordinary share subscribed for by the exercise of one warrant of Series 1 is SEK 17.50 and the exer-
cise price for one ordinary share subscribed for by the exercise of one warrant of Series 2 is SEK 11.25. Each warrant entitles to 
subscription of one ordinary share in the company. Thus, if all warrants are fully subscribed for, the company’s share capital will 
increase with SEK 493,000. The warrants granted to the participants are vesting over a period of four years, of which one quarter 
of the warrants shall be deemed vested on 31 October 2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020, respectively. Warrants of series 1 are only exer-
cisable if the trading price of the company’s share on Nasdaq First North Premier or Nasdaq Stockholm at the time of applying 
for subscription of shares corresponds to at least SEK 22.975. This condition has been reflected when determining the fair value 
of the warrants granted of series 1.
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Development in the number of outstanding warrants:

2015/21 2016/21
Serie 1 Serie 2 Serie 1 Serie 2 Total

Outstanding at 1 January 2018 2,658,579 2,403,279 70,000 0 5,131,858
Granted 0 0 0 0 0
Exercised 0 0 0 0 0
Expired 0 0 0 0 0
Cancelled -21,649 -955 0 0 -22,604
Transferred 0 0 0 0 0
Outstanding at 31 December 2018 2,636,930 2,402,324 70,000 0 5,109,254
Exercisable at 31 December 2018 2,636,930 2,402,324 35,000 0 5,074,254
Weighted average remaining contractual life 2.67

Number of warrant held by the Board 
of Directors 381,034 148,167 0 0 529,201
Number of warrant held by the  
Executive Management 0 1,911,113 0 0 1,911,113
Number of warrant held by other 
member of Group Management 536,912 236,978 0 0 773,890
Number of warrant held by employees 1,718,984 106,066 70,000 0 1,895,050
Total outstanding warrants 2,636,930 2,402,324 70,000 0 5,109,254

2015/21 2016/21

Serie 1 Serie 2 Serie 1 Serie 2 Total
Outstanding at 1 July 2017 2,667,239 2,403,279 0 0 5,070,518
Granted 0 0 70,000 0 70,000
Exercised 0 0 0 0 0
Expired 0 0 0 0 0
Cancelled -8,660 0 0 0 -8,660
Transferred 0 0 0 0 0
Outstanding at 31 December 2017 2,658,579 2,403,279 70,000 0 5,131,858
Exercisable at 31 December 2017 2,658,579 2,403,279 17,500 0 5,079,358
Weighted average remaining contractual life 3.67

Number of warrant held by the Board 
of Directors 381,034 148,167 0 0 529,201
Number of warrant held by the Execu-
tive Management 0 1,911,113 0 0 1,911,113
Number of warrant held by other 
member of Group Management 536,912 236,978 0 0 773,890
Number of warrant held by employees 1,740,633 107,021 70,000 0 1,917,654
Total outstanding warrants 2,658,579 2,403,279 70,000 0 5,131,858
    
Warrant Program 2015/2021 and 2016/2021    
The fair value at the time of grant is based on the combination of a Black-Scholes model and a Monte-Carlo simulation model. 
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The fair value is based on the following parameters:

   

Warrant Program

2016/21 2015/21

Grant date: 18 December 2017 15 December 2015
Weighted average fair value of warrants granted: 5.78 9.53

* An option life of: 3.7 years 5.72 years

* A volatility of: 46% 65%

* A dividend pay-out ratio of: 0% 0%

* A risk-free interest rate of: 0.20% 0.30%

* A weighted average share price of: 17.30 13.69

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of health care and biotech companies listed on Nasdaq First North 
Premier. The exercise of the series 1 warrants is subject to a condition that the share price excises SEK 22.975. This condition has 
been factored in when determining the fair value of the warrants granted.
    
The expected maturity is based on management estimates.     

Expected dividends per share is based on historical share dividends and management’s expectation about future dividends.  
   
The risk-free interest rate is based on five years Swedish government bonds.     

If Warrant Program 2015/2021 and Warrant Program 2016/21 are fully exercised, the dilution effect will correspond to 10.6 per-
cent and 1 percent respectively with a total dilutive effect of 11.5 percent based on the current number of outstanding shares.  
   
The company has no other outstanding incentive programs.

Effect on income statement
The fair value of warrants programs effects the income statement as follows:

Group

TSEK

1 January - 
31 December 2018

(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 2017

(6 months)
Warrant program 2015/2021 -189 -81

Warrant program 2016/2021 71 267

Total -118  186 

The fair value are recognized as follows:

Research and development expenses -147 69

Sales, general and administration expenses 29 117

Total -118  186 

The costs are set-off against equity.
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Accounting Policy     
Employees (including Board of Directors and Executive Management) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (equity-settled transactions).  
   
The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined by the fair value at the date when the grant is made using an appropriate 
valuation model. That cost is recognized in employee benefits expense as presented in either research and development expenses 
or sales, general and administrative expenses, together with a corresponding increase in equity over the period in which the ser-
vice and, where applicable, the performance conditions are fulfilled (the vesting period). The cumulative expense recognized 
for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has 
expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The expense or credit in the 
statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognized as at the beginning and end of 
that period.     

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, 
but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instru-
ments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions 
attached to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting 
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also service 
and/or performance conditions.
    
The fair value of the warrants is estimated at the grant date using a combination of a Black-Scholes model and a Monte-Carlo 
simulation model, taking into account the terms and conditions on which the warrants were granted.

MANAGEMENT’S JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
Estimating fair value for the Group’s share-based payment transactions requires determination of the most appropriate valuation 
model, which depends on the terms and conditions of the respective grant. This estimate also requires determination of the most 
appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the warrants, volatility dividend pay-out ratio and risk-
free interest rate and making assumptions about them. For the measurement of the fair value of equity-settled transactions with 
employees at the grant date, the Group uses a combination of a Black-Scholes model and a Monte-Carlo simulation model for the 
warrant program 2015/21 and the warrant program 2016/21.     

The assumptions and models used for estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions are discussed further above in 
the note 25.     

Note 26: Pledges and guarantees

Group and Parent Company
A deposit of TSEK 50 was pledged with SEB as a guarantee to Euroclear Sweden AB in connection with the listing of Nuevolution 
AB (publ), in accordance with the rules of Euroclear. The parent company has issued a letter of support of SEK 20 million to secure 
the operation of its subsidiary Nuevolution A/S.
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Note 27: Contingent assets and liabilities

Group and Parent Company

License and Collaboration Agreements     
Nuevolution is entitled to potential milestone payments and royalties on successful commercialization of products developed 
under license and collaboration agreements with our partners. Since the size and timing of such payments are uncertain until the 
milestones are reached, the agreements may qualify as contingent assets. However, it is impossible to measure the value of such 
contingent assets, and, accordingly, no such assets have been recognized.
     
Disputes     
The Company may, from time to time and within the framework of its operations, become involved in disputes and other legal 
proceedings. 

Chemgene Holding ApS and Henrik Pedersen
In 2012, Nuevolution filed a law suit against Henrik Pedersen, a former employee of Nuevolution, as it believes to be the rightful 
owner of a patent family that was filed with his involvement and at a time when he was the CSO at Nuevolution. Furthermore, 
Nuevolution remains interested in continuing the prosecution of a continuation application under the patent family in accord-
ance with an agreement that was made between the parties in 2007. The outcome of the proceedings is not expected to adversely 
impact Nuevolution’s use of the Chemetics® platform as used in practice today.

In February 2016, Nuevolution announced that the Danish Maritime and Commercial High Court (Sø- og Handelsretten) had 
given a decision for one aspect of the company’s suit filed against Henrik Pedersen, according to which Nuevolution cannot, dur-
ing pending litigation against Henrik Pedersen and Chemgene Holding ApS, seek correction of inventorship and assignment of 
ownership of the patent family presently owned by Chemgene Holding ApS. Nuevolution decided to seek an appeal of the Mari-
time and Commercial High Court’s decision to the Eastern High Court (Østre Landsret) regarding the company’s right to raise the 
specific question about inventorship and ownership.

On 8 December 2017, The Eastern High Court decided to revoke the Maritime and Commercial High Court’s (Sø- og Handelsret-
ten’s) original decision from 22 February 2016, in favor of Nuevolution’s request, and to send the case back to the Maritime and 
Commercial High Court for renewed review thereby allowing Nuevolution to seek correction of inventorship and assignment of 
ownership of the patent family presently controlled by Chemgene Holding ApS. 

The case is now prosecuted at the Maritime and Commercial High Court (Sø- og Handelsretten) again, and the case is expected 
to continue for a longer period of time.

The main financial risk is presently considered to be that Nuevolution would be ordered to pay legal costs to Henrik Pedersen 
and Chemgene Holding ApS. In Denmark, the possibilities to be awarded such legal costs are normally limited to 5 percent of the 
case value. When the dispute was initiated, the case value was limited to DKK 900,000 and applying the standard guidelines used 
by Danish courts, the costs that the losing party would have to reimburse the winning party for thus amount to approximately 
DKK 50,000.

During the year, Henrik Pedersen’s US patent rights were significantly reduced in scope following a successful interpartes review 
process that was filed by Nuevolution against Henrik Pedersen’s US patents at the US patent office. The patent office found that 
the originally issued US patents were overly broad and invalidated one issued patent and reduced the scope of a second issued 
patent significantly. This outcome may be the reason for Henrik Pedersen recent election to discontinue payment of the annual 
fees for upholding his European patent rights, which may therefore lapse during 2019. 

Based on the evidence as currently known to Nuevolution, the company expects to be successful in the Danish dispute.
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Accounting Policy     
Contingent assets and liabilities are assets and liabilities that arose from past events but whose existence will only be confirmed 
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of future events that are beyond Nuevolutions control.     
   
Contingent assets and liabilities are not to be recognized in the financial statements, but are disclosed in the notes.   
  

Note 28: Related parties

Group and Parent Company
Four major shareholders, SEB Venture Capital, Sunstone Capital, Industrifonden and SEB Utvecklingsstiftelse have significant 
influence over Nuevolution AB (publ). There are no related parties with controlling influence over the Company.   
     
Nuevolution AB’s related parties comprise the Company’s board of Directors and Management as well as relatives to theses per-
sons. Related parties also comprise companies in which the individuals mentioned above have material interests.   
     
Related parties furthermore comprise subsidiaries in which Nuevolution AB has controlling influence, see note 32.   
     
Apart from salaries and warrants (see note 7 and 25) , there were no significant transactions with Management or Board of Direc-
tors. In addition to board fees, board members Jutta Heim and Jeanette Wood received fees for consultancy services to the exec-
utive management during the first half of 2018. In connection with the Company’s up-listing to the Nasdaq main market in June 
2018, the Board decided to form a Scientific Committee to replace the duties previously done on a consultancy basis by  Jeanette 
Wood and Jutta Heim.
  
Related party transactions     
Information on transaction with related parties is stated below:     

Group Parent Company

TSEK

1 January - 
31 December 2018

(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 2017

(6 months)

1 January - 
31 December 2018

(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 2017

(6 months)

Group Companies:

Sales of services  -    -   1,898 1,088 

Granted warrants  -    -   -118 186 

Interest income  -    -   0 0 

Interest expenses  -    -   0 0 

Consultancy fee etc. to member of 
Board of Directors:

Jeanette Wood 37 42 37 42 

Jutta Heim 37 42 37 42 

Related parties with significant 
influence: 

SEB (paid interest and fees) 532 208 216 116 

SEB (deposit) 35,482 108,172 26,835 35,451 

During the period 1 January - 31 December 2018 there has been a capital increase in the subsidiary of TSEK 100,000 (50,000). 
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In addition to the above, there were no transactions with other related parties and shareholders during the period 1 January - 31 
December 2018 and 1 July - 31 December 2017. All intra-group transactions etc. have been eliminated in accordance with the 
accounting policies. Please also refer to note 4, 7, 9 and 10. 

Note 29: Fees to auditors appointed at the General Meeting
Group Parent Company

TSEK

1 January - 
31 December 2018

(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 2017

(6 months)

1 January - 
31 December 2018

(12 months)

1 July - 
31 December 2017

(6 months)
Audit services 900 492 398 341
Other assurance engage-
ments 74 0 0 0
Tax and VAT services 212 57 78 25
Other non-audit services 842 621 842 524
Total 2,028 1,170 1,318 890

  

Note 30: Significant events between 31 December 2018 and 4 April 2019

Group and Parent Company
22 February 2019: A Nuevolution BET-BD1 selective inhibitor shows potential synergistic effect with immunotherapy in a mouse 
pre-clinical model of colorectal cancer. 
       
28 February 2019: Almirall-Nuevolution collaboration achieves key pre-clinical milestone in partnership for Dermatology 
diseases.        
    
Accounting Policy     
If Nuevolution obtains information after the balance sheet date, but prior to the date of the Board of Director’s approval of the 
financial statements, about conditions that existed at the balance sheet date, Nuevolution assesses if the information affects the 
amounts that it recognizes in the financial statements.
       
Nuevolution will adjust the amounts recognized in its financial statements to reflect any adjusting events after the balance sheet 
date and update the disclosures that relate to those conditions in the light of the new information.    
    
For non-adjusting events after the balance sheet date, Nuevolution will not change the amounts recognized in its financial state-
ments but will disclose the nature of the non-adjusting event and an estimate of its financial effect, or a statement that such an 
estimate cannot be made, if applicable. 
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Note 31: Exchange rates

Group and Parent Company
Average Exchange Rates Year-end Exchange Rates

1 January - 
31 December 2018

1 July - 
31 December 2017 31 December 2018 31 December  2017

SEK/DKK 135.05 130.53 137.63 132.22

Note 32: Companies in the Nuevolution Group

1 January - 31 December 2018 1 July - 31 December 2017
Name Org. Nr. Place Ownership Equity Net result Ownership Equity Net result

Nuevolution A/S 26029708
Copenhagen, 

Denmark 100% 89,307 -86,852 100% 77,729 -54,239

Note 33: Financial definitions

The key figures and financial ratios have been stated in accordance with the online version of ”Recommendations and Ratios” 
issued by the CFA Sweden and Earnings per share (EPS) and diluted earnings per share (EPS-D) are stated in accordance with IFRS. 

Definition of key performance indicators that are not defined by IFRS

Non-IFRS measures Description Reason for use of the measure

Shareholders’ equity per share Equity / Number of shares, end of reporting 
period

This measure shows the book value of each 
share in the company after all net debt is 
paid.

Net cash Cash and cash equivalents – Non-current 
leasing liabilities – Current portion of long-
term lease liabilities

This measure shows the company’s cash 
position after debt has been repaid.

Net working capital (NWC) Trade Receivables + Other current recei-
vables and prepayments – Trade payable 
– Prepayments from customer – Contract 
liabilities – Other Current Liabilities

This measure shows how much net wor-
king capital is locked up in the operations 
and that can be related to sales to under-
stand how effectively restricted net wor-
king capital is used in the operations.

Equity ratio Equity (end of reporting period) / Total 
assets

This measure shows which proportion of 
the balance sheet total that is financed by 
equity and is used by management to moni-
tor the Company’s long-term financial 
strength and ability to withstand losses.
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Note 34: Reconciliation tables

The following section presents the reconciliation of Net working capital, Net cash, Equity ratio, Shareholders’ equity per share 
and Operation result. For a description of the calculation of non-IFRS measures and the reason for use, see below as well as the 
section ”- Definition of key performance indicators that are not defined by IFRS”.

Shareholders’ equity per share

TSEK 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Equity 115,777 111,091
Number of shares, end of reporting period 49,525 42,858
Shareholders’ equity per share 2.34 2.59

Net cash

TSEK 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Cash and cash equivalents 111,101 114,758
Non-current lease liabilities -1,813 -2,810
Current portion of long-term lease liabilities -1,243 -1,375
Net cash 108,045 110,573

Net working capital

TSEK 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Trade receivables 1,811 575
Other current receivables 3,045 4,925

Trade payables -4,552 -9,979
Prepayments from collaboration partners -1,902 -1,956
Contract liabilities 0 -3,032
Other current liabilities -8,999 -6,515
Net working capital -10,597 -15,982

Equity ratio

TSEK 31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Equity end of reporting period 115,777 111,091
Total assets 134,286 136,758
Equity ratio (%) 86 81
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Statement of assurance

The Board of Directors and the Executive Management declare that the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with IFRS, as issued by the IASB and adopted by the EU, and give a fair view of the Group’s financial position, results 
of operations and cash flow. The financial statements of the Parent Company have been prepared in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles in Sweden and give a fair view of the Parent Company’s financial position, results of operations 
and cash flow.  
  
The Board of Directors’ Report for the Nuevolution Group and the Parent Company provides a fair view of the development of 
the Group’s and the Parent Company’s operations, financial position, results of operations and cash flow and describes material 
risks and uncertainties facing the Parent Company and the companies included in the Group.

Stockholm, 4 April 2019

Alex Haahr Gouliaev
CEO

Stig Løkke Pedersen Lars Henriksson Søren Lemonius
Chairman of the Board

Jutta Heim Jeanette Wood

Our audit report was submitted 4 April 2019 

Ernst & Young AB

Beata Lihammar
Authorized Public Accountant
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Auditors' Report
To the general meeting of the shareholders of Nuevolution AB (publ), corporate identity number 559026-4304

Report on the annual accounts and consolidated accounts

Opinions
We have audited the annual accounts and consolidated accounts of Nuevolution AB (publ) for the financial year 2018-01-01 
– 2018-12-31. The annual accounts and consolidated accounts of the company are included on pages 34-86 in this document.

In our opinion, the annual accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the parent company as of 31 December 2018 and its financial performance and cash 
flow for the year then ended in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act. The consolidated accounts have been prepared in 
accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the group as of 31 
December 2018 and their financial performance and cash flow for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the EU, and the Annual Accounts Act. The statutory administration report is consis-
tent with the other parts of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts.

We therefore recommend that the general meeting of shareholders adopts the income statement and balance sheet for the 
parent company and statement of comprehensive income and balance sheet for the group.

Our opinions in this report on the annual accounts and consolidated accounts are consistent with the content of the additional 
report that has been submitted to the parent company’s audit committee in accordance with the Audit Regulation (537/2014) 
Article 11.

Basis for Opinions
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA) and generally accepted auditing standards 
in Sweden. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities section. We are 
independent of the parent company and the group in accordance with professional ethics for accountants in Sweden and have 
otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. This includes that, based on the best of our 
knowledge and belief, no prohibited services referred to in the Audit Regulation (537/2014) Article 5.1 have been provided to the 
audited company or, where applicable, its parent company or its controlled companies within the EU.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters of the audit are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of 
the annual accounts and consolidated accounts of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of, and in forming our opinion thereon, the annual accounts and consolidated accounts as a whole, but we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in 
that context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section 
of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to 
respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, 
including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying 
financial statement.

Valuation of investment in subsidiary

Description
As of December 31, 2018, the parent company’s carrying amount of the shares in the subsidiary is SEK 683m. At the end of each 
reporting period the management needs to consider whether the shares in the subsidiary should be tested for impairment. If so, 
the asset’s recoverable amount is calculated. Write-downs are made when the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount 
of the asset. The company’s assessment is based on external and internal sources of information, such as the current share price, 
the analysts’ target price and qualitative assessment of the company’s most important development projects and follow-up of 
previous year’s impairment tests. An indication of impairment is based, among other things, on the company’s estimates and 
assessments and that is why we believe that investment in subsidiary is a key audit matter.
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For further information, reference is made to the Parent Company’s accounting principles in Note 2 on page 51, Note 3 on im-
portant estimates and assessments on page 54 and Note 13 on Investment in subsidiary on page 66 in the annual report. 

How our audit addressed this key audit matter
In our audit, we have evaluated and tested the company’s assessment of whether there is an indication of impairment, by identi-
fying and reviewing the essential assumptions in the assessment such as the company’s current stock market value, the analysts’ 
target price and the management’s evaluation of main development projects.

With the support of our valuation specialists, we have evaluated if the company’s valuation/assessment methodology is rea-
sonable and evaluated the assumptions made. Furthermore, we have examined whether the valuation model has been applied 
consistently. We have also examined the information provided in the annual report.

Other Information than the annual accounts and consolidated accounts
This document also contains other information than the annual accounts and consolidated accounts and is found on pages 1-33. 
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for this other information. 

Our opinion on the annual accounts and consolidated accounts does not cover this other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion regarding this other information.

In connection with our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, our responsibility is to read the information 
identified above and consider whether the information is materially inconsistent with the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts. In this procedure we also take into account our knowledge otherwise obtained in the audit and assess whether the 
information otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we, based on the work performed concerning this information, conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the preparation of the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts and that they give a fair presentation in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and, concerning the consolidated 
accounts, in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU. The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are also responsible 
for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of annual accounts and consolidated accounts 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible 
for the assessment of the company’s and the group’s ability to continue as a going concern. They disclose, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting. The going concern basis of accounting is however not 
applied if the Board of Directors and the Managing Director intends to liquidate the company, to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee shall, without prejudice to the Board of Director’s responsibilities and tasks in general, among other things 
oversee the company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual accounts and consolidated accounts as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs and 
generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual accounts and consolidated accounts.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism through-
out the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
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or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of the company’s internal control relevant to our audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s 
internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related dis-
closures made by the Board of Directors and the Managing Director. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ and the Managing Director’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in preparing the annual accounts and consolidated accounts. We also draw a conclusion, based on the audit evi-
dence obtained, as to whether any material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the company’s and the group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion about the annual accounts and consolidated accounts. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause a company and a group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, including the 
disclosures, and whether the annual accounts and consolidated accounts represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated accounts. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our opinions. 

We must inform the Board of Directors of, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit. We must also inform 
of significant audit findings during our audit, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identified.

We must also provide the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regard-
ing independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, including the most important assessed risks for material misstatement, 
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in the auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
disclosure about the matter. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions
In addition to our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, we have also audited the administration of the Board 
of Directors and the Managing Director of Nuevolution AB (publ) for the financial year 2018-01-01 – 2018-12-31 and the pro-
posed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss.

We recommend to the general meeting of shareholders that the profit be appropriated (loss be dealt with) in accordance with 
the proposal in the statutory administration report and that the members of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director 
be discharged from liability for the financial year.

Basis for Opinions
We conducted the audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities section. We are independent of the parent company and the 
group in accordance with professional ethics for accountants in Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director
The Board of Directors is responsible for the proposal for appropriations of the company’s profit or loss. At the proposal of a 
dividend, this includes an assessment of whether the dividend is justifiable considering the requirements which the company’s 
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and the group’s type of operations, size and risks place on the size of the parent company’s and the group’s equity, consolidation 
requirements, liquidity and position in general.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the company’s organization and the administration of the company’s affairs. This 
includes among other things continuous assessment of the company’s and the group’s financial situation and ensuring that the 
company’s organization is designed so that the accounting, management of assets and the company’s financial affairs otherwise 
are controlled in a reassuring manner. The Managing Director shall manage the ongoing administration according to the Board 
of Directors’ guidelines and instructions and among other matters take measures that are necessary to fulfill the company’s ac-
counting in accordance with law and handle the management of assets in a reassuring manner.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our objective concerning the audit of the administration, and thereby our opinion about discharge from liability, is to obtain 
audit evidence to assess with a reasonable degree of assurance whether any member of the Board of Directors or the Managing 
Director in any material respect:

• has undertaken any action or been guilty of any omission which can give rise to liability to the company, or

• in any other way has acted in contravention of the Companies Act, the Annual Accounts Act or the Articles of Association.

Our objective concerning the audit of the proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss, and thereby our opinion 
about this, is to assess with reasonable degree of assurance whether the proposal is in accordance with the Companies Act.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always detect actions or omissions that can give rise to liability to the company, or 
that the proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss are not in accordance with the Companies Act.

As part of an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. The examination of the administration and the proposed appropriations 
of the company’s profit or loss is based primarily on the audit of the accounts. Additional audit procedures performed are based 
on our professional judgement with starting point in risk and materiality. This means that we focus the examination on such 
actions, areas and relationships that are material for the operations and where deviations and violations would have particular 
importance for the company’s situation. We examine and test decisions undertaken, support for decisions, actions taken and 
other circumstances that are relevant to our opinion concerning discharge from liability. As a basis for our opinion on the Board 
of Directors’ proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss we examined whether the proposal is in accordance with 
the Companies Act.

Ernst & Young AB, Box 7850, 103 99 Stockholm, was appointed auditor of Nuevolution AB (publ) by the general meeting of the 
shareholders on the 28 May 2018 and has been the company’s auditor since the 23 October 2015.

Stockholm, 4 April 2019 
Ernst & Young AB

Beata Lihammar
Authorized Public Accountant 
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GENERAL
The Board of Directors of Nuevolution AB (publ), company 
reg. no. 559026-4304 (the “company”) hereby submits the 
2018 corporate governance report in accordance with the re-
quirements of the Swedish Annual Accounts Act (1995:1554) 
(Sw. årsredovisningslagen) and the Swedish Code of Corpo-
rate Governance (the “Code”). The company’s shares were 
admitted for trading on Nasdaq Stockholm in June 2018. The 
company’s shares were previously, since December 2015, list-
ed on Nasdaq First North. The company’s corporate gover-
nance is mainly regulated by the provisions of the company’s 
articles of association, the Swedish Companies Act (2005:551) 
(Sw. aktiebolagslagen) and other Swedish legislation, the Nas-
daq Stockholm Rulebook for issuers and the Code. 

The corporate governance report has been reviewed by the 
company’s auditors in accordance with the Swedish Annual 
Accounts Act. It does not constitute a part of the formal an-
nual report documents. 

DEVIATION FROM THE CODE
The Company has during 2018 deviated from Code rule 9.7, 
which requires a vesting period of no less than three years 
for share-price related incentive programs with the 2016/21 
warrant program. This warrant program was adopted before 
the company applied the Code and was considered to be the 
best incentive program at the time of approval by the Board 
of Directors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AT NUEVOLUTION
The governance and control of Nuevolution is divided among 
shareholders attending the annual shareholders’ meeting, the 
Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer. An over-
view of the organization, governance and control is provided 
below.

SHAREHOLDERS
Shareholder’s voting rights
Nuevolution AB (publ)’s shares carry equal voting rights and 
there is no limit to the number of votes our shareholders 
may use at a general meeting. The share capital at 31 Decem-
ber 2018 was SEK 49.525 million (42.858), divided between 
42,524,903 shares. The Company’s market capitalization, 
based on the closing price at 31 December 2018, was approx-
imately SEK 842 million (711).

Number of shareholders
Nuevolution AB (publ) had 3,219 (3,389) shareholders as per 
31 December 2018. The larger shareholders, which control 
more than 10% of the share capital and votes, are comprised 
of Sunstone Capital with 20.7% of the share capital and votes, 
SEB Venture Capital with 20.4% of the share capital and votes 
and Industrifonden with 18.2% of the share capital and votes.

General meeting of shareholders
According to the Swedish Companies Act the shareholders’ 
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1 Nuevolution AB (publ) and Nuevolution A/S

meeting is the Company’s ultimate decision-making body. 
At the shareholders’ meeting, the shareholders exercise their 
voting rights in key issues, such as the adoption of income 
statements and balance sheets, appropriation of the Compa-
ny’s results, discharge from liability of members of the board 
of directors and the CEO, election of members of the board 
of directors and auditors and remuneration to the board of 
directors and the auditors.

The annual shareholders’ meeting (AGM) must be held within 
six months from the end of the financial year in Stockholm. 
In addition to the annual shareholders’ meeting, extraordinary 
shareholders’ meetings (EGM) may be convened. According 
to the articles of association, shareholders’ meetings are con-
vened by publication of the convening notice in the Swedish 
National Gazette (Sw. Post- och Inrikes Tidningar) and on the 
Company’s website. At the time of the notice convening the 
meeting, information regarding the notice shall be published 
in Svenska Dagbladet.

Shareholders who wish to participate in a shareholders’ meet-
ing must be included in the shareholders’ register maintained 
by Euroclear Sweden on the day falling five workdays prior to 
the meeting and notify the Company of their participation no 
later than on the date stipulated in the notice convening the 
meeting. Shareholders may attend the shareholders’ meetings 
in person or by proxy and may be accompanied by a maximum 
of two assistants. Typically, it is possible for a shareholder 
to register for the shareholders’ meeting in several different 
ways as indicated in the notice of the meeting. A shareholder 
may vote for all Company shares owned or represented by the 
shareholder. Shareholders who are represented by proxy must 
issue a dated power of attorney for said proxy. 

Shareholders who wish to have a matter brought before the 
shareholders’ meeting must submit a written request to the 
board of directors. Such request must normally be received 
by the board of directors no later than six weeks prior to the 
shareholders’ meeting

Annual general meeting 2018
An AGM was held on 28 May 2018 in Stockholm. A total of 19 
shareholders or their proxies were present, representing 76.5 
percent of the number of shares and votes. The minutes from 
the AGM can be found on Nuevolution’s website at www.
nuevolution.com. The resolutions that were passed were as 
follows:

Dain Hård Nevonen from Vinge law firm was elected as Chair-
man of the general meeting. The AGM resolved to adopt the 
income statement and balance sheet for Nuevolution AB 
(publ) and the Group1 for the financial year 1 July-31 Decem-
ber 2017. Furthermore, it was resolved that the Company’s 
results shall be carried forward and thus that no dividend shall 
be distributed. The AGM also resolved to discharge the Board 
members and the managing director from liability.
The annual general meeting resolved that the number of 
board members, as appointed by the annual general meeting, 

should be five with no deputies. Stig Løkke Pedersen, Søren 
Lemonius, Lars Henriksson, Jutta Heim and Jeanette Wood 
were re-elected as members of the board. Stig Løkke Pedersen 
was re-elected as chairman of the board.

The annual general meeting resolved that the remuneration 
to the board of directors shall be paid in a total amount of 
SEK 1,320,000, to be allocated as follows. The chairman shall 
receive SEK 400,000, and other members, who are not em-
ployed by the company, shall receive SEK 200,000 each. The 
remuneration for work in the committees of the board of di-
rectors shall be distributed with SEK 50,000 to the chairman 
of the audit committee and SEK 25,000 to the other member, 
SEK 30,000 to the chairman of the remuneration committee 
and SEK 15,000 to the other member. Remuneration to the 
auditors shall be paid in accordance with approved invoices 
within the auditors’ quotation.

The annual general meeting resolved to approve the proposed 
principles for appointment of the nomination committee un-
til the general meeting resolves otherwise.

The annual general meeting resolved, in accordance with the 
board’s proposal, to authorize the board of directors, for the 
period up to the next annual general meeting, to adopt deci-
sions, whether on one or several occasions and whether with 
or without pre-emption rights for the shareholders, to issue 
new shares and warrants and/or convertibles with a right to 
subscribe/convert to shares. Issuance of shares, warrants and/
or convertibles may be possible to an amount, after any sub-
scription/conversion, not exceeding 20 per cent of the total 
number of outstanding shares in the company before utiliza-
tion of the authorization. Issues may be made with or without 
provisions concerning non-cash consideration, set-off or oth-
er provisions. The purpose of the authorization is to provide 
the board with flexibility in its work to secure that the com-
pany, in a suitable way, can be provided with capital for the 
financing of the business, to enable a broadening of the own-
ership of the company, increase the liquidity in, and trading 
volume of, the share and to be used in strategic partnerships.

Annual general meeting 2019
The AGM 2019 is to take place on 22 May 2019 at Advokatfir-
man Vinge’s offices, Stureplan 8, Stockholm. Notice to attend 
the AGM will be published on Nuevolution’s website www.
nuevolution.com.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Companies applying the Code shall have a nomination com-
mittee. According to the Code, the shareholders’ meeting 
shall appoint the members of the nomination committee or 
resolve on procedures for appointing the members. The nom-
ination committee shall, pursuant to the Code, consist of at 
least three members of which a majority shall be independent 
in relation to the Company and the Group Management. In  
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of the nomination committee shall be independent in relation 
to the largest shareholder in terms of voting rights or group 
of shareholders who cooperates in terms of the Company’s 
management.

According to the resolution at the AGM in 2018, the Nomi-
nation Committee shall comprise the chairman of the board 
and one member appointed by each of the three largest share-
holders based on ownership of the company as of 31 October 
each year. Should one of the three largest shareholders refrain 
from appointing a member to the Nomination Committee, 
the right shall pass to the shareholder that, excluding these 
three shareholders, has the largest shareholding in the com-
pany. The chairman of the board of directors shall convene 
the Nomination Committee. The chairman of the Nomina-
tion Committee shall be the member appointed by the largest 
shareholder, unless the Nomination Committee unanimously 
appoints another member.

If the shareholder that appointed a member of the Nomination 
Committee is no longer one of the three largest shareholders, 
the member appointed by such owner shall offer to leave the 
committee and the shareholder that has become one of the 
three largest shareholders has the right to appoint a member 
to the committee. However, and unless special circumstanc-
es exist, no changes shall be made in the composition of the 
Nomination Committee if there is only a marginal change in 
ownership or if the change occurs later than three months 
prior to the annual shareholders’ meeting. In the event that a 
member leaves the Nomination Committee before its work is 
completed, the shareholder who appointed the member shall 
appoint a new member. If this shareholder is no longer one 
of the three largest shareholders, a new member is appoint-
ed according to the above procedure. Shareholders who have 
appointed a member to the Nomination Committee have the 
right to dismiss such member and appoint a new member of 
the committee.

Changes in the nomination committee’s composition shall be 
announced immediately. The nomination committee’s term 
of office shall extend until a new nomination committee is 
appointed. The nomination committee shall perform the duty 
of the nomination committee in accordance with the Code.

The Nomination Committee consists of: Peter Bensson (Sun-
stone Capital), Filip Petersson (SEB Venture Capital), Peter 
Sobocki (Industrifonden) and Stig Løkke Pedersen (Chairman 
of the Board of Nuevolution AB). Peter Bensson has been ap-
pointed Chairman of the committee.

The Nominating Committee shall report its work at the AGM.

AUDITORS
The external audit of the accounts of the parent company and 
the Group, as well as of the management by the board and the 
CEO, was carried out in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting standards in Sweden. The auditor participates in 
at least one board meeting per year, going through the ac-

counts for the year and leading a discussion with the direc-
tors without the CEO or any other senior executive present. 
Nuevolution auditors is the auditing firm EY, with Authorized 
Public Accountant Beata Lihammar as auditor in charge. For 
information regarding fees paid to the auditors, please refer 
to note 29 in the 2018 annual report.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The board’s responsibility, duties, and delegation of duties
The Board of Directors is the second-highest decision-mak-
ing body of the Company after the shareholders’ meeting. As 
prescribed by the Swedish Companies Act, Nuevolution AB 
(publ)’s Board of Directors is responsible for the Company’s 
organization and the administration of the Company’s affairs. 
The Board shall continuously assess the financial and oper-
ational situation of both the Company and the Group. The 
Board shall also ensure that the Company’s organization is 
designed in such a manner that the bookkeeping, asset man-
agement and the Company’s economic situation in general are 
controlled in a reassuring manner. Each year, in connection 
with the Board meeting following the election of the Board, 
and in conjunction with other Board meetings if necessary, 
the Board shall adopt a work plan. 

Members of the Board of Directors are normally appointed by 
the annual shareholders’ meeting for the period until the end 
of the next annual shareholders’ meeting. According to the 
Company’s articles of association, the members of the Board 
of Directors elected by the shareholders’ meeting shall be not 
less than three members and not more than ten members with 
no deputy members. 

According to the Code, the Chairman of the Board of Direc-
tors is to be elected by the shareholders’ meeting and have 
a special responsibility for leading the work of the Board of 
Directors and for ensuring that the work of the Board of Di-
rectors is efficiently organized.

The Board of Directors applies written rules of procedure, 
which are revised annually and adopted by the inaugural 
board meeting every year. Among other things, the rules of 
procedure govern the practice of the Board of Directors, 
functions and the division of work between the members of 
the Board of Directors and the CEO. At the inaugural board 
meeting, the Board of Directors also adopts instructions for 
the CEO, including instructions for financial reporting.

The Board of Directors meets according to an annual prede-
termined schedule. In addition to these meetings, additional 
board meetings can be convened to handle issues which can-
not be postponed until the next ordinary board meeting. In 
addition to the board meetings, the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors and the CEO continuously discuss the management 
of the Company.

As of 31 December 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors 
consists of five ordinary members elected by the sharehold-
ers’ meeting,
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At 31 December 2018, the Audit committee consisted of Lars 
Henriksson as Chairman of the Committee and Stig Løkke 
Pedersen as Member of the Committee. Both members are 
independent of the Company, as well as its executive manage-
ment and major shareholders.

The Committee shall hold at least four ordinary Committee 
meetings during each financial year. The meetings shall be 
held in connection with the publication of the Company’s 
interim reports. In 2018, the Committee met four times, and 
both members were present at all meetings.
 
Remuneration committee
The Remuneration Committee is a sub-committee of the 
Board and does not release the Board from any responsibility 
or liability. The Board has the overall and ultimate responsi-
bility, and retains its sole right, to resolve the more important 
matters within the framework of the Committee.

The duties of the Committee are, acting on instructions from 
the Board, to:

• prepare the Board’s decisions on issues concerning prin-
ciples for remuneration, remunerations and other terms 
of employment for the executive management

•  monitor and evaluate programs for variable remunera-
tion, both ongoing and such that have been completed 
during the year, for the executive management

•  monitor and evaluate the application of the guidelines 
for remuneration to the executive management estab-
lished by the annual shareholders’ meeting, as well as the 
current remuneration structures and remuneration lev-
els in the Company

The Remuneration Committee is to comprise not less than 
two Board members appointed by the Company’s Board of 
Directors. The members of the Committee are to be indepen-
dent of the Company and its executive management. Howev-
er, the Chairman of the Board may chair the Committee.

At 31 December 2018, the Remuneration committee consist-
ed of Søren Lemonius as Chairman of the Committee and Stig 
Løkke Pedersen as Member of the Committee. Søren Lem-
onius and Stig Løkke Pedersen are both independent of the 
Company and its executive management. In 2018, the Com-
mittee met four times, and both members were present at all 
meetings.

Scientific committee
The Scientific Committee is a sub-committee of the Board 
and does not release the Board from any responsibility or li-
ability. The Board has the overall and ultimate responsibility, 
and retains its sole right, to resolve the more important mat-
ters within the framework of the Committee.

The Board has established two working committees, the Au-
dit Committee and the Remuneration Committee, in accor-
dance with the recommendations in the Swedish Corporate 
Governance Code. Further the Board has established a Scien-
tific Committee to support the Board.

Audit committee
The Audit Committee is a sub-committee of the Board and 
does not release the Board from any responsibility or liabili-
ty. The Board has the overall and ultimate responsibility, and 
retains its sole right, to resolve the more important matters 
within the framework of the Committee.

The Committee shall perform the tasks set out in the Swedish 
Companies Act, applicable EU rules and regulations and the 
Swedish Corporate Governance Code. This includes, among 
other things, acting on instructions from the Board, to:

•  monitor the Company’s financial reporting, evaluate its 
auditing and submit recommendations and proposals to 
ensure the integrity of the reporting

•  monitor the efficiency of the Company’s internal con-
trols, regulatory compliance and risk management, in 
general as well as, in particular, in respect of the financial 
reporting

•  continuously meet with the Company’s auditor and 
keep itself informed regarding the audit of the annual 
report and group accounts and the conclusions from the 
quality control carried out by the Supervisory Board of 
Public Accountants (Sw. Revisorsinspektionen)

•  inform the Board and the nomination committee of the 
outcome of the auditor’s audit and explain how the au-
dit contributed to the integrity of financial reporting 
and what the role of the Committee was in that process

•  review and monitor the impartiality and independence 
of the auditor and, in conjunction therewith, pay special 
attention to whether the auditor provides the Company 
with services other than auditing services (and approve, 
where applicable, guidelines for the purchase of such 
non-audit services)

•  assist in conjunction with the preparation of proposals 
to the annual shareholders’ meeting’s resolution regard-
ing election and remuneration of the auditor, including 
administering the selection procedure

The Audit Committee is to comprise not less than two Board 
members appointed by the Company’s Board of Directors. 
The majority of the Members of the Committee shall be in-
dependent of the Company and its executive management. At 
least one of the Members who are independent of the Com-
pany and its executive management is also to be independent 
of the Company’s major shareholders. At least one of the 
Members shall have accounting or auditing competence. The 
Members may not be employed by the Company.
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Attendance at: Board meetings Audit Committee 
meetings

Remuneration Committee 
meetings

Scientific Committee 
meetings

Stig Løkke Pedersen 12/12 4/4 4/4

Søren Lemonius 12/12 4/4

Lars Henriksson 12/12 4/4

Jutta Heim 12/12 2/2

Jeanette Wood 12/12 2/2

Name Born Position Elected* Indepen-
dence of 
management 
and company

Independence 
of major 
shareholders

Audit Com-
mittee

Remunera-
tion Commit-
tee

Scientific 
Committee

Stig Løkke Pedersen 1961 Chairman 2015/2001 Yes Yes Member Member

Søren Lemonius 1965 Member 2015/2007 Yes No Chairman

Lars Henriksson 1961 Member 2015 Yes Yes Chairman

Jutta Heim 1951 Member 2015/2013 Yes Yes Chairman

Jeanette Wood 1952 Member 2015 Yes Yes Member

* Note: For Stig Løkke Pedersen, Søren Lemonius and Jutta Heim the second year is election year to the Board of Directors of Nuevolution A/S.

The duties of the Committee are, acting on instructions from 
the Board, to:

• assist the Board with recommendations regarding Nue-
volution’s research and development strategies and op-
portunities;

• perform such other duties as are considered necessary 
and appropriate in conjunction with the work set forth 
above; and

• perform such other duties as instructed by the Board 
from time to time

The Scientific Committee is to comprise not less than two 
Board members appointed by the Company’s Board of Direc-
tors. The members of the Committee may not be employed 
by the Company.

At 31 December 2018, the Scientific Committee consisted 
of Jeanette Wood as Chairman of the Committee and Jutta 
Heim as Member of the Committee. Jeanette Wood and Jutta 
Heim are both independent of the Company and its executive 
management. In 2018, the Committee met twice, and both 
members were present at all meetings.

Composition of the board and its committees and directors’ inde-
pendence
At 31 December 2018, the Board of Directors consisted of 
five directors: Stig Løkke Pedersen, Søren Lemonius, Lars 
Henriksson, Jutta Monica Heim and Jeanette Wood. The 
Board’s assessments of the directors’ independence in re-
lation to the Company, its executive management and the 
Company’s largest shareholders can be found in the table be-
low, which shows that Nuevolution AB (publ) complies with 

the requirement for independence in the Swedish Corporate 
Governance Code.

Work of the board
The Board of Directors held 12 meetings in 2018. The atten-
dance of Board members is shown in the table below. The 
main issues covered at Board meetings in 2018 were: interim 
reports and annual report, approval of corporate policies, in-
ternal governance documents, internal control, evaluation of 
the CEO and Board of Directors, remuneration of the CEO 
and other executive managers, strategy and goals, plan for the 
auditors.

Evaluation of the work of the board
According to the Board Wheel (work plan for the Board of Di-
rectors), the Chairman of the Board’s responsible for ensuring 
that the work of the board is evaluated annually. In 2018, this 
evaluation was performed by the Board under the direction of 
Stig Løkke Pedersen, Chairman of the Board. 

Remuneration to the board of directors
Fees and other remuneration to the members of the Board 
of Directors, including the Chairman, are resolved by the 
shareholders’ meeting. At the annual shareholders’ meeting 
held on 28 May 2018, it was resolved that the remuneration 
to the board of directors shall be paid in a total amount of 
SEK 1,320,000, to be allocated as follows. The chairman shall 
receive SEK 400,000, and other members, who are not em-
ployed by the company, shall receive SEK 200,000 each. The 
remuneration for work in the committees of the board of di-
rectors shall be distributed with SEK 50,000 to the chairman 
of the audit committee and SEK 25,000 to the other member, 
SEK 30,000 to the chairman of the remuneration committee 
and SEK 15,000 to the other member.
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Remuneration of Board of Directors, 1 January - 31 December 2018

TSEK

Base salary 
Directors' 

fee

Variable 
compensa-

tion

Share-
based 

payments

Pension 
costs - 

defined 
contribu-

tion

Other so-
cial security 

costs Total

Stig Løkke Pedersen, Chairman of the 
Board of Directors, member of Audit 
and Remuneration committee

440 0 0 0 0 440

Lars Henriksson, Board member and 
chairman of Audit committee

250 0 0 0 78 328

Søren Lemonius, Board member and 
chairman of Remuneration commit-
tee

230 0 0 0 0 230

Jutta Heim, Board member and mem-
ber of Scientific committee

200 0 0 0 0 200

Jeanette Wood, Board member and 
chairman of Scientific committee

200 0 0 0 0 200

Frederik Arp, Board member until 24 
April 2018

50 0 0 0 16 66

Total 1,370 0 0 0 94 1,464

ceives adequate information for the Board of Directors to be 
able to evaluate the Company’s financial condition.
The CEO must continuously keep the Board of Directors in-
formed of developments in the Company’s operations, the 
development of sales, the Company’s result and financial con-
dition, liquidity and credit status, important business events 
and all other events, circumstances or conditions which can 
be assumed to be of significance to the Company’s sharehold-
ers.

The CEO and Executive Management are presented on page 
104-106. 

Current employment agreements for the Executive Management
Decisions with regards to the current remuneration levels 
and other conditions for employment for the members of the 
executive management have been resolved by the Board of 
Directors. 

The table below presents an overview of remuneration to the 
current members of Executive Management for 2018.

The CEO is entitled to a notice period of 12 months, if the 
employment is terminated by the Company. Upon termina-
tion by the CEO the Company is entitled to a notice period 
of six months. The CEO and the Company have not agreed 
upon any severance fee in addition to the base salary as set 
out above. 

Other members of the Executive Management are entitled to 
a notice period of six months, if the employment is terminat-
ed by the Company. Upon termination by such employee, the 

The table below presents an overview of remuneration to the 
Board of Directors elected by the shareholders for 2018.

Consultancy agreements
In connection with the Company’s up-listing to the Nasdaq 
main market in June 2018, the Board decided to form an ad-
ditional sub-committee, the Scientific Committee. The duties 
performed by the sub-committee was previously done on a 
consultancy basis by the board members Jeanette Wood and 
Jutta Heim. From January – June 2018 the consultancy fee paid 
to Jeanette Wood and to Jutta Heim was 37 tSEK each.

The Nomination Committee intends to recommend payments 
made to the Scientific Committee members at the next gen-
eral meeting for the period from establishment of the com-
mittee.

The Board of Directors are presented on page 101-103.

The CEO and other Executive Management
The CEO is subordinated to the Board of Directors and is re-
sponsible for the everyday management and operations of the 
Company. The division of work between the Board of Direc-
tors and the CEO is set out in the rules of procedure for the 
Board of Directors and the CEO’s instructions. The CEO is 
also responsible for the preparation of reports and compiling 
information for the board meetings and for presenting such 
materials at the board meetings.

According to the instructions for the financial reporting, the 
CEO is responsible for the financial reporting in the Company 
and consequently must ensure that the Board of Directors re-
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Remuneration of Management, 1 January - 31 December 2018

TSEK Base salary

Variable 
compensa-

tion
Share-based 

payments

Pension 
costs - 

defined 
contribution

Other social 
security 

costs Total

CEO 2,574 0 0 257 3 2,834

Other Executive Management (4 
persons)

7,582 0 0 179 12 7,773

Company is entitled to a notice period of three to six months. 
The employees are not entitled to any severance fees in addi-
tion to their base salaries as set out above.

The CEO, other members of the executive management and 
certain other employees are participants in incentive pro-
grams. 

The CEO is the only employee in the executive management 
for whom the company pays a separate pension contribution 
based on employment terms in 2001. Such pension contribu-
tion is either paid to the Company’s own pension scheme or a 
pension scheme decided by the CEO. In addition, the Compa-
ny’s employees, including the other individuals of the execu-
tive management, are obligated to pay a pension contribution 
to the mandatory company pension scheme. For most of the 
employees, such contribution is 5 percent of their base salary 
and the amount is deducted from their base salary and paid 
into the Company pension scheme. The Company contributes 
between 2 - 3 percent to employees’ and other management 
member’s pension.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CON-
TROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT WITH RESPECT TO FI-
NANCIAL REPORTING
Internal control and risk management with respect to finan-
cial reporting is a central component of Nuevolution’s corpo-
rate governance. In accordance with the Swedish Companies 
Act and the Swedish Corporate Governance Code, the Board 
of Directors is responsible for the company’s internal control. 

Internal control and risk management with respect to finan-
cial reporting are aimed at providing reasonable assurance 
that external financial reports are reliable. This relates to in-
terim reports, year-end reports and annual reports. The con-
trol framework also ensures that external financial reporting 
is prepared in accordance with the law, applicable accounting 
standards (domestic and IFRS) and other requirements for list-
ed companies.

The Company’s Internal control and risk management are 
based on Internal Control - Integrated Framework published 
in 2013 by the Committee of the Sponsoring Organizations 
of the Treadway Commission (COSO). According to COSO, 
internal control is a process with five components: control en-

vironment, risk assessment, control activities, information and 
communication, and monitoring.

Control environment
The control environment forms the basis of internal control 
and risk assessment within Nuevolution and consists of the 
values and the culture communicated and acted on by the 
Board and management, as well as the organization structure, 
decision-making procedures, authorities and responsibility. 
This includes several internal policy documents, which have 
been adopted by the Board of Directors, and a Code of Con-
duct signed by all employees.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for internal 
control and reporting and has appointed an Audit Committee 
with the task and responsibility of monitoring Nuevolution’s 
financial reporting and monitoring the effectiveness of this 
process. See the section “Audit Committee” for more infor-
mation.

Risk assessment 
A structured risk assessment and risk management enable 
identification of significant risks that affect the internal con-
trol relating to financial reporting and where these risks are 
found. The aim of risk management is to minimize the number 
of risk factors within the financial reporting. The management 
has also identified and evaluated risks arising in the company’s 
operations and assessed how these risks can be mitigated.

Within the Board, the Audit Committee bears the prime re-
sponsibility for regularly assessing the company’s risks. The 
Board of Directors has delegated the operative responsibility 
for risk assessment and internal control to the management 
group. Nuevolution’s management group carries out an annu-
al systematic risk assessment.

Control activities
In accordance with the internal control policy, the CFO is re-
sponsible for financial reporting, including sufficient internal 
control and monitoring activities. Together with the account-
ing department and others, the CFO must ensure that the 
process descriptions and internal framework are set up and is 
responsible for reporting the status of work referring to inter-
nal control and risk management within Nuevolution to the 
Group CEO and Audit committee.
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To ensure good internal control referring to financial report-
ing the company has set up control activities for the key fi-
nancial processes, aimed at prevention, discovery and correc-
tion of errors and non-conformities. Areas that are controlled 
include payroll, invoices and purchases, financial statement 
close process, budget and estimate creation, compliance with 
laws and other requirements of listed companies, segregation 
of duties, adoption of accounting standards and other areas 
containing material elements of assessment.

Information and communication
The Board of Directors has established an information policy 
for external information provision that is to ensure that the 
market receives relevant, reliable, correct and current infor-
mation on the company’s progress and financial position. The 
Board of Directors has also established an insider policy aimed 
at safeguarding the integrity of information provision.

The company’s Fraud memo stipulates control activities to 
prevent fraud. Control activities regarding third party opera-
tions, such as IT, are carried out annually.

Financial information is regularly provided in the form of:

• Year-end and interim reports

• Annual reports

• Press releases regarding important news and events that 
may have a significant impact on the valuation of the 
company and the share price

• Presentations and telephone conferences for investors, 
financial analysts and media

Monitoring
The CFO has the operative responsibility for monitoring risk 
management and internal control referring to financial re-
porting. The main processes and control activities are regu-
larly evaluated to ensure functionality and effectiveness. The 
results are reported to the Board of Directors and the Audit 
Committee. 

The Board of Directors and Audit Committee discuss all inter-
im reports, year-end reports and annual reports before they 
are published.

Considering the company’s current size and operations, the 
Board of Directors has decided not to have a separate inter-
nal audit function, but it annually assesses the need of such a 
function.
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To the general meeting of the shareholders of Nuevolution AB, corporate identity number 559026-4304

Engagement and responsibility
It is the Board of Directors who is responsible for the corporate governance statement for the year 2018 on pages 91–99 and that 
it has been prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act.

The scope of the audit
Our examination has been conducted in accordance with FAR’s auditing standard RevU 16 The auditor’s examination of the 
corporate governance statement. This means that our examination of the corporate governance statement is different and sub-
stantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and generally accepted 
auditing standards in Sweden. We believe that the examination has provided us with sufficient basis for our opinions.

Opinions
A corporate governance statement has been prepared. Disclosures in accordance with chapter 6 section 6 the second paragraph 
points 2-6 the Annual Accounts Act and chapter 7 section 31 the second paragraph the same law are consistent with the annual 
accounts and the consolidated accounts and are in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act. 

Stockholm, Sweden, 4 April 2019 

Ernst & Young AB

Beata Lihammar
Authorized Public Accountant
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Stig Løkke Pedersen (born 1961)
Chairman of the Board (since 2001)
Independent in relation to the Company
Independent in relation to major shareholders
Member of Nuevolution’s Nomination Committee, Audit and Remuneration Committee

Education: Master´s degree in economics from the University of Aalborg.

Experience: Stig has more than 30 years’ experience in the pharmaceutical industry, working for 
Ciba-Geigy from 1986 to 1992 in various managerial positions in Denmark, Switzerland and South 
Africa, and holding a number of executive positions with H. Lundbeck A/S, from 1992 to 2011, 
including the position of Chief Commercial Officer (CCO) from 2006 to 2011. He was appointed 
Executive Vice President and Board member of Management at the company in 2003 and held that 
position until he left Lundbeck in 2011. Since then, Stig has been active in a number of different 
roles and responsibilities as an investor and Board member, and as an executive in various companies and partnerships.

Current assignments: Stig Løkke Pedersen is Chairman of the Board of moksha8 Ltd, Nuevolution AB and A/S, SSI Diagnostica 
A/S, Modus Therapeutics AB and Transmedica A/S. He is a Board member in Index Pharmaceuticals AB, MSI Ltd, SkyBrands A/S, 
Union Therapeutics A/S and Broen-Lab A/S. He is CEO of H&L Invest ApS and Operational Partner in the Danish private equity 
fund Catacap.

Previous assignments: Stig was previously Chairman of the Board of the following companies: Chemometec A/S, Tytex A/S, NGI 
A/S, Vernalis AG, R5 A/S, Microlytic A/S, Ergolet ApS and x3 Capital A/S, and was Executive Vice President of H. Lundbeck A/S.

Number of shares: 212,334 (212,334)

Number of warrants: 242,476 warrants series 1 and 148,167 warrants series 2

Søren Lemonius (born 1965)
Member of the Board of Directors (since 2006), Investor Representative (Sunstone Life Science 
Ventures)
Independent in relation to the Company
Not independent in relation to major shareholders
Chairman of Nuevolution’s Remuneration Committee

Education: Master’s Degree in Experimental Cell Biology from the University of Odense.

Experience: Søren is a Founding Partner of Sunstone Life Science Ventures. Søren has 18 years’ 
experience from corporate management in R&D-intensive companies. He has previously worked as 
Innovation Manager at food diagnostics company FOSS Analytical and prior to joining Sunstone 
Capital, he served as Chief Technology Officer at Danionics – an electronics component company 
– where he participated in developing the company from a private venture-backed technology firm 
into a €27 million revenue listed company.

Current assignments: Managing Partner at Sunstone Life Science Ventures A/S. Board Member of  Galecto Biotech AB, Nuevolution 
AB and A/S, Symphogen A/S and Sunstone Capital A/S. Board Member and Managing Director of several Sunstone entities.

Previous assignments: Chairman of the Board of Biomonitor A/S. CEO and Board Member and Chairman of Chempaq A/S. Board 
Member of Euro Diagnostica AB, Atonomics A/S, Evolva Biotech A/S and TD Vaccines A/S. Managing Director of Chempaq 
Patent Holding ApS, Strategic Advisor to DONG A/S.

Number of shares: Sunstone Capital 10,242,701; 20.7% (8,930,580; 20.8%)

Number of warrants: 0 (0)
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Lars Henriksson (born 1961)
Member of the Board of Directors (since 2015)
Independent in relation to the Company
Independent in relation to major shareholders
Chairman of Nuevolution’s Audit Committee

Education: Master of Science in Industrial Engineering and Management, 1985.

Experience: Working on investments in the life sciences industry at Industrifonden from 2003 to 
2017. Prior to becoming an Investment Manager, Lars gained extensive international experience 
through his years as a strategy, financial and business consultant followed by a CFO assignment 
within a VC-backed telecommunications company.

Current assignments: Operating an independent strategy and business consulting firm. Board 
Member of Nuevolution AB and A/S. Board Member of ZtraBiz Advisory AB and Deputy Board Member of Calvinius AB.

Previous assignments: Board member of Trialbee AB, Advanced MR Analytics AB, CellaVision AB (publ), Diashunt Intressenter AB, 
SHS Intressenter AB, BioInvent International AB (publ). Deputy Board member of Oncopeptides AB, Carmel Pharma AB, RxEye 
AB and Boule Diagnostics AB.

Number of shares: Industrifonden 0 (0)

Number of warrants: 0 (0)

Jutta Heim (born 1951)
Member of the Board of Directors (since 2013)
Independent in relation to the Company
Independent in relation to major shareholders
Chairman of Nuevolution’s Scientific Committee

Education: PhD from the University of Tübingen.

Experience: Dr. Jutta Heim is Professor of Biotechnology at the University of Basel. She worked for 
more than 20 years at CibaGeigy/Novartis in Switzerland and the US, where she was involved in 
the successful development and launch of anti-thrombotic and fibrinolytic products. At Novartis, 
she established a molecular genetics department in oncology, became the company’s Senior 
Scientific Expert in Molecular Biology and a Member of the Research Management Board. Dr. 
Heim completed her career at Novartis by becoming head of the Novartis Lead Discovery Center, 
with worldwide responsibility. From 2004 to 2009, she served as CSO at Basilea Pharmaceutica 
Ltd., a Swiss biopharmaceutical company focusing on anti-infectives, inflammation and oncology. From 2009 to 2013, she served 
as CTO and CSO at Evolva SA, where she led the company’s discovery activities and strengthened the development of its 
technology platform.

Current assignments: Board Member of Nuevolution AB and A/S, Member of the Advisory Board of Stiftung für Wissenschaftliche 
Forschung Universität Zürich. Board Member of Evolva SA, UNION Therapeutics A/S and observer on the Board of Allerca. Chair 
of the Scientific Advisory Committee, GARDP.

Previous assignments: CSO and CTO at Evolva SA, CSO at Basilea Pharmaceutica Ltd, Head of Novartis Lead Discovery Center.

Number of shares: 0 (0)

Number of warrants: 69,279 warrants series 1.
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Jeanette Wood (born 1952)
Member of the Board of Directors (since 2015)
Independent in relation to the Company
Independent in relation to major shareholders
Member of Nuevolution’s R&D Committee

Education: PhD in Pharmacology from the University of Otago.

Experience: More than 30 years of drug discovery experience in Big Pharma and biotech companies 
in senior leadership positions and with a track record of novel drugs progressed to clinical trials and 
to the market. Author of more than 100 peer-reviewed publications and numerous patents. During 
her career, Jeanette has held positions as Vice President of Oncology Research at AstraZeneca 
UK, CSO at Genkyotex AG CH, Head of Biology at S*BIO Pte Ltd, SG, and a number of leadership 
research roles within Novartis AG / Ciba-Geigy AG CH. She has also served as a part-time lecturer 
at universities in New Zealand, Switzerland, Singapore and Korea.

Current assignments: Board Member of Nuevolution AB and A/S

Previous assignments: CSO at Genkyotex AG. 

Number of shares: 0 (0)

Number of warrants: 69,279 warrants series 1.
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Alex Haahr Gouliaev
Chief Executive Officer (since 2005), Co-Founder of Nuevolution (2001)

Education: MSc (1994) and PhD (1996) in Chemistry, University of Southern Denmark, Aarhus 
University and Department of Pharmacy, University of Copenhagen.

Experience: Nuevolution deal track record as CEO: since 2005 incl. 17 deals, 2 IPO’s and several 
capital raises. Scientific expertise in drug discovery chemistry, pharmacology and technology 
development

2005 to date: CEO, Nuevolution

2001-2005: Co-Founder, EVP Chemistry, Nuevolution

1996-2001: Senior. Scientist, Director of Chemistry, Management and Board

  Member, NeuroSearch

Number of shares: 70,778 (70,778)

Number of warrants: 1,911,113 warrants series 2

Background: I am 52 years of age and married for 22 years. My wife and I are fortunate to have two children; a son (age 22) and a 
daughter (age 14). 

My interest in science was triggered at age 7, when my older brother introduced me to astronomy, although during my teenage 
years, my interests for a time period also included potentially becoming a legal attorney. High School took me back to natural 
sciences, made me excited about chemistry & biology, and keen on starting my studies to become a scientist. Three years into 
my chemistry and biology studies, I craved to learn about medicine, but in particular how medical molecules work in the human 
body. Following the medical doctor’s course in pharmacology, and a grant allowing me to conduct animal pharmacology studies 
for one year, it was clear to me, that life sciences seeking discovery and development of new medicines was the dream field 
of interest to me. During the remainder of my studies, I focused on improving my skills as an organic synthetic and medicinal 
chemist, while keeping close ties to biology and medicine. After completion of my Ph.D., my wish came through, when I was 
offered employment at NeuroSearch, one of Denmarks first true-life science biotech companies. During my six years stay, I had 
the opportunity to be involved in and lead projects from early stage optimization through to candidate selection, synthetic route 
optimization and outsourcing of kilogram scale production of the active pharmaceutical ingredient, I was entrusted with the 
leadership of Neurosearch’s Chemistry Department, and enjoyed being part of management and having the confidence from my 
colleagues as one of their employee board of directors’ representative. 

In 2001, I left Neurosearch to co-found Nuevolution with a dream of revolutionizing discovery of small molecule (tablet) based 
medicines, and to participate in the establishing of a life science company with a business model having lower operational and 
financial risk than what is the standard of the industry. On a daily basis, I involve myself in all aspects of our operations including 
our technology and drug discovery activities to influence our direction and to be optimally dressed for our business promotions 
and contract negotiations. I take great pride in making sure that everything we do is of high quality, and that we continue to keep 
our shareholders well informed as we have been doing for nearly 16 years. I feel very fortunate to be part of all of this.

My ambitions: To continue the build of Nuevolution making it a highly valuable company, which develops and eventually 
potentially markets multiple novel medicines for efficient and safe treatment of severe diseases, to maintain Nuevolution’s high 
standards for quality & innovation and to safeguard Nuevolution as an attractive working place and powerhouse for ambitious 
and skilled scientists and business professionals.
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Dr. Thomas Franch
Chief Scientific Officer (since 2012), key scientist since company foundation (2001)

Education: MSc and PhD in Molecular Biology from the University of Southern Denmark. Studied at 
the Institute of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology (BMB) at the University of Southern Denmark 
and at Uppsala University.

Experience: 

2012 to date: Chief Scientific Officer at Nuevolution

2005-2012: Chief Technology Officer at Nuevolution

2001-2005: Joined Nuevolution with multiple responsibilities including Project Manager   
  and Scientific Officer

1999-2001: CEO of RNA Tech Aps

Number of shares: 1,300 (1,300)

Number of warrants: 311,755 warrants series 1 and 229,334 warrants series 2.

Background: I am 48 years of age and live with my wife and our two sons, age 15 and age 13. 

When I commenced my studies in 1989, Molecular Biology as a scientific discipline was novel and still considered a bit provocative.
However, to me, the advent of ground-breaking techniques such as molecular cloning, DNA sequencing and the Polymerase 
Chain Reaction (PCR) offered exciting new opportunities for biological studies and new applications. I was always intrigued 
by inventions and the applied sciences where scientific knowledge is put into general use or providing new ways for innovative 
applications. During my Ph.D work I noticed that Nature have evolved a unique mechanism for making regulatory RNA molecules 
bind each other with high speed for efficient gene regulation. To apply this principle in a therapeutic setting, I co-founded RNA 
Tech Aps in 1999. Here, we successfully applied the knowledge gained from Nature’s principle to enhance the binding kinetics 
of artificial antisense molecules inhibiting a cancer target called the Telomerase. 

When I was approached by Nuevolution in early 2001, I immediately knew that this unexplored concept of using nucleic acids 
to encode chemical compounds for drug-target screening was huge and could likely be the future of drug discovery. Obviously, 
I did not hesitate to join the company. 

During my 16 years at Nuevolution, I have had the opportunity to head our Chemetics® Platform technology developments, 
our Biology department as well as multiple Pharma and Biotech partnerships. Most importantly, Nuevolution has provided me 
the privilege to work with some very clever and dedicated people that strive to develop and mature the platform technology, 
streamline our drug discovery operations and further build an exciting company with a great pipeline. 
 
My ambitions: It is my ambition to make Nuevolution a premier and world-class Biotech company, where the successful business 
is founded on true innovation, scientific excellence and hard work.

Ton Berkien
Chief Business Officer (since 2014)

Education: BEc from the Saxion University of Applied Science (Netherlands), and an LSid from 
PwC/Harvard Business School/IMD.

Experience: 
2014 to date:  CBO, Nuevolution
2007-2013: Senior Director of Corporate Development/M&A, Takeda (Nycomed 2007-11)
2003-2007: Director of Competitive Intelligence, Director Portfolio Planning R&D, Ferring  
  Pharmaceuticals
2001-2003: Senior Manager Corporate Finance, PwC
1993:   BSc Economics, University of Deventer
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Number of shares: 1,400 (1,400)

Number of warrants: 138,558 warrants series 1 and 3,822 warrants series 2.

Background: I was born (1968) and raised in Nijmegen, The Netherlands and I am married. Together with my Swedish wife, we 
have two sons in the age of 19 and 17. We have our residence in Sweden.

During my working period at Takeda and Nycomed, I was overall responsible for leading merger & acquisition efforts as well as 
asset acquisition transactions, in the US (Bradley Pharmaceuticals), China (Techpool), Colombia (Farmacol), (Eastern-) Europe 
(assets from Sanofi/Zentiva) and Brazil (Multilab), deals with an accumulated value exceeding EUR 800 million.

During 2003-2007, I was Director of Competitive Intelligence at Ferring Pharmaceuticals (Denmark), where I was responsible 
for corporate competitive intelligence project management mainly in the R&D and commercial organization. Furthermore, I was 
involved, as Director Portfolio Planning, in managing and supporting Portfolio Planning within the R&D organization. Earlier, I 
held Senior Manager positions at PricewaterhouseCoopers (Sweden), Rijnconsult, KPMG and was market research analyst at 
Gilde Investment Management (The Netherlands).

Throughout my career, I have gained extensive experience in corporate finance, venture capital / management buy-outs, business 
development, competitive and corporate intelligence and strategic consultancy. I have a Dutch and Swedish nationality. I have 
furthermore a strong passion for basketball, which I played on a national level in The Netherlands, as well as other activities like 
road cycling and MTB.

My ambitions: It is my ambition to work hard to see Nuevolution realize its growth ambitions towards a profitable business, 
addressed in financial strength, a variety of clinical and preclinical drug program that eventually serve patient benefit.

Johnny Stilou
Chief Financial Officer (since 2018)

Education: MSc in Business Economics & Auditing from Copenhagen Business School, and Executive 
Management Program from INSEAD.

Experience: 
2018 to date:     CFO, Nuevolution
2017-2018:  CFO, Fritz Schur Technical Group
2008-2016: CFO, Veloxis Pharmaceuticals
2003-2007: CFO, Silicon Labs Denmark

Number of shares: 0 (0)

Number of warrants: 0

Background: I was born in 1967 and live with my wife and our two sons, age 17 and age 14.

I have a background as Auditor from KPMG following which I have had several senior financial positions at large and small 
international companies within Technology, Medtech and Biotech. During my eight years at Veloxis Pharmaceuticals the 
Company went from discovery, through clinical development to successful product launch.

Drug discovery and development remains challenging, but also fascinating and can be extremely rewarding for shareholders when 
successful. Nuevolution’s Chemetics® technology can overcome challenges inherent in drug discovery and revolutionize the 
discovery and development of small molecule medicines. For this reason, I joined Nuevolution.

My ambitions: I am committed to realizing the maximum potential of our technology and business strategy thereby creating 
significant value for our shareholders.
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